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sustainability report.

Nordics & Baltics 54%

UK 14%

West 17%

Central 17%

Revenues per Business Unit

Revenues per sector

Offentlig Sektor 36% (27)

Handel & Tjänster 23% (20)

Tillverkande Industri 11% (14)

Energi 6% (5)

Telekom 5% (9)

Bank, Finans 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Övrigt 12% (15)

Public Sector 36% (27)

Retail and Services 23% (20)

Manufacturing Industry 11% (14)

Energy 6% (5)

Telecoms 5% (9)

Banking, Finance 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Other 12% (15)

Proact is Europe’s leading data and information 
management specialist, focusing on sustainable 
cloud services and data centre solutions. We help 
our customers to store, network, protect, secure 
and add value from data by means of increased 
flexibility, productivity and efficiency.

Proact has about 1,200 specialists in more than 
30 offices in 12 countries across Europe and in 
the USA. With 30 years in the industry, we have 
completed thousands of successful projects  
all over the world and now  
have more than 4,000  
customers.

Proact’s primary target group segment focuses on large and 
medium-sized companies and authorities with large volumes of 
business-critical digital information. The three biggest industry 
segments in 2023 were Public Sector, Retail & Services and 
Manufacturing Industry.
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Key ratios

Total revenues, SEK millions 2023 2022

Total revenues, SEK millions 4,847.3 4,756.8

EBITA, SEK millions 285.5 313.1

EBITA margin, % 5.9 6.6

Earings before tax, SEK millions 218.3 244.2

Net margin, % 4.5 5.1

Earnings per share (outstanding shares), SEK ¹) 6.29 6.97

Dividend per share, SEK ²) 2.00 1.85

1) �Proact has a long-term performance share scheme that may give rise to maximum  
dilution of 1.84 per cent. The company has bought back shares that are in its own  
custody, which affects the key ratios and figures above. 

2) �The Board of Directors will propose distribution of a dividend of SEK 2.00 per share  
to the 2024 Annual General Meeting for the 2023 fiscal year.

Revenues and EBITA margins
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Just as customer satisfaction rose sharply, 

we also saw a large increase in the Employee 

Net Promoter Score, which makes me  

particularly proud of the past year. 

Revenues during the year 

4,847 
SEK million

Earnings before tax  

218 
SEK million

Proposed dividend  

2.00 
SEK per share

Strong growth in service business 
The positive development of the service business continued  
in 2023, with growth of 13.5 per cent. 

Increased macroeconomic uncertainty, comparatively 
strong system sales in 2022 and longer sales cycles, espe-
cially for systems, all helped to bring about lower total revenue 
growth amounted to 1.9 per cent. 
 
Increased share of recurring revenue
Recurring revenue from cloud and support services grew by 
16 per cent and accounted for 35 per cent of total revenue. 
 
Focus on profitability 
An efficiency programme was successfully implemented 
during the year in order to counteract cost increases due to 
high inflation and a weaker Swedish krona. Adjusted EBITA 
amounted to SEK 302 million (315), and the adjusted EBITA 
margin was 6.2 per cent (6.6). 
 
Exciting new business and partnerships 
Proact has continued to strengthen its collaboration with  
customers and partners in 2023 by developing and broadening 
its offering in respect of both existing and new solutions. Proact 
Managed Container Platform, the new container development 
service, was successfully delivered to the first customer in  
the fourth quarter. 

Proact has been recognised and received awards from 
customers and partners in a number of markets. Among 
other things, we were named “EMEA Partner of the Year” by 
NetApp, ranked as one of the top three leading cloud service 
providers in Germany, and named one of the top five suppliers 
in Radar’s report on supplier quality in Sweden. 
 
Integration of new operations provides  
breadth and economies of scale 
Acquisitions continue to be an important part of the Proact 
strategy. In 2023, the emphasis has been on developing pro-
cesses based on best practice and integrating the companies 
acquired in 2022. The emphasis on integration is helping to 
ensure a cost-effective, reliable business where expertise 
and local specialist skills can be utilised across all markets. 
 
Strengthening the service offering 
Proact’s service portfolio was expanded during the year 
to include additional services based on Microsoft’s cloud 
platforms, which is helping to implement a more efficient IT 
environment for our customers thanks to scalability and an 
integrated structure. Proact is able to meet the increasing  
demand for infrastructure for AI use thanks to the Proact  
Hybrid Cloud and the proprietary Proact Managed  
Container Platform.

Employees our most important resource 
Attracting and retaining employees continues to be one of 
Proact’s key focus areas and a critical success factor. A number 
of initiatives were implemented during the year to develop 
both employees and managers within the company, and once 
again Proact was named one of Sweden’s top ten companies 
for young talent.
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Uncertain market conditions 
The year was characterised by market 
uncertainty, with inflation extending 
lead times for investment decisions by 
our customers and increasing costs for 
Proact. Economic signals were slightly 
more positive towards the end of the 
year, and expectations of a recovery 
have strengthened. 

However, the demand and sales rate 
in the service business has remained 
strong and has increased in importance, 
which is in line with our strategy. The 
volume of cloud contracts in 2023 fell 
slightly year-on-year on account of more 
flexible contracts with lower guarantee 
levels, but greater potential for increased 
recurring revenue. The market for system 
solutions was relatively favourable during 
the year despite the lower willingness to 
invest and the extended sales processes, 
while demand for consultancy services 
was lower. 
 
Growth in the service business 
The service business developed strongly 
during the year and grew by 13.5 per cent  
(6.3 per cent organic growth), driven by 
support and cloud services. 

Total turnover increased by 1.9 per 
cent to SEK 4,847.3 million (4,756.8). 
Organically, adjusted for currency effects 
and acquisitions, revenue fell by 2.3 per 
cent due to lower system sales. The sys-
tems business decreased organically by 
8 per cent partly due to the very strong 
comparison year 2022 when deliveries 
were made after previous periods of 
semiconductor shortages, but also due 
to a more cautious market with longer 
sales cycles. 

A streamlining programme was 
launched and implemented during the 
year in response to increased inflation at 
the beginning of the year. The aim of this 
was to reduce underlying costs by SEK 
45-50 million. 

The programme focusing mainly on 
administrative costs and costs related 
to service delivery was successful and 
contributed to an adjusted EBITA of SEK 

302 million (315), corresponding to a profit-
ability margin of 6.2 per cent (6.6). Besides 
dividends, our strong balance sheet and 
cash position has enabled us to repay 
loans and reduce capital costs. We have 
also initiated, according to plan, a share 
buy-back programme as mandated by the 
Annual General Meeting in 2023, without 
reducing our ability to acquire companies. 
 
Futureproof services 
Our customers operate in different indus-
tries, but they have a common denomina-
tor: they often have extensive, complex, 
business-critical IT infrastructures with 
high demands on security, sustainability 
and efficiency. 

We use our outstanding expertise and 
knowledge to help our customers with 
their digital transformation thanks to our 
services and hybrid cloud solutions. 
These solutions are based on the most 
appropriate and modern cloud techno
logies for each customer’s specific needs. 

Proact has a unique portfolio of prod-
ucts, services and competences that 
make it possible for our customers to use 
local and private clouds seamlessly with 
the public global cloud services from 
companies such as Microsoft and Amazon 
Web Services. 

There is a clear trend towards hybrid 
cloud solutions, with public cloud services 
playing an important role. The development 
of technology is still very high, which 
poses challenges for customers in need 
of advanced and business-critical IT 
solutions. 

We reinforced our offering during the 
year with services based on Microsoft’s 
cloud platforms Azure and Microsoft 365. 
Proact’s new services utilise the scala
bility and power of Microsoft’s cloud 
platforms. Proact takes responsibility for 
architecture design, implementation, data 
management, maintenance and running 
of application and workstation solutions. 
This allows customers to focus on digital 
business development and rely on Proact 
to provide a sustainable, scalable and 
integrated IT infrastructure. 

These new services are helping to imple-
ment a complete portfolio of hybrid cloud 
services that are well integrated with one 
another and with global cloud providers, 
making it possible for our customers to 
benefit from the latest technologies even 
if they themselves lack the expertise to 
develop and maintain the underlying 
infrastructure. 
 
Artificial intelligence solutions 
One of the hottest trends in the market 
over the past year has been the explo-
sively increasing interest in artificial 
intelligence (AI), driven primarily by 
the Chat GPT generative AI solution. AI 
infrastructure is made up of specialised 
technology components such as powerful 
computational processors, machine 
learning software and storage of large 
data volumes. 

Proact provides infrastructure for AI use 
and already has installations in the health 
sector and at universities. The need for 
specialised system and service solutions 
is expected to increase as the use of gen-
erative AI increases in commercial sectors 
with proprietary language models. Proact 
Hybrid Cloud and Proact Managed Con-
tainer Platform are examples of services 
that are already prepared for AI use. 
 
Continuing increase in  
customer satisfaction 
We regularly gauge customer satisfaction 
and work systematically to continuously 
improve how we treat our customers and 
deliver our services. 

It is very gratifying to see that our 
customers are even more satisfied with 
us, given these times of increased com-
petition and general market uncertainty. 
Our Net Promoter Score for customer 
satisfaction during the year increased 
to 59, from last year’s 46, and we are 
very proud of this. We also work closely 
with our technology suppliers. We have 
received several prestigious awards from 
our partners during the year, as well as 
top rankings in surveys conducted by 
external industry analysts. 
 

2023 was a year in which Proact delivered strong growth in the strategically important service 
business, and in which the demand for our products and services held up well in the face of 
competition despite the weak macroeconomic developments and high inflation rate. The com-
pleted streamlining programme and our strong financial position give us plenty of opportunities 
to develop our customer offering still further and continue with our growth in the coming years. 
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CEO’s statement   

Sustainability and safety 
The demand for both resilient and 
sustainable IT solutions has increased 
significantly during the year. The number 
of attacks by hackers is constantly on the 
increase and receiving a great deal of 
media attention. 

Modern IT solutions have to be both 
resilient and sustainable. Our focus on 
sustainability is allowing us to provide  
IT solutions that are energy-efficient  
and circular while also reducing the com-
pany’s own environmental footprint. We 
minimise our customers’ carbon footprint 
by means of energy-efficient data centres 
and equipment and extensive use of 
renewable electricity. 

One of my top priorities is that our  
staff should enjoy their work and evolve 
with the company. Proact is a knowledge- 
driven company that needs to go on 
developing the abilities and skills of its 
employees if it is to remain at the fore-
front of technology and be relevant to its 
customers. As in previous years, further 
development of our managers and em-
ployees is important, and we have further 
broadened the range of Proact Academy 
programmes and developed our working 
environment during the year. The results 
of the annual employee survey improved 
significantly compared to the previous year: 
all the indices we measure were strength-
ened and are at a high level in relation to 
external comparisons. Just as customer 
satisfaction rose sharply, we also saw 
a large increase in the Employee Net Pro-
moter Score, which makes me particularly 
proud of the past year. 

Finally, I would like to thank all colleag
ues for their fine work and great commit-
ment that make Proact the fine company 
we are.

Solna, April 2024

Jonas Hasselberg
CEO & President

A strong year, particularly 
in the service business, 
with emphasis on business 
development and stream-
lining, ensures that Proact 
is well equipped for the 
coming year.
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Business capital
•	Operations in 12 countries

Relational capital
•	Close cooperation with strategically  

selected suppliers with good reputations

Human capital
•	1,171 employees, many with specialist  

expertise

Financial capital
•	SEK 1,505 million in capital  

employed

Strategic focus areasResources

Broaden our market  
positioning

Accelerate our hybrid cloud 
offering and maintain our 
strong position in respect  
of data centres

High quality and standard­
ised service delivery with 
satisfied customers

Focus on employees

Accelerate growth through 
acquisitions

Read more on page 8

Core values:
Integrity Commitment Excellence

Read more on page 25
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Value creation at Proact   

Customers
•	Secured access to business-critical  

information and data

•	Robust infrastructure

•	Robust security procedures

•	Reduced IT costs

•	Secure, flexible IT systems

•	Sustainable, customised solutions

Suppliers
•	Ethical business

•	Long-term partnerships

Employees
•	 International environment

•	Specialist expertise

•	Development opportunities

•	Attractive employer

Communities
•	Job opportunities

•	Customer solutions that help to  
bring about more efficient utilisation  
of resources

Shareholders
•	Dividend yield

•	Value growth

Value distributedValue created

Suppliers

3,758
SEK million
Cost of goods and services

Employees

1,310
SEK million
Salaries and remuneration

Communities

45
SEK million
Income taxes

Remaining in the company 
until new investments

118
SEK million

Shareholders

54 
  
SEK million  
Dividends

The Board of Directors will propose  
distribution of a dividend of SEK 2.00 per 
share to the Annual General Meeting for  
the 2023 business year.
Shares corresponding to SEK 19.6 million 
were repurchased during the year.
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Long-term financial targets Outcome Historical outcome

Sales growth
The average total sales growth 
should amount to at least 10 per 
cent per year.

Sales growth amounted  
to 1.9 per cent. 

Margin 
The EBITA margin should 
amount to no less than  
8 per cent.

The company generated an  
EBITA margin of 5.9 per cent  
of revenues for the full year.

Debt levels 
Net debt should be  
no more than twice EBITDA.

At the end of the year, the  
company had a debt/equity  
ratio of -0.17 times EBITDA.

Return on capital employed
Return on capital employed  
should amount to at least  
20 per cent.

For 2023, the return on capital 
employed amounted to 16.3 
per cent.

Dividends 
In the long term, the company 
intends to issue a dividend of 
25-35 per cent of profit after tax.

A dividend of SEK 2.00 per  
share is proposed for 2023, 
which is equivalent to 31 per  
cent of profit after tax.

Vision
Our vision is to be Europe’s most trusted IT  
services partner, enabling business value and  
growth for our customers.

>10%

>8%

>20%

25–35%

<2 
times

Mission
We offer a combination of sustainable world-class  
hybrid cloud solutions and unique expertise to create  
business value and growth through IT, generating lasting  
value for our customers.
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0

1.2

45

30%

A

Updated and new sustainability targets
Proact’s sustainability strategy was updated during the year. Revised and new long-term targets were set  
for the whole group at the same time. The sustainability work focuses on reducing Proact’s climate footprint,  
enabling our customers to become more sustainable thanks to the products and services offered, and  
providing an attractive and gender-equal workplace.

Long-term sustainability targets Outcome Historical outcome

Net zero emissions
Proact aims to achieve net 
zero greenhouse gas emis-
sions throughout its value 
chain by 2050.

An initial calculation of emissions,  
in accordance with the guidelines  
of the GHG Protocol, was carried  
out during the year for 2022, Proact’s 
base year. Proact’s total greenhouse 
gas emissions amounted to 5,911 
tonnes in 2023. 
See page 19 for more information.

PUE 
Average PUE, power usage 
effectiveness, at the data 
centres used by Proact will 
not exceed 1.2 by 2030.

The average PUE in 2023 was  
1.3. 
See page 20 for more information.

SecurityScorecard 
Proact will achieve level A  
in SecurityScorecard  
by 2025. 

Proact’s performance at group  
level was B at the end of the year. 
See page 20 for more information.

eNPS
Proact’s goal is to achieve  
an eNPS (Employer Net Pro-
moter Score) of 45 by 2030.

Proact’s eNPS was 31 in  
this year’s survey. 
See page 24 for more information.

Women 
The proportion of women 
in the group should be at 
least 30 per cent by 2030.

The proportion of women was 19 per 
cent in 2023. 
See page 23 for more information.
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Focus areas
Proact’s strategy is continuing to focus on reinforcing the company’s position as a sustainable provider of hybrid  
cloud services. Helping customers to store, protect and drive business value from data is at the heart of this strategy. 
The company works with five strategic focus areas in order to achieve set growth and profitability targets.

Strategic focus areas Priorities Follow-up, 2023

Broaden our market position 
Our offering, geographical spread, expertise 
and strong partner relations provide us with 
good opportunities to further strengthen our 
market position as a sustainable and secure 
provider of hybrid cloud services. In strategic 
partnerships, we assist our customers in their 
efforts to digitalise, create efficiency and  
flexibility, and secure their data. 

•	�Develop value-creating hybrid solu-
tions that leverage Proact’s broad 
expertise and sustainable offering. 

•	�Further reinforce our position as an 
advisory partner for customers’  
digitalisation journey. 

•	�Reinforce our position on cyber
security. 

Previous acquisitions and further emphasis on 
organic development have allowed us to increase 
our advisory role and strengthen our position as 
a hybrid cloud service provider in all our markets, 
through customer interactions and various brand 
building initiatives. We are continuing to broaden 
our customers’ perception of Proact as a hybrid 
cloud specialist – which has also helped to bring 
about further improvement of an already strong  
NPS from 2022. 

Accelerate our hybrid cloud offering 
and maintain our strong position in 
respect of data centres 
We will continue developing our portfolio in  
both data centres and hybrid cloud services 
through interaction with our partners and 
customers. We perceive major opportunities  
in value-added services on top of the public 
cloud with our specialist expertise and 
consultancy in areas such as hybrid cloud 
services through close collaboration with our 
partners and customers, Kubernetes architec-
ture, data management and AI solutions. 

•	�Package our own consultancy  
services around the public cloud. 

•	�Continue to standardise our offering  
in respect of our own cloud services. 

•	�Grow our sales of hybrid cloud  
services. 

•	�Further reinforce our data centre 
offering with sustainable solutions to 
meet future needs, including AI and 
application development. 

We have established a strong position as an advisor 
in the field of transformative digitalisation journeys 
towards private and public clouds with delivery 
power from the Netherlands and Germany. 
  We have launched a number of new packaged 
hybrid and public cloud services provided via our 
four delivery hubs. 
  During the year, we made several successful 
deliveries of high-performance AI infrastructure  
to SaaS companies and the healthcare sector. 

High quality and standardised service 
delivery with satisfied customers 
We aim to maximise cost efficiency in our 
delivery hubs through standardised processes 
and data-driven decision-making. Automation 
and coordination of programmes also ensure 
fast and accurate delivery. Our commitment  
to continuous improvement keeps us at the 
forefront, creating a dynamic organisation  
that is adapted to the demands of the market. 

•	�Further improvement of quality, effi-
ciency and the customer experience. 

•	�Reduced time-to-market and faster 
handover in service delivery. 

•	�Continuous development and automa-
tion of the delivery model across our 
four delivery hubs. 

 

We have continued during the year to develop more 
efficient processes and procedures for delivery at 
our hubs. We have streamlined our service delivery 
and related administration by means of standardisa-
tion and automation, with clear monitoring of results. 
We have taken further steps towards sustainable, 
secure service delivery. 

Focus on employees
Our employees and our culture are at the very 
heart of our corporate strategy. Our core values 
and commitment to diversity permeate our cor-
porate culture. We believe in the future through 
our staff, driven by talent, commitment and 
strong leadership. Proact endeavours to be  
an attractive employer for both current and 
future employees. 

•	�To be an attractive employer with 
clearly defined values and added  
value for our staff. 

•	�Maintain a unified culture in order to 
clearly articulate and personalise the 
Proact brand.

•	�Emphasise career development in 
order to realise employees’ potential 
and allow it to evolve. 

•	�Further development of leaders is crucial 
for engagement and sustainable results 
in a diverse and inclusive environment.

We have implemented a new employee training 
platform where the emphasis to date has been  
on sales and compliance training. 
  We have continued our global leadership 
development in 2023 with emphasis on strategy  
and employee engagement. 
  We have initiated a project to boost the Proact 
employer brand, which will be launched in 2024. 
  We are working actively on continuous improve-
ment so that we remain an attractive employer.  
This year’s eNPS increased to 31, compared to  
10 the year before.

Accelerate growth through  
acquisition 
The emphasis remains on accelerating our  
strategic agenda with company acquisitions  
in order to further strengthen hybrid cloud  
competences and increase market share.

•	�Focus on growth and broadening the 
service portfolio with consultative 
competences in line with the company’s 
hybrid cloud strategy. 

•	�Increase our market share in designated 
regions. 

•	�Integrate and develop acquired  
companies. 

During the year, we have focused significantly on 
integrating and capitalising on synergies in the  
German organisation following the previous acquisi-
tions of sepago GmbH and ahd GmbH.
  The acquisition team has been reinforced, thereby 
increasing our M&A capacity. We have carried on 
identifying potential candidates for acquisition.  
No acquisitions have taken place in 2023. 
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Strategy   

Åsa Olsson
Service Delivery Manager,  
Proact, Sweden

What roles have you had  
at Proact?
I’ve been working here for ten years. 
I started at the Service Desk for our 
customer support team in Stockholm. 
That was where I learned the basics of 
Proact’s support and consultancy oper-
ations. Many of the customers I helped 
then are still with us now. 

After my first period of parental leave, 
I had the opportunity to move on to our 
Business Support department and work 
on aspects such as order processing, 
orders and support agreements. After 
I returned from parental leave the 
second time, I was invited to return to 
the support department as an Incident 
Manager. I was able to make great 
use of my previous experience there, 
because I already knew most of the 
customers and all the colleagues who 
help our customers on a daily basis. 
  After a few years as an Incident Man-
ager, I applied for the job of Service De-
livery Manager for our Managed Cloud 
Services team in Örebro. I’m still there 
now, and I’m very happy with my job.

You have been with the company 
for a long time. Why is that?
The development opportunities available 
to me are one of the reasons. I also feel 
everyone is treated with respect, and that 
we employees can assist with influencing 
business, deliverables and approaches. 
Proact listens to its employees.

Parental leave, for both men and women, 
has always been encouraged by Proact. 
As a woman, telling your employer that 
you’re going off on parental leave for any 
length of time can be a delicate issue. 
All my experiences at Proact have been 
positive – I’ve been trusted to take on 
new positions after my two periods of 
parental leave. Employees are willing 
to go that extra mile when you feel the 
company has trust in you. I’d like to think 
most of us employees feel that way.

How would you describe Proact 
as a place to work?
Very informal, you can express yourself 
freely, colleagues are helpful. We all 
share the desire to help our customers, 
do business that benefits all parties and 
contribute to the transfer of expertise.
  New things are happening all the 
time in our industry, and there’s always 
something new to learn. Proact en-
courages and supports learning, and 
there are all kinds of opportunities for 
development here. And we really enjoy 
working together!
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Trends 

Proact operates in a market affected by challenging macro trends and rapid technological  
development. By actively monitoring developments, we endeavour to go on developing new 
business opportunities while working to reinforce both our own competitiveness and that of  
our customers. We monitor market developments and conduct regular interviews with our  
customers to ensure that we are positioned correctly. 

Customer challenges and opportunities
Digitalisation remains a prominent trend across all indus-
tries. Organisations are investing in new technologies such 
as artificial intelligence, machine learning and big data  
analytics in order to improve efficiency and create value. 
The aim is not only to improve operational efficiency, but 
also to create competitive advantages on account of faster 
decision-making processes and enhanced customer expe-
riences. Generative AI is being developed and will revolutio-
nise our work processes and decision-making capabilities. 
The Internet of Things is acting as a catalyst for digitalisation 
in manufacturing, healthcare, transport and smart cities. 
Rapid digitalisation is paving the way for new IT-driven, 
data-driven business models where companies can identify 
new opportunities for growth. This transformation is being 
enabled by new ways of analysing and processing data. 
That said, IT departments have to manage the balance 
between these opportunities and risks, including increased 
complexity, limited resources and tighter IT budgets. 

Opportunities for Proact 
Proact has the expertise and experience to support compa-
nies’ digitalisation journeys; not only by conceptualising, 
implementing and building IT solutions, but also by helping 
them to achieve the effects of digitalisation and extract the 
benefits from data analysis using AI and machine learning. 
The fact it is becoming increasingly difficult for customers 
to find specialist expertise for this complex digitalisation 
journey makes Proact’s consultancy operations even more 
important. Proact is well positioned in the market thanks to 
its geographical presence, focus on consultancy, technical 
expertise and a strong portfolio of products and services. 
  This development is also generating new regulatory 
requirements, particularly in sectors such as finance, 
healthcare and law, where Proact’s experience is able  
to support its customers in all aspects of digitalisation. 

Customer challenges and opportunities
The accelerating pace of digitalisation, in combination 
with high levels of acceptance for cloud services, is  
driving the emergence of hybrid clouds in the market.  
The increasing need for sustainable, flexible, scalable  
and cost-effective IT systems is reinforcing this trend. 
Businesses are more mature in their use of the benefits 
of hybrid clouds combining their own data centres and 
private and public cloud infrastructure. With varying re-
quirements for business data, workflows and applications, 
companies have to carefully assess the need for scala
bility, flexibility, uptime, security and legal aspects so  
that they can choose the most suitable solution. 

Opportunities for Proact
The combination of software as a service, various cloud 
solutions and the need for improved IT infrastructure all add 
to the complexity. With Proact’s strong portfolio and expertise, 
we are well positioned to guide our customers through the 
challenges of complex hybrid cloud structures. Clients’ lack 
of resources and internal expertise of their own increases  
the need for Proact’s services. Proact also has a significant 
opportunity to support customers’ sustainability agenda 
thanks to its efficient, secure and sustainable IT services. 

Digitalisation and AI Enabling flexible and sustainable IT through 
hybrid clouds 

The three key customer trends 

•	�Digitalisation remains a key driver for increasing 
value creation and reinforcing competitiveness. 
This trend is further reinforced by differentiation 
opportunities arising on account of the use of 
artificial intelligence (AI) and machine learning

•	�Use of hybrid cloud architecture to 
create sustainable, flexible, scalable 
and cost-effective IT support for 
business operations

•	�Cybersecurity has become a high 
priority for businesses due to the 
increasing risk of cyberthreats, and 
this is viewed as a hygiene factor in 
all solutions
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Market review   

Customer challenges and opportunities
The number of cyberthreats and data breaches has 
increased significantly on account of geopolitical devel-
opments and rapid advances in AI. The demand for direct 
access to data and information platforms regardless of 
time and place is increasing, which in turn increases the 
risk of intrusion. Hackers are using AI and machine learn-
ing to carry out increasingly sophisticated attacks. Cyber-
hacking is now a billion-dollar business with its own R&D 
budgets. Many organisations lack in-house resources with 
sufficient knowledge and expertise in both cybersecurity 
and the ever-expanding regulatory framework for informa-
tion management. Nowadays, we are unable to provide  
IT services and solutions without taking security aspects 
into account. 

Opportunities for Proact 
Having Proact as an IT security partner gives our custom-
ers unique access to local and international specialist 
expertise over much of Europe. This collective expertise, 
integrated with our advanced security solutions and 
services, has a crucial part to play in proactively prevent-
ing intrusions, enabling rapid detection and effective and 
timely response to threats thanks to round-the-clock moni-
toring via our Security Operations Centre (SOC). 
  Our backup and disaster recovery solutions and services 
provide important peace of mind to our customers by ensur
ing rapid recovery of data and applications. This allows for 
a straightforward return to normal operations, with minimal 
impact on both employees and customers. Our secure 
solutions provide a foundation for long-term digital and 
sustainable operations. 

Cybersecurity

WHY PROACT?
Proact is a long-term provider of sustainable 

and competitive hybrid cloud services. We  

provide unique specialist expertise in services 

and IT infrastructure, regardless of whether  

it is needed for customers’ own data centres, 

private, public or hybrid cloud solutions. 

Proact has around 1,200 specialists at more 

than 30 offices in 12 countries across Europe 

and in the US. Hence we can benefit from 

economies of scale thanks to our size, while 

also being locally based and having a good  

understanding of our customers and maintain-

ing an agile approach to their needs. 

Competitive situation
Proact’s geographical presence, together with  
our strong portfolio of market-leading products  
and services (own consultancy, support and cloud 
services), gives us a clear competitive advantage. 
We have strengthened our competitiveness in 
recent years through acquisitions, recruitment  
and service development, as reflected in customer 
satisfaction (NPS), increased additional sales and 
new business in our growth areas. 

Proact’s competitors can be categorised into  
three main segments: 

•	��Local and regional resellers and integrators 
who, like Proact, sell infrastructure products  
from global manufacturers. They provide 
 varying degrees of added value in terms of  
technical expertise, consultancy services and 
support services. 

•	�Global product manufacturers who work  
with resellers and integrators such as Proact,  
and who also sell their products and services  
directly to customers. They usually offer limited 
or no local technical expertise or local consul-
tancy and support services. 

•	�Local and regional providers of operating 
services and cloud services. These compet-
itors are either resellers of standardised cloud 
services or offer their own operating services 
and cloud services with an ambition to develop 
a portfolio of services (or hybrid cloud services) 
and expertise that matches the Proact offering.

Trends 
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The Proact offering reflects our clear strategic positioning as  
a specialist in the field of sustainable and hybrid cloud services. 

New demands are placed on IT architecture in a market with  
an increasingly rapid pace of change and new, more digital 
players. It is necessary to match the demands of a high pace  
of change and increasing regulatory requirements with effective 
supply of IT. Proact helps customers to streamline their supply  
of IT to meet the demands of their operations and the market. 

To take full advantage of the different options for the supply 
of IT, the key for Proact’s customers is to find their own unique 

hybrid cloud mix by combining their own data centres  
with services from local cloud providers, as well as global  
public clouds. 

Proact is in a unique position to deliver all elements of  
a hybrid cloud architecture. We can cope effectively with  
our customers’ specific challenges and needs with the right  
combination of cloud services and our own IT infrastructure.

Private clouds 
Proact provides technology 
and expertise to create private 
clouds that can be combined 
with Proact’s IT as a Service. 
Everything is managed by 
Proact at the customer’s own 
data centre in order to meet 
maximum security requirements.

Local clouds 
Proact offers local provision of 
cloud services from its own data 
centres. These cloud services 
are managed in accordance 
with local laws and regulations 
in order to meet the needs for 
local delivery with complete 
control over all data.

Public clouds 
The final building block involves 
guiding customers towards 
effective utilisation of public 
cloud services from global cloud 
providers as an integral part 
of the customer’s hybrid cloud 
architecture. 
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Proact’s customers are information-intensive companies and authorities  
with large volumes of business-critical digital information. The efficient  
supply of IT is completely crucial to the company’s customers. 

Customers
All industries need IT environments which work well, so Proact 
has customers who operate in a wide range of different fields. 

Proact works in close cooperation with customers on a local 
level, and at the same time makes the most of its strength as an 
international company. As an independent specialist, Proact’s 
objective is always to understand customers’ needs and require-
ments from both a business and a technical perspective. 

Proact’s customers are mainly large and medium-sized enter
prises and authorities, and Proact currently enjoys balanced  
revenue distribution between different industries. The three 
biggest industries are Public Sector, Retail & Services and Manu
facturing Industry. Proact’s customer relations are often long-
term, and in 2023 repeat custom accounted for around 97 per 
cent (93) of the Group’s revenues. The ten biggest customers  
in 2023 were responsible for 20 per cent (21) of revenues, and 
no one customer represented more than 3 per cent (6). The  
biggest customers are active in a number of the countries in 
which Proact operates.

Partners
Proact has long-term close relationships with a small number of 
carefully selected strategic suppliers. Proact has a well-defined 
innovation process which allows it to evaluate new services and 
products from existing partners in a structured manner while also 
seeking and taking on services and products from new partners. 
This process ensures that Proact is always at the cutting edge 
of technical development and thereby able to use the very latest 
technology when designing new services and new IT infrastruc-
ture for its customers.

Examples of top providers include Azure, Cisco, Commvault, 
Dell, Equinix, Isovalent, Juniper, NetApp, Nvidia, Palo Alto Net-
works, Red Hat, Securonix, Veeam and VMware. In most cases, 
Proact works in partnership with two or more different suppliers 
within each technical field. This makes it possible for Proact to 
maintain extremely high levels of specialist expertise and aware-
ness with regard to each product, while also reducing the risk  
of business disruptions should the relationship with any supplier 
be altered for any reason.

Revenues per sector

Offentlig Sektor 36% (27)

Handel & Tjänster 23% (20)

Tillverkande Industri 11% (14)

Energi 6% (5)

Telekom 5% (9)

Bank, Finans 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Övrigt 12% (15)

Public Sector 36% (27)

Retail and Services 23% (20)

Manufacturing Industry 11% (14)

Energy 6% (5)

Telecoms 5% (9)

Banking, Finance 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Other 12% (15)
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Customers and partners 

 
 

iSCM Institute and Radar 

Proact was recognised as a leading cloud service provider in Germany in 2023. 
This award was based on the outcome of a customer evaluation of cloud partners 
and managed service providers (MSPs) conducted by the iSCM Institute on be
half of ChannelPartner and COMPUTERWOCHE. 
  This survey compiles its rankings by regularly asking German companies how 
satisfied they are with the services of their cloud partners. Proact was ranked 
among the top three managed service providers in its category.
  Independent analysis company Radar Ecosystem Specialists gauges quality 
and value creation in the relationship between customers and suppliers in the  
    IT sector in Sweden. In its Supplier Quality 2023 report, 

Proact defends its place in the top 5 for two of the 
four areas covered by the report: Infrastructure 

and Operations and Consultancy Services. 
  “The Radar Supplier Quality 2023 results 
show that proactivity in the relationship is 
being increasingly valued during a period in 
which we’re seeing tight budgets, economic 
uncertainty and increased cyberthreats on  

the buyer side,” says Hans Werner, CEO of 
Radar Ecosystem Specialists.

Northern Care Alliance 

– �Remote radiology services

The demand for radiology services has 
increased dramatically in recent years, and 
there is a shortage of radiologists in the 
UK. These two circumstances presented 
operational challenges for the radiology 
department at Northern Care Alliance. 
They needed to come up with a solution so 
that they could provide radiology services 
remotely and therefore access radiologists 
both nationally and globally. 

Northern Care Alliance implemented 
a new, advanced VDI solution based on  
Dell VXRail and Nvidia. This allowed graph-
ics-intensive radiological processes to be 
performed from any location, which paved 
the way for a global talent pool, greater 
employee flexibility and expanded capacity 
for the existing workforce. 

Working with clinical stakeholders, Proact 
helped the Northern Care Alliance team to 
define, test and implement an innovative  
VDI solution to manage images anywhere.

2023 Net Promoter Score (NPS) 

NPS measures customers’ responses when asked how likely they are to recom-
mend Proact to others. The purpose of this metric is to gauge customer experience,  
and it indicates opportunities for growth. The measured value can vary from  
-100 to +100. The average NPS for Proact’s industry is around 25. This year,  
Proact received an NPS of 59 (46). 
  Participants who rate companies in the survey are divided into groups based 
on the score they give a company. Participants who give scores of 9-10 are 
deemed to be active promoters of the company. “Passives” give scores of 7-8,  
and participants who give scores of 6 or less are considered detractors. Using 
this classification, 65.5 per cent (56) of Proact’s customers in the survey are  
promoters, 28 per cent (34) are passives and 6.5 per cent (10) are detractors.

Promoter 65,5%

Passive 28%

Detractor 6,5%

Profit

59
Total NPS

Customer surveys

Working with Proact has enabled us to 
deliver radiology transformation very 
quickly. Some trusts can take a couple of 
years to deliver projects like this; with  
Proact, we did it in 6 months. Their 
breadth of knowledge, experience and  
in-house skills really add value.

Jav Yaqub, Head of Infrastructure  
at Northern Care Alliance.

One of the strongest driving forces for Proact is to establish good, long-

term relationships with our customers. Proact continuously measures 

customer satisfaction and monitors and improves services in order to pro-

vide the best possible customer experience. That is why it is pleasing to 

see that these efforts have been recognised in external surveys as well. 
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Customers and partners   

 
 

Fortnox 

– �One-third of Sweden’s busi-
ness data passes through IT 
systems built by Proact

Fortnox is Sweden’s biggest provider of 
fintech services for small and medium-sized 
enterprises. They offer a proprietary cloud-
based enterprise platform with stringent 
demands in terms of data security and 
resilient systems. 

Proact’s expert consultants have de-
signed a first-class storage solution for Fort-
nox’s internal data centre, complemented by 
ongoing operations and maintenance, pre-
mium support and backup as a service. This 
service is both resilient and geographically 
redundant thanks to Proact’s load-balanced 
and energy-efficient data centres. 

The data from about a third of all Swedish 
companies is now stored at Proact thanks to 
the collaboration with Fortnox. 

Municipality of Amstelveen 

– �Future-proof and flexible  
workplaces 

The Dutch municipality of Amstelveen, just 
outside Amsterdam, has more than 92,300 
residents. 

The need for video calls and chat 
features escalated during the pandemic as 
working from home became more common.  
The municipality then introduced the 
Microsoft Teams platform. After a while, 
Amstelveen’s employees needed an even 
more flexible and efficient way of working 
with additional  
collaboration features. 

Proact put together a team of special
ists who designed a secure, cloud-based 
workplace solution. Users can easily access 
the applications and the municipality’s own 
systems for which they hold authorisation, 
regardless of where and when they are work
ing. This solution is scalable and well suited 
to future changes.

Increased security, more functions 
and greater flexibility mean that users are 
happier and more efficient in their work, 
resulting in shorter lead times for the munic-
ipality’s residents.

Joseph-Stiftung

– �Flexible cloud solution,  
increased performance  
and reduced administration 

Joseph-Stiftung (the Joseph Foundation), 
is a housing association belonging to the 
Catholic Church. Like many other organisa-
tions, they have seen an increasing demand 
for remote work, a need to replace outdated 
hardware and a desire for cost-effective 
solutions with as few in-house IT staff as 
possible. 

The Joseph Foundation has been 
a Proact customer for almost a decade and 
has recently entered into its third Managed 
Cloud Services agreement, which includes 
networking, workstation virtualisation for  
300 users and virtualised storage as a  
service through Proact Hybrid Cloud to  
more than ten different locations.

This means that the Joseph Foundation 
is equipped to cope with the challenges of 
tomorrow and can concentrate on its core 
duties instead of worrying about maintain-
ing its infrastructure. Minimising local infra
structure also provides greater flexibility, 
security and significant independence from 
energy costs.

We want a supplier with whom we maintain 
close cooperation and who wants to work 
like this, and this is what Proact gives us.

Peter Hall, Head of IT operations  
at Fortnox.

Proact helped us by working with us on  
the basis of our existing solution and look
ing at what we wanted to achieve and how 
we have to be ready to cope with future 
needs.

Michael Caspers, IT Project Manager,  
Head of IT at the municipality of Amstelveen. 

We enjoyed working with Proact’s  
specialists. Our step into the “cloud” with 
Proact was more than successful for us.

Christian Diller, Head of the IT department  
at the Joseph Foundation 
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FACTS
Revenues: SEK 2,619 million
Adjusted EBITA: SEK 206.9 million
EBITA Margin: 7.9% 
Profit before tax: SEK 206.8 million
Countries: Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania  
(divested on 28 August 2023), Norway, Sweden and the US.

FACTS
Revenues: SEK 662 million
Adjusted EBITA: SEK 21.3 million
EBITA Margin: 3.2%
Profit before tax: SEK 12.2 million
Countries: United Kingdom.

Nordics & Baltics UK

Growth and increased margins 
2023 was a very strong year financially, with growth in terms  
of both revenue and EBITA margin. A developed offering in the 
service business, including container and security-related solu-
tions, has driven this positive development. Demand for system 
solutions has also remained buoyant in 2023.

Revenues increased by 4.4 per cent during the year, while  
increasing by 3.9 per cent organically. System revenues in-
creased by 0.8 per cent, while organic growth amounted to  
0.7 per cent. Systems revenue developed favourably, especially 
in Sweden and Norway, thanks to good demand. Service revenue 
grew by 13.9 per cent and organically 12.4 per cent), with good 
demand primarily in the support and cloud service segments. 

Adjusted EBITA amounted to SEK 206.9 million (174.1) and 
the EBITA margin was 7.9 per cent (6.9) for the year. In Nordic & 
Baltics, EBITA and the EBITA margin developed favourably due 
to increased revenue combined with increased gross margin, 
offset in part by higher sales costs.

Longer sales cycles affected growth 
In 2023, the emphasis was on continued development and 
growth in hybrid and public cloud services driven by increased 
customer demand.

Revenue decreased by 7.0 per cent during the year, and 
organically by 12.1 per cent. The difference is explained by  
currency effects. Compared to the previous year, system reve-
nues decreased by 24.2 per cent and organically by 28.4 per 
cent due to a more cautious market and longer sales cycles as 
a consequence. Service revenues increased by 12.1 per cent  
and organically by 5.9 per cent, with cloud services showing 
good growth, offset by decreased consultancy revenues con-
nected to lower system sales.

Adjusted EBITA amounted to SEK 21.3 million (36.4) and the 
EBITA margin was 3.2 per cent (5.1) during the year. EBITA and 
the EBITA margin were negatively impacted by lower revenues, 
offset in part by increased gross margins compared to the same 
period last year.

  Our offices

The customer 
offering was 
further broade-
ned in 2023. This 
included the 
delivery of con-
tainer platform 
development 
solutions to the 
first customers.

Nordics & Baltics 54%

UK 14%

West 17%

Central 17%

Revenues per Business Unit

54% 14%

17%17%
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Our Business Units   

FACTS
Revenues: SEK 823 million
Adjusted EBITA: SEK 23.2 million
EBITA Margin: 2.8% 
Profit before tax: SEK -1.8 million
Countries: Belgium, Netherlands and Spain.

West

New cloud agreements drive growth
The growth in the service segment and in particular with regard 
to cloud and support services is a result of efforts to develop the 
offering and add value for the public cloud. 

Revenues increased by 2.2 per cent during the year, but  
organically there was a decrease of 5.4 per cent. System  
revenues decreased by 16.8 per cent and organically by 22.9 
per cent, the difference being explained by currency effects. 
Service revenue increased by 10.2 per cent and organically by 
2.1 per cent, with a good underlying demand and focus primarily 
on cloud and support services in, while consultancy revenue 
decreased due to lack of personnel in some competence areas 
and lower demand in other areas. 

Adjusted EBITA amounted to SEK 23.2 million (45.3) and the 
EBITA margin was 2.8 per cent (5.6) for the year. This decrease 
is attributable to lower revenues, but also to higher sales and  
administration costs due to cost inflation and increased usage  
of extrnal subcontractors.

FACTS
Revenues: SEK 833 million
Adjusted EBITA: SEK 34.0 million
EBITA Margin: 4.1%
Profit before tax: SEK -5.1 million
Countries: Czech Republic and Germany.

Central 

Integration of new activities
The emphasis during the year was on continuing the integration  
of ahd and sepago with extensive expertise in hybrid cloud  
services. The result is reflected in the growth of the service  
segment, where further transfer of expertise and synergies 
remain to be gained. 

Revenues increased by 5.6 per cent due to currency effects 
and the acquisition of sepago but decreased organically by 
6.8 per cent. System revenues decreased by 10.7 per cent and 
organically by 18.9 per cent due to longer sales cycles and mac-
roeconomic uncertainty. Service revenues increased by 23.4 
per cent and organically by 6.2 per cent thanks to good organic 
growth in all service areas. 

Adjusted EBITA amounted to SEK 34.0 million (45.7) and the 
EBITA margin was 4.1 per cent (5.8) for the year. In Central, 
EBITA and the EBITA margin were negatively affected mainly by 
lower organic sales in the systems business, in combination with 
increased sales and administration costs, linked in part to cost 
inflation and to integration costs for acquisitions.

54% 14%

17%17%

Jade Frangleton, Workspace 
Engineer, Proact, UK

What is your educational  
background?
I’ve almost always been interested in 
computers, and I started studying video 
editing but switched to computer science 
later on. When I was one year into my 

university studies, personal circumstan-
ces meant I had to work while I was  
studying. I was given the opportunity to 
try out an IT role at Proact, and accep-
ting that was the best decision  
I’ve ever made.

How does learning work at 
Proact?
The field I work in is very broad, which 
means that keeping my knowledge up 
to date is a bit of a challenge. No two 
working days are the same. I love the 
variety of the work, the fact that we 
work together and support and help 
one another. This allows me to go on 
evolving.
  Besides our day-to-day work, we 
have scheduled training sessions to 
increase our knowledge of the techno
logies that we don’t actively use. We 
attend conferences for upcoming 

features so that we’re ready as soon 
as they’re released.
 
What are your future ambitions 
as part of Proact?
I hope to move towards a Professional 
Service role in the future, preferably 
specialising in Azure and Cloud. I’m 
working towards certification as a 
Microsoft Azure administrator at the 
moment, and I hope to get a Modern 
Workspace role when the opportu-
nity arises. This would build on my 
experience so that I can then work in 
a more project-based role.
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Sustainability 

Proact maintains a holistic approach to sustainability. Our 
ambition is to create long-term value for our company and our 
employees, our customers and shareholders, and society in 
general. With a business strategy that focuses on economic as 
well as ethical, social and environmental factors, we can help to 
bring about sustainable development and ensure the long-term 
success of our company. 

Sustainability strategy 
Our sustainability strategy includes relevant targets and activities 
in areas that are important to our stakeholders, areas that affect 
us most, and areas where our activities have the greatest oppor-
tunity to contribute. Proact’s long-term sustainability ambition is 
“The power of together – for a better future. Supporting a green 
and sustainable world through IT.” To achieve this ambition, we 
are working in three focus areas:  

•	Minimise environmental footprint 

•	Resilient and sustainable IT services 

•	Employer of choice 

Proact has a great opportunity to contribute to sustainable development by minimising our own 
environmental impact, offering resilient and sustainable IT services and being an employer of choice. 

Each focus area includes one or more strategic sustainability 
topics. These focus areas facilitate structured sustainability  
work and simplify communication and reporting. 

The Sustainable Development Goals
Proact confirms the importance of the UN’s Sustainable  
Development Goals (SDGs) as a collective global objective:  
to protect our planet and create prosperity for all. As a company, 
we can contribute by adapting the way in which we work to meet 
the needs of the generations of tomorrow. In our sustainability 
strategy, we have integrated the goals where we believe that 
our operations primarily contribute: goals 5 Gender equality, 
7 Affordable and clean energy, 8 Decent work and economic 
growth, 9 Industry, innovation and infrastructure, 12 Responsible 
consumption and production, and 13 Climate action.

Pages 4–9 and 18–30 include the sustainability report for the Group in 

accordance with Chapter 6 of the Swedish Company Accounts Act. Proact 

reports sustainability data annually through CDP (score C) and EcoVadis 

(score 46).

Proacts sustainabillity strategy
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2030: 30% women
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UN & OECD principles  |  Proact Code of Conduct  |  Proact Company Handbook      Integrity  |  Commitment  |  Excellence
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Sustainability – Minimise environmental footprint   

Proact is a technology and IT services company that does not 
manufacture products, does not have extensive logistics and 
does not own data centres. This means that our activities have 
a limited direct impact on the environment, and limited direct 
greenhouse gas emissions. By placing demands on our suppli-
ers and partners, we are working to reduce the negative impact 
of our operations.  

Environmental impact 
In 2023, Proact conducted an initial greenhouse gas emis-
sions screening in accordance with the guidelines of the GHG 
Protocol. The calculation was made using 2022 data, which is 
Proact’s base year. 

Energy use, especially related to data centres, is generally a 
major source of greenhouse gas emissions in the IT sector. This 
is not the case for Proact, however, as most of the data centres 
Proact uses are powered by renewable energy. Proact’s main 
carbon footprint is in scope 3, indirect emissions, where the  
two categories of upstream leased assets (mainly cars) and  
business travel account for almost 90 per cent of emissions. In 
the next few years, the emphasis will be on reducing the carbon 
footprint in these categories. In parallel, Proact will be develop-
ing its calculation method with more granular data. With more 
insight into where the greatest emissions occur, both organisa-
tionally and within each category, a roadmap to achieve the net 
zero goal will be developed.  

During the year, 172 solar panels were installed on the roof  
of Proact IT UK’s office building in Chesterfield in the UK. These 
panels have a maximum capacity of 78.26 kWp and will help 
reduce the need for purchased electricity.

Proact’s ambition is to only use data centres powered by 
renewable energy. In 2023, 98 (95) per cent of electricity con-
sumption was renewable. We are also working in accordance 
with a devised schedule to reduce the number of data centres 
used within the Group. In 2023, the number of data centres 
decreased by 4 (1), and 1 (0) additional data centre has been 
added, which means that the total number of data centres has 
decreased by three. Further consolidation is planned for 2024.  

Focusing on renewable energy and using fewer data centres 
will help to reduce the overall carbon footprint of data centre 
operations. Proact’s target of 100 per cent renewable energy at 
data centres remains in place going forward, as it is essential 
to achieving our net zero target and a key to supporting our 
customers’ carbon targets. Another key factor involves working 
with suppliers who are committed to reducing their emissions. 
Find out more on page 20 about how we can help our customers 
reduce their carbon footprint. 

Greenhouse gas emissions, tonnes CO2e 

2023 2022

Breakdown by scope 

Scope 1 0 0

Scope 2, market-based ¹) 0 0

Scope 3 5,911 6,168

TOTAL 5,911 6,168

2023 2022

Scope 2, location-based ¹) 60 9

Proact reports according to the guidelines in the GHG Protocol Corporate 
Standard, Appendix F: Categorising GHG Emissions Associated with Leased 
Assets, as well as the equity share method, which means that activities associ-
ated with leased assets are reported in scope 3. Proact’s calculation basis has 
been refined for 2023, which means that some categories have been adjusted 
and total emissions have decreased.

1) �Scope 2 only includes electricity consumption from an office building 
owned by Proact in the UK. The increase for location-based in 2023 
compared to the base year is due to the inclusion of additional parts of the 
building, which were previously included in scope 3 category 8.

Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, tonnes CO2e 

2023 2022

1: Purchased goods and services 84 305

2: Capital goods 48 820

3: �Fuel and energy-related activities not inclu-
ded in scope 1 or 2 (leased office premises) 329 477

4: Upstream transportation and distribution 140 97

5: Waste generated in operations 2 i.u

6: Business travel  1,774 2,229

8: �Upstream leased assets (company cars, 
goods, data centres) 3,470 2,240

9: Downstream transportation and distribution 64 i.u

TOTAL 5,911 6,168

Data is unavailable for categories 7 (employee commuting), 11 (use of prod-
ucts sold), 12 (waste management of products sold) and 13 (downstream 
leased assets). Category 10 (processing of products sold) is not applicable. 
Proact’s calculation basis has been refined for 2023, which means that some 
categories have been adjusted. 

Circular economy 
Taking care not to waste finite resources is a prerequisite for 
sustainable development. Methods and processes devised are 
used to ensure that material is composted, that end-of-life elec-
tronics are reused or recycled to the greatest extent possible 
and the paper and packaging are recycled correctly at Proact 
companies. We aim always to use resources efficiently and 
securely in order to prevent or reduce any harmful impact on  
the environment as a consequence of what we do.

Climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our time. To achieve the ambitions of the  
Paris Agreement, it is essential that everyone plays their part in reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  
During the year, Proact decided on a long-term target to achieve net zero emissions by 2050. 
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Digitalisation in society is increasing at a rapid pace, and both 
private and public stakeholders are now dependent on secure 
and reliable IT operations. Finding efficient and secure solutions 
for customers that are sustainable in the long term, often relating 
to large volumes of information, is at the very heart of what 
Proact does.  

We have a history of long and close relationships with our 
customers. They can be found in many sectors of society, and 
include both private companies and public organisations. The 
needs of customers are at the heart of how we develop our prod-
ucts, services and processes – through both close cooperation 
and continuous and systematic feedback. 

Mitigation of cyberthreats 
Shortcomings in IT security can lead to business disruptions, 
with disastrous consequences. The number of cyberthreats and 
data breaches has been increasing significantly for a number of 
years. Ensuring that data is protected and secure is at the heart 
of everything Proact does. Our expertise, combined with our se-
curity solutions and services, enables our customers to prevent 
intrusions and quickly detect and manage any incidents.  

SecurityScorecard is one way to rate cybersecurity. Security-
Scorecard assesses a company’s cybersecurity from a hacker’s 
perspective on a monthly basis by analysing ten risk factors. 
Proact’s performance was at group level B in December 2023. 
The goal going forward is to achieve and maintain level A. 

In 2023, Proact IT Sweden was again ranked in the top five in 
Infrastructure and Operations and in Consultancy Services, in 
an annual report on supplier quality conducted by the inde
pendent analysis company Radar. According to this report, 
customers are generally seeing increased proactivity from 
leading service providers, including combating threats such as 
third-party intrusions, disruptions and attacks on outsourcing  
or cloud service providers. 

Data management and protection
Data is the lifeblood of any modern business. Data is analysed,  
sent, stored, replicated and protected. Every terabyte of data 
stored is both replicated and backed up frequently, which 
increases the amount of storage capacity required. It is not 
uncommon for every terabyte of primary data to be stored three 
to five additional times for protection. Moreover, around 60 per 
cent of all primary data stored is never used again, but is pro-
tected to the same extent. We can drastically reduce the amount  
of unnecessary data (known as data waste), and hence the  

need for storage, by helping our customers to analyse and 
optimise their storage infrastructure and review backup and 
protection. This in turn means reduced costs for our customers 
and lower climate impact from their IT operations. 

In order to manage the trust which our customers have placed 
in us, our services are supplied in accordance with established 
standards such as “ITIL Service Management”, which includes 
a number of processes for the supply of cost-effective IT ser-
vices based on the customer’s business.  

Hybrid cloud services 
Proact does not own any data centres of its own but works in 
partnership with leading suppliers who provide and manage the 
running of the data centre. In general, data centres are very  
energy-intensive operations compared to typical commercial 
office buildings. Proact can help reduce energy demand per 
terabyte by offering sustainable hybrid cloud services, with 
energy-efficient data centres and equipment, combined with 
optimised hardware capacity and high infrastructure utilisation. 

The PUE (power usage effectiveness) metric is used to  
measure energy efficiency at a data centre. This is the ratio  
of the total amount of energy used by the facility to the energy 
delivered to the computing equipment. The lower the PUE value, 
the more energy-efficient the data centre is. The PUE value of 
the data centres used by Proact was 1.30 (1.32) on average in 
2023, which is relatively good compared to an EU market aver-
age estimated at around 1.7. Proact has a clear objective to use 
data centres with high energy efficiency and to consolidate and 
increase the utilisation rate at the data centres used. The goal  
is to achieve a PUE value of 1.2 on average for all data centres 
by 2030. 

Digital employee experience 
Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, working from 
home has become the norm for millions of people in the EU and 
all over the world. Proact designs, installs and manages modern 
IT environments and offers services enabling fast and secure 
access to relevant data, regardless of where our customers’ em-
ployees are located. This allows our clients to offer their employ-
ees hybrid work, which help achieve a better work-life balance. 
It can also mean less travelling to and from the workplace and 
provide the option of online meetings. This means reducing  
our customers’ carbon footprint while also keeping their  
business data accessible and secure. 

Proact has a great opportunity to support our customers’ sustainability  
ambitions by offering resilient and sustainable IT services. 



21Annual Report 2023  Proact

Sustainability – Resilient and sustainable IT services   

Suppliers
Proact partners with suppliers who have high ambitions and 
are committed to corporate responsibility, which in turn has an 
impact on value chains for both Proact and our customers. Most 
of our suppliers are located in Europe and North America, where 
compliance with basic human rights, environmental consider-
ations and labour law conditions are good. Our suppliers are 
normally also major corporations that have devised extensive 
schemes relating to responsible, sustainable business. All our 
suppliers undergo an approval process which involves evalua-
tion of both product safety and sustainability aspects. 

Sievera Andela,  
Application Engineer,  
Proact, Netherlands

How did your journey in the IT 
sector begin?
I wanted to study a subject where I 
could be creative, but I also wanted 
a job that was sustainable in the long 
term. As soon as I walked into the IT 
classroom, I was hooked – this was the 
combination of both the things I wanted.

I found it hard to find work when I 
finished school. Lots of companies 
wanted highly skilled young people who 
already had IT experience. Eventually 
I got a position as an SQL engineer 
at PeopleWare, which became part of 
Proact a few years later.
  I’m really grateful to PeopleWare/
Proact for giving me the opportunity to 
show what I could do in the workplace 
when no one else wanted to take me on. 
I’m a woman working in a male-domi-
nated industry, but Proact have never 
treated me differently.
  
What do you do now?
I’m an applications administrator at  
the moment, working mainly with 
standardisation in ServiceNow, our 
case management system. I help my 
colleagues so that they in turn can con-
tinue to serve our customers. No two 
days are the same, which challenges 
me and ensures I’m never bored.  

   

What has been your proudest 
moment at Proact so far?

I’m proud of the many projects of all  
sizes that I’ve been involved in. My 
proudest moment was when the 
Schiphol-Rijk office went fully live on 
ServiceNow, which required many 
hours of work with my Proact colleag
ues all over Europe.

What are your thoughts  
on the future?
I have no definite plans for the future, 
but I’ve done a lot of work with reports 
and I’d like to explore that again. In the 
past, I’ve come across opportunities 
when I least expected it, so I’m excited 
to see what the future holds.

As part of our process, we have an extensive questionnaire in 
order to gain a clear understanding of our suppliers’ standards 
in terms of sustainability. The approval process is also docu-
mented in our Company Handbook. We also conduct regular 
follow-ups and reviews. Our aim is to ensure compliance with 
international principles relating to human rights, labour law, the 
environment and anti-corruption.
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Age structure Employees per employment timeEmployees per country

Ages     - 20   1%

Ages 20-29 17%

Ages 30-39 29%

Ages 40-49 26%

Ages 50-59 22%

Ages 60-       5%

Netherlands 24%

Germany 22%

UK 22%

Sweden 19%

Other 13%

– Finland 3%

– Norway 3%

– Belgium 2%

– Estonia 2%

– Denmark 1%

– Lithuania 1%

– Czech Republic 1%

   < 1 year 11%

  1-2 years 23%

  3-5 years 20%

  6-9 years 20%

10-19 years 20%

20 years or more 6%

Our employees are our most valuable asset. Their commitment 
and continued development is fundamental to fulfilling our vision  
and strategy, where the emphasis is on developing our customer 
offering and increasing growth, both organically and through 
acquisitions. We consider a number of areas to be particularly 
important for continued further development over the next  
few years. 

Employer brand and recruitment 
Proact wants to be an attractive employer for both current and 
potential employees. We recognise the importance of strength
ening our employer brand in the long term and clearly showing 
who we are, what we stand for and do, and what we offer our 
employees. A project, our EVP (Employer Value Proposition), 
was launched during the year to clarify our offering to employ-
ees. Our EVP is our promise to current and future employees 
and forms the basis of our employer brand. Having clarity on 
what to expect as an employee at Proact is a necessity if we  
are to achieve our growth goals. Given current competition 
for talent, this is both a challenge and a task that requires our 
closest attention. 

The recruitment process is owned by every manager with  
the support of the HR function. In 2023, we implemented a new  
system, the Applicant Tracking System (ATS), for recruitment 
and management of our talent pools so as to further improve  
the process and the candidate experience.

To recruit new employees, we promote Proact in digital cam-
paigns, at fairs and in partnership with universities and colleges. 
There are also a number of several local initiatives in respect of 
recruitment programmes, where young people or recent gradu-
ates can try out different tasks and thus get job opportunities in 
the IT industry.  

In 2023, we took on 133 (270) new employees. Providing a 
warm welcome and introducing new employees is a high priority 
at Proact. Our active acquisition agenda means that induction 
is important not only for new employees, but for newly acquired 
companies as well. 

Talent development 
If Proact is to be able to offer our customers relevant solutions 
and our employees interesting work to do, talent development  
is not an opportunity – it is a must. For the most part, employees 
learn things as they go about their day-to-day work together 
with colleagues and customers. We offer rewarding roles and 
tasks so that our employees feel they are being challenged and 
helping to further Proact’s business development. 

We also offer in-house training through our very own Proact 
Academy. Employees receive education and training here, 
particularly in areas relating to sales and technology, but also 
on internal policies and compliance. We increased investments 
in the Proact Academy in 2023 to facilitate learning still further 
and increase the pace of induction for new employees. A new 
Learning Management System (LMS) was implemented in order 
to streamline the Proact Academy and improve active learning  
in key areas. Other learning platforms are also used locally,  
such as Good Habitz and LinkedIn learning. 

The annual appraisals between employees and managers 
are another important factor in individual development. These 
appraisals ensure that employees are given the opportunity for 
discussion and to devise plans for development. 

Proact supports and encourages internal promotion. We are 
proud of the number of employees who have progressed in their 
roles, sometimes from junior positions, to various senior posi-
tions. This is well structured, particularly in larger teams. 

For the second year in a row, Proact IT Sweden was voted  
one of the top ten IT employers for young talent in Sweden in 
a survey conducted by Årets Karriärföretag, Career Company  
of the Year. This award recognises employers who offer unique 
career and development opportunities for talented young 
people. The voting takes place in the Karriärsföretagen qualified 
Young Professionals network, which comprises more than 
a thousand system scientists. 

We believe in success through our people – the talent and commitment  
of exceptional individuals working together for a common purpose. 
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Proportion of women,  
senior management

22%

Proportion of women,  
Board of Directors

40%

Proportion of women,  
total

19%

Leadership 
Leadership is one of our priorities, as we feel that this is the 
strongest driving force for both our success and a strong culture. 
Leadership is all about creating sustainable results by develop-
ing both business and employees. Our leaders live our culture 
and values, communicate our vision and strategy and inspire us 
to give of our best in our day-to-day work. 

At Proact, we want to give our leaders both the knowledge 
and the tools they need to develop. We work in a structured 
manner and maintain a long-term approach, identifying people 
with management talent and planning for promotion and succes-
sion. Leadership and succession planning takes place annually 
for all country managers and other people who report directly  
to the Group Management Team. 

Development among our leaders takes place through various 
initiatives and is continuously implemented at local level in our 
countries. Our global leadership development continued for 
around 70 of our top leaders in 2023, including a physical full-
day meeting at the start of the year and a digital half-day meet-
ing in the autumn. The emphasis was on strategy and employee 
engagement, as well as continuing to strengthen the Proact 
management network.  

The leadership index was surveyed in 2023 as part of the  
employee survey, where Proact generally shows very good re-
sults in comparison with other companies. It is also encouraging 
to see that we also strengthened our leadership index this year 
compared to the previous year, a trend that has been ongoing 
since 2020. See the table on page 24.
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Culture 
We are proud of our inclusive corporate culture and how our 
employees live up to our values and #ThePowerOfTogether. 
We have a special Proact spirit of openness and inclusion, high 
levels of commitment, professionalism and constant learning. 
We value diversity and appreciate the things that make our em-
ployees different. Having a strong Proact culture is crucial as we 
welcome new colleagues and work together to achieve common 
goals. We are committed to offering a place of work that gives 
our employees positive experiences in terms of both physical 
and mental health and well-being.  

We are committed to ensuring that new Proact employees 
receive a welcoming and thorough induction. Over the years,  
we have been hugely appreciated for our well-structured 
process. Locally, there are a number of examples of how the 
induction process reflects the Proact spirit, including various 
meetings for new employees, buddy systems and induction 
groups.

Employee surveys   
We conduct surveys every year in order to give all our employ-
ees the opportunity to make their voices heard and let us know 
how we can work together to improve Proact. We use a platform 
that enables us to follow up on the annual employee survey with 
pulse surveys in selected survey areas and selected parts of the 
organisation. The platform is also providing greater ease of use 
for the survey itself, and especially when it comes to working 
with the results. 

The employee survey is a valuable tool and provides a foun-
dation for structured discussion and improvement of working 
methods and commitment. Working with the results of the survey 
is a high priority for Proact. The executive team makes decisions 
on measures of key importance for the company as a whole. 
Managers present results and work with their teams to devise 
activity plans for their respective fields of responsibility. 

This year’s survey achieved a response rate of 94 (90) per 
cent, a very high response frequency. The high response rate 
indicates a high level of commitment among Proact employees. 
Proact also performs very well overall against the benchmark, 
which includes all industries. It is particularly gratifying to see  
that Proact’s Employer Net Promoter Score (eNPS) has increased 
significantly to 31 in 2023, compared to 10 the previous year.  

Diversity and inclusion 
The IT sector is one of the fastest growing industries. While the 
need for skilled labour is high, the industry faces challenges in 
terms of representation and diversity and, despite its growth, the 
percentage of women in the industry is not increasing. Diversity 
and inclusion are key to driving innovation and reinforcing com-
petitiveness. Employees with a wealth of backgrounds, perspec-
tives and experience make Proact more robust and dynamic. 

Proact must provide equal opportunities for employment, 
promotion, development, remuneration and all other employ-
ee-related processes and practices without discrimination on 
the basis of gender, transgender identity or expression, ethnic-
ity, religion or other beliefs, disability, sexual orientation or age. 
Our goal is to achieve a gender balance of at least 30 per cent 
women in the overall workforce by 2030. At the end of 2023, the 
proportion was 19 (20) percent.

Several initiatives to support diversity and inclusion have 
been implemented during the year. For instance, Proact IT UK 
has provided training on unconscious bias and developed an 
equality, diversity and inclusion calendar to recognise a number 
of events during the year, such as Pride Week. Proact IT Nether-
lands has started a network for female employees called Women 
at Proact. 

Employee Index

Proact 
2023

Benchmark, all 
industries 2023

Proact 
2022

Leadership Index 87 81 84

Team Efficiency Index 83 77 79

Engagement Index 83 81 80

OSI Work Environment Index 82 74 78

Management Index 69 66 66

eNPS Index 31 14 10
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Structure of our sustainability work 
Guidelines for our sustainability efforts are established by the 
Board of Directors. The Chief Executive Officer bears ultimate 
responsibility for successful implementation of our sustainabil-
ity strategy. The Group Management Team is responsible for 
devising a strategy and following up the results of the Group’s 
sustainability work. A member of the Group Management Team 
is responsible for the sustainability work, and there is regular 
reporting on this work at Group Management Team meetings. 
Day-to-day operational responsibility rests with the relevant 
business units, with the assistance of the expertise functions 
Legal, People & Sustainability, Portfolio & Technology, Service 
Operations, Corporate Development and Finance. Sustainability 
in respect of employees is one of the targets for all members 
of the Group Management Team’s performance-based annual 
bonus scheme. Each member of the Group Management Team 
may also be allocated personalised sustainability targets. 

Policies and policy documents 
Proact is an international company operating in a number of 
countries, all of which have different laws, cultures and tradi-
tions. All business must be run sustainably, in compliance with 
applicable legislation and in line with the company’s policies 
and values. 

Our Code of Conduct includes 13 key principles applicable to 
all our employees and suppliers. It provides guidance on doing 
ethically correct business, respecting human rights and labour 
law, and operating in compliance with legislation and practice 
in respect of the environment, anti-corruption, competition and 
anti-discrimination.

Besides Proact’s Code of Conduct, the following documents  
and policies are relevant to our business ethics and compliance: 

•	Company Handbook 

•	Data Privacy Policy 

•	Finance Policy 

•	Insider Policy 

•	Authorisations Policy 

•	Statement on slavery and human trafficking 

•	Vendor onboarding process 

Compliance with laws and regulations is always a top priority  
for us, and in a changing world we are of the opinion that it is 
every bit as important to adopt a broader approach as regards 
compliance. Our Company Handbook includes guidelines, pol-
icies and processes to ensure social, environmental and ethical 
responsibility, both internally and with external parties. 

Proact has a whistleblower policy that provides all employees 
with information on how suspected deviations from the compa-
ny’s Code of Conduct are to be reported. All Proact employees 
must report, without delay, every known breach of the Code 
of Conduct or any concerns they may have with regard to 
breaches as specified in the policy. 

Such reports and concerns will be examined in depth as 
a matter of urgency. Anyone reporting such fears in good faith  
will be protected by Proact from all forms of reprisal. The whistle
blower policy is part of our Code of Conduct, which is communi-
cated to all employees. 

Two whistleblowing cases were received and investigated  
in 2023, and appropriate action was taken.

Integrity

•	�We are independent and navigate 
by our own compass, on the basis 
of honesty and respect. 

•	�We are open and clear in our 
communication. 

•	�We rely on one another and  
the people with whom we do 
business.

•	�We keep our promises and  
deliver on agreements made.

Commitment

•	�This constitutes the foundation  
for all our relationships.

•	�We formulate clear targets and 
have the best interests of our 
customers at heart.�

•	�We guarantee the most outstand-
ing service level possible for the 
projects we implement. 

•	�We share our knowledge, our 
experience and our commitment. 

Excellence

•	Excellence is the very essence  
of what we supply.

•	�Decades of experience have  
given us a knowledge base that 
we always apply.

•	�Recruitment, training and develop-
ment are reflected in our specialist 
expertise.

•	�We use our specialist expertise 
and experience to create custom 
solutions which add value in both 
the short and the long term.

Proact’s core values
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How we work 
Proact has a compliance monitoring function in its legal team 
to investigate compliance and any grievances. This is headed 
by General Counsel and includes the CFO and VP People & 
Sustainability. Our compliance function conducts audits which 
are compiled and presented to the Chief Executive Officer along 
with proposals for action. 

Existing violations relate primarily to “Contract playbook rules”, 
where customer contracts have failed to comply with the internal 
process for compilation or approval. Legal expertise has been 
reinforced since 2022, with locally employed representatives in 
our biggest countries. 

Training on the Code of Conduct and Company Hand-
book and all policies is important, and forms part of the local 
induction programme for new employees. The Proact Code 
of Conduct also constitutes a framework for our employees, 
allowing them to behave professionally with our customers and 
do responsible business. Ethical assessments and positions 
in respect of the business in which we want to be involved are 
discussed at the business areas’ quarterly progress checks  
with the Chief Executive Officer. 

Certifications 
The company’s objective is for all operations to have relevant 
certification so that they can be pursued in a safe, structured 
manner in accordance with the local requirements on the market 
in question. The certifications are specific to each country and 
require annual updates and audits. In most cases, the com-
panies in the countries in which Proact works extensively hold 
accreditation to ISO 9001 (quality), ISO 14001 (environment) and 
ISO 27001 (data security), but the companies in the countries in 
which Proact works less extensively are also certified in accord-
ance with of the most common ISO systems. Proact in Estonia 
received ISO 27001 certification during the year, for example. 
 

Materiality analysis and stakeholder dialogue 
A materiality analysis has been conducted in order to determine 
which sustainability topics are most strategic for Proact. Each 
material sustainability topic has been analysed on the basis 
of how the topic may affect Proact financially and what impact 
Proact can have on the topic (double materiality). The perspec-
tive of Proact’s key stakeholder groups – employees, customers, 
shareholders, suppliers and partners, and the local community 
and the surrounding world – has also been taken into account. 
Proact’s most essential topics are judged to be: 

•	Climate change 

•	Cyberthreat mitigation 

•	Data management and protection 

•	Hybrid cloud services 

•	Digital employee experience 

•	Leadership 

•	Diversity and inclusion 

•	Learning and development 

Open discussion with our stakeholders is crucial so that we can 
successfully identify factors that are crucial to our stakeholders, 
global trends and market expectations. We adopt a structured 
approach to stakeholder involvement, with regular surveys of 
customers and employees and investor meetings and gather
ings. Interacting with our stakeholders on social media has 
become increasingly important as a way of understanding our 
stakeholders’ perceptions in the countries in which we operate, 
and also at Group level. 
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Revenues 
Parts of Proact’s revenue in cloud services are covered by the 
EU Taxonomy Regulation in area 8.1, “Data processing, hosting 
and related activities” and contribute – where taxonomy-aligned 
– to the EU’s environmental objective 1 on climate change mit-
igation. Proact’s interpretation is that the cloud services where 
Proact is responsible for the processing of data constitute an 
activity that is covered by area 8.1 and thus constitute what is 
known as eligible turnover. However, other cloud services such 
as monitoring, network services or public cloud services are not 
eligible. Nor are other revenue streams – i.e. systems, support 
and consultancy services – eligible under the EU Taxonomy 
Regulation. 

Total revenue is recognised under IFRS in accordance with 
the accounting policies set out in Note 3 of the annual report 
and corresponds to the total revenue recognised in the consol-
idated statement of comprehensive income. Eligible turnover is 
the portion of total revenue that is attributable to performance 
obligations for services as defined above. 

CapEx 
CapEx consists of investments in tangible and intangible fixed 
assets, including acquired assets and investments in right-of-
use assets. The CapEx eligible to Proact according to the EU 
Taxonomy Regulation is that which is directly attributable to 
the cloud services in activity 8.1. According to the guidance 
from the European Commission in the FAQ published in 2022, 
it has been clarified that purchases of outputs from economic 
activities that are compliant with the taxonomy requirements and 
individual measures that enable the target activities to become 
low-carbon or lead to reduced greenhouse gas emissions are 
also eligible. This is the case even if the investments are not 
related to a turnover activity conducted by an enterprise. In Pro-
act’s case, this means that investments in buildings and leases 
under activity 7.7, and investments in leased vehicles under 
activity 6.5 are also eligible CapEx. 

CapEx consists of the new investments in accordance with 
IFRS in Note 15 of the annual report for intangible assets (ex-
cluding goodwill), Note 16 for Tangible assets and as additional 
rights of use in Note 27 for Leased assets. 
 
OpEx 
As OpEx, Proact has identified the costs that are directly related 
to maintenance and repairs of equipment reported as CapEx as 
stated above, as well as renovation costs and short-term leases 
where applicable. This includes both the cost of external pur-
chases and the cost of Proact’s own employees when perform-
ing this type of activity.  

Eligible OpEx is such OpEx that is directly related to activity 
8.1. Eligible OpEx is also such OpEx that is eligible in itself as 
described above; although Proact has not identified  
any such OpEx.

EU Taxonomy-aligned activities 
To be taxonomy-aligned, activities in area 8.1 require the data 
centres used to process data to meet a number of technical 
screening criteria. In addition, the suppliers of the equipment 
used must fulfil a number of other technical screening criteria. 

As Proact does not own its own data centres and purchases 
all equipment from suppliers, the suppliers of data centres and 
equipment are required to meet all relevant technical screening 
criteria, including verifying and documenting the fact that they 
Does Not Significantly Harm (DNSH) any of the other environ-
mental objectives. This needs to be confirmed by all suppliers, 
which has not been done in full. This means that we are not 
reporting any taxonomy-aligned activities for 2023. 

The same assessment has been made for suppliers of com-
pany cars and premises. Proact’s policy is to promote sustaina-
ble choices of cars and premises. However, Proact has not been 
able to ensure that suppliers fulfil all screening criteria, and 
therefore no taxonomy-aligned activities are reported for 2023. 
 
Minimum safeguards and Does Not Significantly 
Harm (DNSH) criteria 
The fulfilment of minimum safeguards and whether any signif-
icant harm is being done to any of the other EU environmental 
objectives are not reported as no taxonomy-aligned activities 
have been identified. 

Consolidated information under Article 8 of the Taxonomy Regulation
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Proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activities, Turnover

Proportion of turnover from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities –  
disclosure covering year 2023.

Financial year 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria
DNSH criteria  

(Does Not Significantly Harm)
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Y; N; 
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Y; N; 
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Y; N; 
N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES                           12%

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)	

Data processing, 
hosting and
related activities CCM 8.1 0 0%

Turnover of environmentally sustainable activ-
ities  
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0% % % % % % %

  Of which Enabling 0% % % % % % % E

  Of which Transitional 0% % T

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL;
N/EL 

Data processing, 
hosting and
related activities CCM 8.1 603 12% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible  
but not environmentally sustaina-
ble activities (not Taxonomy-
aligned
activities) (A.2) 603 12% % % % % % %

A. Turnover of Taxonomy eligible 
activities (A.1+A.2) 603 12% % % % % % %

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

Turnover of Taxonomy-  
non-eligible activities 4,244 88%

TOTAL 4,847 100%

Proportion of turnover/Total turnover

Taxonomy-aligned  
per objective

Taxonomy-eligible 
per objective

CCM 0% 12%

CCA 0% 0%

WTR 0% 0%

CE 0% 0%

PPC 0% 0%

BIO 0% 0%
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Sustainability – Taxonomy Regulation   

Proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activities, CapEx

Proportion of CapEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities –  
disclosure covering year 2023.

Financial year 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria
DNSH criteria  

(Does Not Significantly Harm)
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Activities Code(s)
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year 2023 C

lim
at

e 
ch

an
g

e 
m

it
ig

at
io

n
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

g
e 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

W
at

er
 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

C
ir

cu
la

r 
ec

o
n

o
m

y 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

g
e 

m
it

ig
at

io
n

 

C
lim

at
e 

ch
an

g
e 

ad
ap

ta
ti

o
n

 

W
at

er
 

P
o

llu
ti

o
n

C
ir

cu
la

r 
ec

o
n

o
m

y 

B
io

d
iv

er
si

ty
 

M
in

im
u

m
 s

af
eg

u
ar

d
s 

 

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
Ta

xo
n

o
m

y-
  

al
ig

n
ed

 (
A

.1
.)

 o
r 

-e
lig

ib
le

 (
A

.2
.)

  
C

ap
E

x,
 y

ea
r 

20
23

C
at

eg
o

ry
 e

n
ab

lin
g

 a
ct

iv
it

y

C
at

eg
o

ry
 t

ra
n

si
ti

o
n

al
 a

ct
iv

it
y

%
Y; N; 
N/EL 

Y; N; 
N/EL 

Y; N; 
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Y; N; 
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Y; N; 
N/EL 

Y; N; 
N/EL Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N Y/N % E T

A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES                              85%

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)	

Data processing, host-
ing and related activities CCM 8.1 0 0%

Acquisition and owner-
ship of buildings CCM 7.7 0 0%

Transport by motor-
bikes, passenger cars 
and light commercial 
vehicles CCM 6.5 0 0%

CapEx of environmentally sustainable activities  
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) 0% % % % % % %

  Of which Enabling 0% % % % % % % E

  Of which Transitional 0% % T

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

Data processing, host-
ing and related activities  CCM 8.1 63 46% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Acquisition and owner-
ship of buildings CCM 7.7 14 10% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Transport by motor-
bikes, passenger cars 
and light commercial 
vehicles CCM 6.5 40 29% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible  
but not environmentally sustainable 
activities (not Taxonomy-aligned
activities) (A.2) 117 85% % % % % % %

A. �CapEx of Taxonomy-eligible  
activities (A.1+A.2) 117 85% % % % % % %

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

CapEx of Taxonomy –  
non-eligible activities 21 15%

TOTAL 138 100%

Proportion of CapEx/Total CapEx

Taxonomy-aligned  
per objective

Taxonomy-eligible 
per objective

CCM 0% 85%

CCA 0% 0%

WTR 0% 0%

CE 0% 0%

PPC 0% 0%

BIO 0% 0%
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Proportion of taxonomy-aligned economic activities, OpEx

Proportion of OpEx from products or services associated with Taxonomy-aligned economic activities –  
disclosure covering year 2023.

Financial year 2023 Substantial Contribution Criteria
DNSH criteria  

(Does Not Significantly Harm)

Ekonomic  
Activities Code(s)

OpEx 
(MSEK)
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Y; N; 
N/EL 
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N/EL 
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES                            29%

A.1. Environmentally sustainable activities (Taxonomy-aligned)	

Data processing, host-
ing and related activities CCM 8.1 0 0%

Acquisition and owner-
ship of buildings CCM 7.7 0 0%

Transport by motor-
bikes, passenger cars 
and light commercial 
vehicles CCM 6.5 0 0%

OpEx of environmentally sustainable activities  
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1) % % % % % % %

  Of which Enabling 0% % % % % % % E

  Of which Transitional 0% % T

A.2 Taxonomy-eligible but not environmentally sustainable activities (not Taxonomy-aligned activities)

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

EL; 
N/EL 

Data processing, host-
ing and related activities CCM 8.1 3 29% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Acquisition and owner-
ship of buildings CCM 7.7 0 0% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

Transport by motor-
bikes, passenger cars 
and light commercial 
vehicles CCM 6.5 0 0% EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL N/EL

OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible  
but not environmentally sustainable 
activities (not Taxonomy-aligned
activities) (A.2) 3 29% % % % % % %

A. �OpEx of Taxonomy-eligible  
activities (A.1+A.2) 3 29% % % % % % %

B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES

OpEx of Taxonomy-  
non-eligible activities 8 71%

TOTAL 12 100%

Proportion of OpEx/Total OpEx

Taxonomy-aligned  
per objective

Taxonomy-eligible 
per objective

CCM 0% 29%

CCA 0% 0%

WTR 0% 0%

CE 0% 0%

PPC 0% 0%

BIO 0% 0%
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Mission and division of responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the sustainability report 
for 2023 on pages 4-9 and 18-30, and for ensuring that it is com-
piled in accordance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act.

Focus and scope of the review
Our review was conducted in accordance with FAR recommen-
dation RevR 12 Auditor’s statement on the statutory sustainability 
report. This means that our review of the sustainability report 
has a different focus and is on a significantly smaller scale than 
the focus and scale of any audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and generally accepted accounting policies 
in Sweden. We consider that our review gives us sufficient grounds 
for our opinions.

Opinions
A sustainability report has been compiled.

Stockholm, 3 April 2024
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant

To the Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB (publ), co. reg. no. 556494-3446
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Proact shares have been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm with ticker 
symbol PACT since July 1999. The share capital amounts to SEK 
10,618,837, divided over 28,001,658 shares with a quotient value 
of 0.38. All shares entitle the holder to an equal share of the 
company’s assets and profits and entitle the holder to one vote 
at the Annual General Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting, 
every individual entitled to vote may vote for the full number of 
shares owned and represented by the shareholder without any 
restriction on voting rights. 

Stock exchange 
11.3 million Proact shares to a value of SEK 967.7 million were 
traded in 2023 at an average price of SEK 85.4. The share price 
at the start of the year was SEK 83.00, compared with SEK 94.00 
at year-end. 

Ownership structure 
Proact had 7,498 shareholders as at 31 December 2023, of 
whom most were private individuals with small holdings. There 
were 73 shareholders with holdings in excess of 20,000 shares, 
the largest of these being Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten with a 
holding of 3,207,334 shares and Livförsäkringsbolaget Skandia 
with 3,041,823 shares. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 4 May 2023, the Board 
of Directors was authorised to acquire up to 10 per cent of the 
company’s shares by the next Annual General Meeting. As at 31 
December 2023, 218,500 shares have been bought back under 
this authorisation. The company holds 720,210 shares in its own 
custody as at 31 December 2023. 

As far as the Board of Directors is aware, there are no con-
tracts between shareholders requiring specific information in 
accordance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act. 

Number of shares per shareholder

Holding

Number  
of share-

holders

Percentage  
of share- 

holders
Number  

of shares

Percentage  
of share  

capital

1-500 5,811 77.5% 703,210 2.5%

501-1,000 722 9.6% 526,618 1.9%

1,001-5,000 748 10.0% 1,605,072 5.7%

5,001-10,000 100 1.3% 703,602 2.5%

10,001-15,000 31 0.4% 375,728 1.3%

15,001-20,000 13 0.2% 227,802 0.8%

20,001- 73 1.0% 23,859,626 85.2%

Total, 31/12/2023 7,498 100.0% 28,001,658 100.0%

Shareholders as at 31 December 2023

Number  
of shares

Percentage  
of capital  
and votes

Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten 3,207,334 11.5%

Livförsäkringsbolaget Skandia 3,041,823 10.9%

Alcur Select 2,164,587 7.7%

Ing Luxembourg SA 1,970,127 7.0%

Handelsbanken Nordiska Småbolag 1,350,000 4.8%

Länsförsäkringar Småbolag Sverige Vision 1,184,618 4.2%

State Street Bank and Trust CO, W9 1,016,628 3.6%

HSBC Bank Plc, W8IMY 945,241 3.4%

Unionen 859,046 3.1%

Avanza Pension 803,941 2.9%

Other 11,458,313 40.9%

Total 28,001,658 100.0%

Share price trends

Kr Antal aktier

Proact (Totalavkastning) SIX Return Index

Omsatt antal aktier i 1000-tal per månad

Källa: WebfinancialGroup

Proact (Total return) SIX Return Index
Number of shares traded, 000’s per month
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Shareholder value 
Shareholder value arises when the company is positioned  
correctly and has long-term profitability. Proact upholds its  
creation of long-term profitability for its shareholders by con-
stantly focusing on good business development with improved 
profitability within the Company and reinforcement of the  
Company’s market-leading position as a specialist and inde
pendent integrator in Europe.
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The share   

Key ratios per share ¹)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Earnings after tax, SEK ²)   6.29 6.97 4.27 4.80 2.92

Share price, 31 December, 
SEK 94.00 83.00 87.00 91.00 61.33

Dividend, SEK  ³)    2.00 1.85 1.50 1.50 0.83

Direct returns, % 2.1 2.2 1.7 1.6 1.4

Equity, SEK 4)    36.97 33.49 25.88 21.93 19.09

Average number of shares, 
thousands 27,467 27,455 27,455 27,455 27,455

Number of outstanding shares 
at end of period, thousands 27,281 27,455 27,455 27,455 27,455

Number of bought-back  
own shares at end of period, 
thousands 720 547 547 547 547

1) �Key ratios recalculated after the split in May 2021.
2) �Calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of outstanding shares.  

There is no dilution in the periods reported above. Proact have a long-term performance 
share scheme that may involve dilution not exceeding 1.84 per cent.

3) �The Board of Directors will propose distribution of a dividend of SEK 2.00 per share  
to the 2024 Annual General Meeting for the 2023 business year.

4) Calculated on outstanding shares at end of period.

SEK %

Utdelning per aktie, SEK Direktavkastning, %

Föreslagen utdelning 2023
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SEK %

Dividends per share, SEK Direct returns, %

Proposed dividends 2023

Dividends

Finansiella företag 43%

Utlandsboende ägare 26%

Övriga juridiska personer 14%

Svenska fysiska personer 12%

Intresseorganisationer 3%

Financial companies 43%

Shareholders resident abroad 26%

Other legal entities 14%

Swedish natural persons 12%

Interest groups 3%

Distribution of ownership, % of capital (Euroclear) Four reasons to own shares in Proact

Growing market with stable demand

The market for hybrid cloud services is continuing to  
grow at a good pace, driven by a number of general 
trends:

– �Focus on digital transformation and innovation  
through IT

– �Use of hybrid clouds to increase speed, flexibility  
and availability

– Greater focus on cybersecurity and data compliance

– IT as a tool for achieving sustainability goals

Market-leading position

Proact has a comprehensive, competitive offering relating 
to hybrid cloud solutions for data centres, including con-
sultancy and support services and cloud services. With 
specialist expertise and extensive experience, Proact 
supplies sustainable, flexible and secure IT solutions that 
help customers reduce risks, lower costs and increase 
productivity.

Attractive financial profile  
with strong cash flow

Proact’s leading position in a non-cyclical, growing 
market is enabling good organic growth, which together 
with acquisitions is providing a growth rate exceeding 
that of the market. Scale effects in combination with 
continued streamlining and investments in automation 
will in turn lead to increasing EBITA margins. With limited 
capital requirements and little working capital tied up, 
Proact generates a very good cash flow that can be used 
for acquisitions or direct returns to shareholders.

Clear strategy to good future returns

Proact has a well-developed strategy for achieving its 
financial targets and thereby enabling continued good 
returns to shareholders. The focus on offering competitive 
cloud services is leading to a growing share of recurring 
revenues, which is increasing both the rate of growth and 
the stability of earnings capacity. The emphasis on attract-
ing and developing the company’s expertise ensures 
continued competitiveness, which is complemented by 
acquisitions in growth areas such as public cloud services.
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Group revenue and profit
For 2023 as a whole, the company’s revenues amounted to SEK 
4,847 million (4,757), representing an increase of 1.9 per cent.

Revenues per Business Unit

SEK millions
Jan-Dec  

2023
Jan-Dec  

2022
Jan-Dec  

2021

Nordics & Baltics 2,619 2,508 1,884

UK 662 712 630

West 823 806 671

Central 833 789 388

Groupwide -90 -58 -48

Total revenues 4,847 4,757 3,525

For Business Unit Nordics & Baltics, total revenues increased by 4.4 
per cent over the year. System revenues increased by 0.8 per cent, 
while service revenues increased by 13.9 per cent. Organic growth 
amounted to 3.9 per cent. For Business Unit UK, total revenues de-
creased by 7.0 per cent. Organically, the decrease amounted to 12.1 
per cent. System revenues decreased by 24.2 per cent, while reve-
nues from service operations increased by 12.1 per cent. For Business 
Unit West, total revenues increased by 2.2 per cent. Organically, the 
decrease amounted to 5.4 per cent. System revenues decreased by 
16.8 per cent, while service revenues increased by 10.2 per cent.  
For Business Unit Central, total revenues increased by 5.6 per cent. 
Organically, revenues decresed by 6.8 per cent. System revenues 
decreased by 10.7 per cent, while service revenues increased by 
23.4 per cent. Future contracted cash flows from Proact Finance 
amounted to SEK 67 million (101) as at 31 December 2023.

Proact has good revenue distribution in respect of its various 
industry segments. The three biggest industry segments are Public 
Sector, Retail & Services and Manufacturing Industry.

Revenues per sector

Revenues per operating segment

SEK millions
Jan-Dec  

2023
Jan-Dec  

2022
Jan-Dec  

2021

System sales 2,698 2,861 2,002

Service operations 2,145 1,889 1,519

Other revenues 5 6 3

Total revenues 4,847 4,757 3,525
  

General information
The name of the company is Proact IT Group AB (publ), and the 
company has its registered office in Solna, Sweden, at the address 
Frösundaviks Allé 1, 169 04 Solna. The company has been listed on 
Nasdaq Stockholm under the ticker symbol PACT since 1999.

Business approach
Proact is one of Europe’s leading data and information management 
specialists, focusing on cloud services and data centre solutions. 
We help our customers to store, network, protect and secure their 
data and add value using it, focusing on increased flexibility, pro-
ductivity and efficiency. Proact has implemented thousands of suc-
cessful projects, mainly in Europe, has more than 4,000 customers 
and manages hundreds of petabytes of information in the cloud. Pro-
act comprises wholly owned subsidiaries in Europe, North America 
and Japan. As at 31 December 2023, Proact employed 1,171 staff in 
Belgium, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Germany, 
Latvia, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, the United Kingdom and 
the USA.

Proact Finance AB is a wholly-owned subsidiary which offers 
customers financial services for both services and products via the 
Group’s other subsidiaries.

The parent company, Proact IT Group AB (publ), is globally re-
sponsible for issues relating to the Group as a whole.

The past year
The company has continued to develop its portfolio in 2023, primar-
ily with regard to cloud services, and a number of new products and 
solutions have been introduced.

There was good demand for Proact’s solutions during the year, 
especially in respect of support and cloud services. A more uncer-
tain market situation with longer lead times for investment decisions 
and increased costs for Proact has affected revenue growth rate 
and profitability, which fell slightly compared to a very strong 2022. 
A streamlining programme was introduced in the second quarter in 
order to address the current situation, which resulted in reduction 
of underlying selling costs and administrative expenses by SEK 50 
million.

The company saw growth of 1.9 per cent (34.9) in 2023 while 
also concluding cloud contracts worth a total of SEK 548 million 
(563), representing a decrease of 2.7 per cent compared with the 
previous year. Adjusted EBITA amounted to SEK 302 million (315). 
This decrease is due mainly to lower revenue growth in relation to 
fixed costs, which was adversely affected by continued high infla-
tion. Cash flow has been positive, and the company has net cash 
amounting to SEK 80 million (-227).

The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of Proact IT Group AB (publ), corporate ID number  
556494-3446, hereby submit the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements for the  
2023 financial year. The consolidated balance sheet and income statement and the balance sheet and  
income statement for the parent company will be ratified at the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2024.

Offentlig Sektor 36% (27)

Handel & Tjänster 23% (20)

Tillverkande Industri 11% (14)

Energi 6% (5)

Telekom 5% (9)

Bank, Finans 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Övrigt 12% (15)

Public Sector 36% (27)

Retail and Services 23% (20)

Manufacturing Industry 11% (14)

Energy 6% (5)

Telecoms 5% (9)

Banking, Finance 4% (7)

Media 3% (2)

Other 12% (15)
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Directors' report   

System revenues fell compared with the previous year, amounting to 
SEK 2,698 million (2,861) during the year. When adjusted for cur-
rency effects¹) and acquisitions and divestments, system revenues 
decreased by 8.0 per cent. The revenues for the services business, 
attributable to consultancy services, contract customer support, man-
agement and cloud services, increased by 13.5 per cent compared to 
the previous year. When adjusted for currency effects¹) and acquisi-
tions and divestments, system revenues increased by 6.3 per cent.

New contracts have been concluded relating to cloud services to 
the value of SEK 548 million (563). The revenues from cloud services 
are recognised as income over the term of the contract, which is 
normally between 3 and 5 years. Both customer support and cloud 
services are contributing to a positive development of the compa-
ny’s total recurring revenues, which  
is important for the company’s future growth in profits. Revenues 
for the year from cloud services totalled SEK 1,097 million (944), 
an increase of 16.3 per cent. Revenues for the year from support 
services totalled SEK 595 million (513), an increase of 16.0 per cent. 
Revenues for the year from consultancy services totalled SEK 452 
million (432), an increase of 4.6 per cent.

Adjusted operating profit before depreciation of intangible assets, 
adjusted EBITA, for the full year 2023 totalled SEK 302 million (315), 
which is a decrease of 4.1 per cent compared to the previous year. 
During the same period, the profit before tax totalled SEK 218 million 
(244), which is a decrease of 10.6 per cent.

EBITA per Business Unit

SEK millions
Jan-Dec  

2023
Jan-Dec  

2022
Jan-Dec  

2021

Nordics & Baltics 206.9 174.1 115.3

UK 21.3 36.4 34.7

West 23.2 45.3 22.8

Central 34.0 45.7 30.9

Groupwide 16.7 13.7 0.6

Adjusted EBITA  
(before exceptional items) 302.1 315.1 204.4

Exceptional items -16.6 2.0 -6.9

EBITA 285.5 313.1 197.5

For Business Unit Nordics & Baltics, EBITA increased due to 
increased revenue in the service business. For Business Unit UK 
as well as West and Central, EBITA fell as a consequence of lower 
organic revenue growth, mainly in the systems business, and in-
creased costs driven by continued high inflation.

The reported tax expense over the financial year amounted to SEK 
45 million (53), equivalent to an effective tax rate of 21 per cent (22).

Earnings per share amounted to SEK 6.29 (6.97).

Financial position and cash flow
The Group’s liquid funds amounted to SEK 548 million (505) as at 
31 December 2023. In addition to this, the Group has an unused 
overdraft facility of SEK 155 million (159). The equity ratio was 24.9 
per cent (21.8) as at 31 December 2023. Net debt has decreased by 
SEK 307 million during the year, while in 2022 net debt decreased 
by SEK 34 million. As per 31 December 2023, the company has net 
cash amounting to SEK 80 million (-227). Excluding leasing liabilities, 
the Group has net cash amounting to SEK 326 million (64).

Cash flow amounted to SEK 50 million (12) for the year as a whole, 
of which SEK 532 million (443) was from operating activities. SEK 
51 million (41) has been invested in fixed assets, of which SEK 9.1 
million (9.8) was invested in Proact Finance in respect of customer 
deliverables, and SEK 8 million (153) has been paid out in respect 
of acquisition of companies. A change in loans from credit institutes 
and use of overdraft facilities have had a total impact of SEK 224 
million (-62) on cash flow. Dividends paid to the parent company’s 
shareholders amounted to SEK 51 million (41).

Of total bank overdraft facilities of SEK 155 million (159), SEK 0 
million (0) has been utilised. Bank loans amount to SEK 222 million 
(441). The parent company has bank loans amounting to SEK 222 
million (441): a three-year loan facility of EUR 20 million from Svensk 
Exportkredit and a three-year revolving credit facility agreed in 

the third quarter of 2021. The revolving credit facility amounts to a 
total of SEK 600 million, of which SEK 0 million was utilised as at 31 
December 2023; and the facility has been extended by a maximum 
of two years, which means that it will run until the third quarter of 
2026. This bank loan includes lending terms in respect of net debt 
in relation to EBITDA. The lending terms have been met by a good 
margin in 2023 and as at 31 December 2023. The Group also uses 
invoice factoring in Sweden and Finland.

Total goodwill for the Group amounts to SEK 984 million (984), 
attributable primarily to the operations in the Netherlands, the United 
Kingdom, Sweden, Germany and Norway. Other intangible assets 
amount to SEK 177 million (231) and are depreciated over a useful life 
of five to ten years. 

The Group’s total deductions for losses amount to SEK 36 million 
(96). It has been assessed that of this amount, SEK 18 million (29) 
can be made use of against future taxable profits and the tax effect 
of the estimated future deduction has been recorded as a deferred 
tax claim. As at 31 December 2023, a total of SEK 23 million (26) has 
been recorded as deferred tax receivables, of which SEK 5 million 
(7) is attributable to fiscal deficits. Tax expense for the year amounts 
to SEK 45 million (53). Tax paid throughout the year amounts to SEK 
55 million (47).

Employees
The average number of employees over the year was 1,160 (1,160). 
On 31 December 2023, the company employed 1,171 people (1,253).

Parent company
The parent company’s revenues totalled SEK 152 million (140). 
Earnings before tax for the year amounted to SEK 142 million (74). 
This result is largely due to dividends and Group contributions from 
subsidiaries. The parent company’s liabilities in a joint Group cur-
rency account amounted to SEK 409 million (313) as at 31 December 
2023. At the end of the period, the number of people employed by 
the parent company totalled 20 (18). 

The parent company’s operations remained unchanged during 
the period and comprise Group-wide functions and work relating 
to capital market and shareholder relations. There have been no 
significant transactions with related parties besides those with the 
executive in the capacity of employees.

Environment
The company does not carry on any business affected by registra-
tion or licence obligations under the Swedish Environmental Code.

Research and development
The company’s research and development operations are run by 
means of an innovation process established within the company. 
This process is ensuring that the company will meet the market’s 
needs and requirements as effectively as possible, and also that 
new products and services will be developed in a time-efficient, 
cost-effective manner. No research and development expenditure 
has been capitalised.

The company also maintains close contact with the leading and 
most important suppliers of data storage and cloud service solu-
tions. The company also keeps track of technical developments in 
the company’s focus areas by means of participation in trade fairs 
and seminars.

Risks and uncertainty factors
The Group manages financial risks on the basis of a finance policy 
laid down by the Board. The Group’s operational risks are mainly 
assessed and managed by the Group executive and reported to the 
company’s audit committee and Board of Directors.

See the section entitled “Risks and risk management” for a de-
tailed description of risks and risk management.

Board and executive
Jonas Hasselberg has been Chief Executive Officer and  
President of Proact IT Group AB since 1 September 2018.  
Other senior executives in 2023 were Danny Duggal (VP Commercial 
& Communications) (until August 2023). Jonas Ekman (VP Corporate 
Development), Paul de Freene (VP Service Operations), Linda Höljö 
(CFO), Mark van Liempt (Business Unit Director West) (until April 
2023). Alexander Lechthaler (Business Unit Director West) (from May 

1) �Currency effects are the differences between revenues for the year,  
translated at the currency exchange rates for the year and the previous  
year respectively.
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2023). Magnus Lönn (Business Unit Director NOBA) and (Deputy 
CEO in Proact IT Group AB) (from October 2023). Madeleine Sam-
uelson (VP People & Sustainability), René Schülein (Business Unit 
Director Central) (up to and including September 2023). Jonas Has-
selberg (Interim Business Unit Director Central) (from October 2023 
until 7 January 2024). Per Sedihn (CTO & VP Portfolio & Technology), 
and Martin Thompson (Business Unit Director UK).
   Anna Söderblom was re-elected Chair of the Board at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 4 May 2023. Martin Gren,  
Erik Malmberg, Annikki Schaeferdiek and Thomas Thuresson were 
re-elected to the Board.

Each year, the Board defines an agenda for the Board and 
instructions for the Chief Executive Officer. This agenda determines 
– among other things – which issues are to be discussed at the 
Board meetings, the forms of Board meetings, minutes and reports, 
as well as the distribution of work between the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer.

The Board has met 8 times in 2023. At all ordinary general meet-
ings, the Board has discussed Proact’s operations and financial 
position, looking at lines of business and financial administration. In 
addition, the Board has discussed strategic issues such as financial 
targets, the establishment of business and operational plans, acqui-
sitions, issues relating to personnel and organisation, legal issues 
and essential policies. Individual Board members have assisted the 
Group executive on various issues of a strategic nature. The Board 
has appointed two Board members to make up an audit committee, 
two to make up a remuneration committee, and two to make up an 
M&A committee.

The company’s auditor participates in Board meetings at  
least once a year and on such occasions reports on observations 
from the inspection. The audit committee has met five times over  
the year.

The company’s auditor has participated in all meetings of  
the audit committee throughout the year. 

Guidelines on remuneration for senior executives
The 2020 Annual General Meeting decided that the following 
guidelines for remuneration to senior executives should apply until 
the 2024 Annual General Meeting, unless circumstances arise that 
necessitate revision of this at an earlier stage.

These guidelines include the Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer and the corporate management team. The 
guidelines must be applied to remuneration agreed and amend-
ments made to remuneration agreed previously when the guidelines 
have been adopted by the 2020 Annual General Meeting. The 
guidelines do not cover remuneration decided upon by the Annual 
General Meeting.

Promotion of the company’s business strategy, long-
term interests and sustainability by the guidelines
The combination of digitisation and rapid technical development in 
the fields of data analytics and artificial intelligence, for example, 
means that customers’ IT infrastructures are becoming increasingly 
complex, with growing information volumes.

If Proact is to be relevant to customers, it must go on ensuring 
an excellent customer experience and providing a market-leading 
offering and delivery model.

Essentially, Proact is working in accordance with the following  
strategies in order to achieve this:

•	�Broadening our market position  
Our offering, geographical spread, expertise and strong partner 
relations provide us with good opportunities to strengthen our 
market position further. In strategic partnerships, we assist our 
customers in their efforts to digitalise, create efficiency and flexi-
bility, and secure their data.

•	�Accelerate our hybrid cloud offering and maintain our strong 
data centre position  
We will go on developing our portfolio in respect of both data 
centres and hybrid cloud services by means of interaction with 
our partners and customers. We perceive major opportunities in 
value-added services on top of the public cloud with our specialist 
expertise and consultancy in areas such as Kubernetes architec-
ture, data management and AI solutions.

•	�High-quality, standardised service delivery with satisfied 
customers  
We endeavour to achieve maximum cost efficiency at our delivery 
hubs by means of consistent processes and data-driven deci-
sion-making. Automation and orchestration also ensure fast and 
accurate delivery. Our commitment to continuous improvement 
keeps us at the forefront, creating a dynamic organisation that is 
adapted to the demands of the market.

•	�Focus on employees 
Our employees and our culture are at the very heart of our 
corporate strategy. Our core values and commitment to diversity 
permeate our corporate culture. We believe in the future through 
our staff, driven by talent, commitment and strong leadership. 
Proact endeavours to be an attractive employer for both current 
and future employees.

•	�Accelerate growth through acquisition  
The emphasis remains on accelerating our strategic agenda with 
company acquisitions in order to further strengthen hybrid cloud 
competences and increase market share.

Successful implementation of the company’s business strategy  
and safeguarding of the company’s long-term interests, including its 
sustainability, require the company to be able to recruit and retain 
qualified employees. For this, the company needs to be able to offer 
competitive remuneration. These guidelines make it possible to offer 
senior executives competitive overall remuneration.

Long-term share-related incentive programme have been 
established within the company. Decisions on these have been 
made by the Annual General Meeting, so they are not covered by 
these guidelines. This is why the long-term share related incentive 
programme proposed by the Board for adoption by the 2023 Annual 
General Meeting is not covered either. This programme essentially 
corresponds to existing programmes. These programmes include 
the Chief Executive Officer and corporate management team, 
among others. The performance requirements used to assess the 
outcome of the programmes are clearly linked with the business 
strategy, and hence to the company’s long-term value creation, 
including its sustainability. These performance requirements cur-
rently include earnings per share, net revenues and return on capital 
employed. The programmes also define requirements for personal 
investment and multi-year holdings. Flexible cash remuneration 
covered by these guidelines must aim to promote the company’s 
business strategy and long-term interest, including its sustainability.

Forms of compensation, etc. 
Remuneration must be in line with market conditions and must 
comprise the following components: fixed cash salary, flexible cash 
remuneration, pension benefits and other benefits. The Annual Gen-
eral Meeting may also - independently of these guidelines - make 
decisions on remuneration related to shares and share prices, for 
example.

It must be possible to gauge compliance with criteria for the 
payment of flexible cash remuneration over a period of one or more 
years. The flexible remuneration must be limited in terms of the 
maximum amount paid annually and on average, and flexible cash 
remuneration for senior executives must amount to no more than 
70 per cent of the fixed annual cash salary.

Further flexible cash remuneration may be payable under extra
ordinary circumstances, provided that such extraordinary events are 
limited in time and are implemented merely at individual level, either 
with a view to recruiting or retaining employees or as compensation 
for extraordinary effort that goes above and beyond the individual’s 
regular work. Such remuneration must not exceed an amount equiv-
alent to 50 per cent of the fixed annual cash salary, and it must not 
be paid more than once per year per individual. Decisions on such 
remuneration must be made by the Board pursuant to proposals by 
the remuneration committee.

Pension benefits, including health insurance, must be of de-
fined-contribution type for the Chief Executive Officer. Flexible cash 
remuneration must not be pensionable. The pension premiums for 
defined-contribution pension must amount to no more than 30 per 
cent of the fixed annual cash salary. Pension benefits, including 
health insurance, must be of defined-contribution type for other se-
nior executives unless the executive is covered by a defined-benefit 
pension according to compulsory collective agreement provisions. 
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Flexible cash remuneration must the pensionable to the extent 
defined by compulsory collective agreement provisions that are 
applicable to the executive. The pension premiums for defined- 
contribution pension must amount to no more than 25 per cent of  
the fixed annual cash salary.

Other benefits may include life insurance, health insurance and 
car benefits. Premiums and other expenses relating to such benefits 
must not exceed, in total, a maximum of 20 per cent of the fixed 
annual cash salary. As regards employment conditions governed by 
regulations other than Swedish ones, in respect of pension benefits 
and other benefits, appropriate adjustments may be implemented 
in order to ensure mandatory compliance with such regulations or 
defined local practice, complying with the overall purpose of these 
guidelines as far as possible.

Termination of employment
When employment is terminated by the company, the notice period 
must not exceed twelve months. In total, fixed cash salary during 
the notice period and severance pay must not exceed an amount 
corresponding to eighteen monthly salaries for all senior executives. 
When employment is terminated by the executive, the notice period 
must not exceed six months, with no entitlement to severance pay.

Criteria for allocation of flexible cash remuneration, 
etc.
Flexible cash remuneration must be linked to predefined, measur-
able criteria, which may be financial or non-financial. They may 
also involve customised quantitative or qualitative targets. These 
criteria must be formulated so that they promote the company’s 
business strategy and long-term interests, including sustainability, 
by maintaining a clear link to the business strategy, for example, or 
promoting the long-term development of the executive.

The extent to which the criteria have been met must be assessed/
established when the measurement period for compliance with 
criteria for payment of flexible cash remuneration comes to an end. 
The remuneration committee prepares the assessment in respect of 
flexible cash remuneration to the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief 
Executive Officer is responsible for assessment in respect of flexible 
cash remuneration to other officers. As far as financial targets are 
concerned, this assessment must be based on the latest financial 
information published by the company.

Salaries and employment terms for employees
When preparing the Board’s proposals for these remuneration 
guidelines, salaries and employment terms for the Group’s employ-
ees have been taken into account in that information on employ-
ees’ overall remuneration, remuneration components, increases in 
remuneration and the rate of increase over time have constituted 
elements in the decision data used by the remuneration committee 
and the Board when evaluating the fairness of the guidelines and the 
restrictions pursuant to the same. The development of the difference 
between remuneration to senior executives and remuneration to 
other employees will be outlined in the remuneration report.

The decision-making process for establishing,  
reviewing and implementing the guidelines
The Board has established a remuneration committee. The work of 
the committee includes preparing the Board’s decisions regarding 
proposals for guidelines for remuneration to senior executives. The 
Board must compile proposals for new guidelines every four years 
as a minimum and submit these proposals to the Annual General 
Meeting for a decision to be made. The guidelines must apply until 
new guidelines have been adopted by the Annual General Meeting. 
The remuneration committee must also monitor and evaluate flexible 
remuneration schemes for the corporate executive, the application 
of guidelines for remuneration to senior executives and applicable 
remuneration structures and remuneration levels within the com-
pany. The Chief Executive Officer and other members of the corpo-
rate executive do not attend Board meetings to discuss and make 
decisions on issues relating to remuneration if they are impacted by 
the issues at hand.

Deviating from the guidelines
The Board may decide to deviate entirely or partly from the guide-
lines on a temporary basis if there are specific reasons for doing so 
in a particular case and deviation is necessary in order to safeguard 
the long-term interests of the company, including its sustainability, or 
in order to guarantee the financial strength of the company. As stated 
above, the work of the remuneration committee includes discussing 
the Board’s decisions on remuneration issues, which includes deci-
sions on deviation from the guidelines.

There have been no deviations from the guidelines in 2023.

Proposal new Guidelines on remuneration  
for senior executives 
Resolution on principles for remuneration, and other employment 
conditions, for senior executives 

The Board proposes that the annual general meeting 2024 
resolves that the following guidelines for remuneration to senior 
executives shall apply until the annual general meeting 2028 unless 
circumstances arise that necessitate an earlier revision. 

These guidelines cover remuneration to board members, the CEO, 
deputy CEO and the executive management. The guidelines shall be 
applied to remunerations agreed upon, and changes made to already 
agreed remunerations, after the guidelines have been adopted by the 
annual general meeting 2024. The guidelines do not cover remunera-
tions resolved upon by the general meeting. 

The guidelines´ promotion of the company’s business 
strategy, long-term interests and sustainability 
The combination of digitalization and rapid development in areas 
such as cloud technologies, cybersecurity, and artificial intelligence 
is making customers' IT infrastructure increasingly complex, with 
growing volumes of information.  

To remain relevant to customers, Proact must continue to ensure a 
very good customer experience as well as provide a market-leading 
offering and delivery model. 

To achieve this, Proact works according to the following strategies: 

•	Establish a clear position in local markets 

•	�Offer a relevant and competitive portfolio of products and services 

•	Professionalize and streamline the company's service delivery 

•	Drive employee engagement and development  

•	Accelerate growth through acquisitions 

A successful implementation of the company's business strategy 
and the achievement of the company's long-term interests, including 
its sustainability, requires that the company can recruit and retain 
qualified employees. For this, the company must be able to offer 
competitive remuneration. These guidelines enable senior executives 
to be offered competitive total remuneration. 

Variable cash remuneration covered by these guidelines should 
aim to promote the company's business strategy and long-term 
interests, including its sustainability. 

Forms of compensation, etc.  
The remuneration should be market-based and may consist of the 
following components: fixed cash salary, variable cash remuneration, 
pension benefits, and other benefits. In addition, and independently 
of these guidelines, the general meeting may decide on, for example, 
share and share price-related remunerations. 

The fixed cash salary for senior executives should be competi-
tive within the market. The fixed cash salary for senior executives is 
reviewed annually. The fixed cash salary constitutes a maximum of 75 
percent of the total remuneration at the maximum outcome of variable 
cash remuneration. 

The fulfillment of criteria for the payment of variable cash remu-
neration shall be measurable over a period of one or several years. 
Variable cash remuneration constitutes a maximum of 50 percent 
of the total remuneration at the maximum outcome of variable cash 
remuneration for a certain fiscal year. The company does not have 
the right to reclaim variable cash remuneration. The company does 
not apply deferral periods for variable cash remuneration. 

Additional variable cash compensation may be awarded in 
extraordinary circumstances, provided that such extraordinary 
arrangements are time-limited and made on an individual basis either 
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for the purpose of recruiting or retaining senior executives, or as 
compensation for extraordinary efforts beyond the person's regular 
duties. Additional variable cash compensation may not be granted 
more than once per year and per individual. Decisions on additional 
cash compensation shall be made by the Board upon recom-
mendation from the remuneration committee. Additional variable 
cash compensation, together with variable cash compensation as 
mentioned above, may constitute a maximum of 60 percent of the 
total remuneration at the maximum outcome of variable cash com-
pensation as mentioned above. Variable cash compensation shall 
not be pensionable, unless otherwise dictated by mandatory law or 
collective agreement provisions. 

For the CEO, pension benefits, including health insurance, shall 
be defined contribution. For the CEO, pension benefits, including 
health insurance, constitute a maximum of 20 percent of the total 
remuneration at the maximum outcome of variable cash compensa-
tion. For other senior executives, pension benefits, including health 
insurance, shall be defined contribution unless the executive is cov-
ered by a defined benefit pension according to mandatory collective 
agreement provisions. For other senior executives, pension benefits, 
including health insurance, constitute a maximum of 20 percent of 
the total remuneration at the maximum outcome of variable cash 
compensation. 

Other benefits may include, among others, life insurance, health 
insurance, and car benefits. Other benefits constitute a maximum 
of 15 percent of the total remuneration at the maximum outcome of 
variable cash compensation. 

Regarding employment conditions subject to regulations other 
than Swedish, appropriate adjustments may be made to comply with 
mandatory rules or established local practices in the country of the 
individual's employment, whereby the overarching purpose of these 
guidelines should be fulfilled as far as possible. 

Termination of employment 
Employment or service contracts for senior executives should 
be valid permanently or for a fixed period. Upon termination by 
the company, the notice period may be up to twelve months. The 
combined fixed cash salary during the notice period and severance 
pay shall not exceed an amount corresponding to eighteen monthly 
salaries for all senior executives. Upon termination by the senior 
executive, the notice period may be up to six months, without the 
right to severance pay. 

Criteria for allocation of flexible cash remuneration, 
etc. 
The variable cash compensation should be linked to the fulfillment of 
criteria set annually or with another periodicity, for either the compa-
ny's performance and/or the individual's performance. This makes 
the variable cash compensation clearly connected to the company's 
development and/or the individual's work effort and performance. 
The criteria may be financial or non-financial, qualitative or quanti-
tative, and should be designed to promote the company's business 
strategy and long-term interests, including its sustainability. 

After the measurement period for the fulfillment of criteria for the 
payment of variable cash compensation has concluded, it should be 
determined to what extent the criteria have been met. Variable cash 
compensation for the CEO should be prepared by the remuneration 
committee and decided by the Board. Variable cash compensation 
for other senior executives should be prepared and decided by the 
CEO. As far as financial criteria are concerned, the assessment 
should be based on relevant financial information. 

Salaries and employment terms for employees 
In the preparation of the Board's proposal for these remuneration 
guidelines, salary and employment conditions for the Group's 
employees were taken into account by including information on 
employees' total compensation, the components of compensation, 
and the rate and pace of increase in compensation over time as part 
of the remuneration committee's and the board's decision-making 
basis when evaluating the fairness of the guidelines and the lim-
itations that follow from them. The annual change in compensation 
for the company's CEO and Deputy CEO on the one hand, and the 
change in the average compensation in full-time equivalents for the 
company's other employees on the other hand, will be disclosed in 
the compensation report. 

The decision-making process for establishing,  
reviewing and implementing the guidelines 
The Board has established a remuneration committee. The Chair of 
the Board may serve as the Chair of the remuneration committee. To 
handle conflicts of interest, the other members of the remuneration 
committee, elected by the general meeting, must be independent 
in relation to the company and its senior management. If the Board 
finds it more appropriate, the entire Board can perform the tasks of 
the remuneration committee, provided that any Board member who 
is part of the senior management does not participate in the work. 

The tasks of the remuneration committee include preparing the 
Board's decisions on proposals for guidelines for remuneration to 
senior executives. The Board should prepare a proposal for new 
guidelines at least every fourth year and submit the proposal for 
decision at the annual general meeting. The guidelines shall apply 
until new guidelines are adopted by the general meeting. The remu-
neration committee is also responsible for monitoring and evaluat-
ing programs for variable compensation for the management, the 
application of guidelines for remuneration to senior executives, and 
the current compensation structures and compensation levels within 
the company. During the Board's consideration and decisions on 
compensation-related matters, the Chief Executive Officer or other 
members of the senior management do not attend, insofar as they 
are affected by the matters. 

If the annual general meeting decides not to adopt the guide-
lines due to a proposal to that effect, the Board must present a new 
proposal before the next annual general meeting. In such cases, 
compensation shall be paid in accordance with the guidelines that 
previously applied or, if no such guidelines exist, in accordance with 
the company's practice. 

Deviating from the guidelines 
The Board may decide to temporarily deviate from the guidelines, 
in whole or in part, if there are special reasons for doing so in an 
individual case and a deviation is necessary to serve the compa-
ny's long-term interests, including its sustainability, or to ensure the 
company's financial stability. If such deviations occur, this must be 
reported in the compensation report before the next annual general 
meeting. As mentioned above, it is part of the remuneration com-
mittee's tasks to prepare the Board's decisions on compensation 
matters, which includes proposals for decisions on deviations from 
the guidelines. 

Review of the guidelines 
A review of the guidelines for remuneration to senior executives has 
been conducted ahead of the Annual General Meeting 2024. The 
review has primarily resulted in some editorial changes. The above 
modifications are not expected to result in any significant change 
to the remuneration paid according to the currently applicable 
guidelines. 

Performance share programme
A decision was made at the Annual General Meeting on 4 May, with 
the requisite majority, to implement a performance share scheme 
in accordance with the Board’s proposal. The 2023 performance 
share scheme follows the same structure as the performance share 
scheme decided at the 2022 annual general meeting, with the 
same performance targets. The 2023 performance share scheme 
has been formulated to drive profitability and growth and includes 
around 21 individuals; the company’s Chief Executive Officer, the 
Group executive and other key individuals within the company. For 
more information, see Note 9 and the remuneration report.

Corporate governance
Corporate governance at Proact IT Group AB (publ) is based on the 
Companies Act, the Swedish Company Accounts Act, the Articles of 
Association, the listing agreement with Nasdaq Stockholm and the 
Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. The corporate governance 
report, including the Board of Directors’ report on internal auditing 
for 2023, has been compiled as a separate document which can 
be found on page 43. The report is also published on the Proact 
website.
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Sustainability report
In accordance with Chapter 6, Section 11 of the Swedish Company 
Accounts Act, Proact IT Group AB (publ) has compiled the statutory 
sustainability report on pages 4-9 and 18-30 in the annual report.

Ownership structure
Proact shares have been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm with ticker 
symbol PACT since July 1999. Proact had 7,498 shareholders 
(6,903) as at 31 December 2023, most of whom were private indi-
viduals with small holdings. The two biggest shareholders, each 
with holdings in excess of 10 per cent, were Aktiebolaget Grenspe-
cialisten with a holding of 11.5 per cent and Livförsäkringsbolaget 
Skandia with a holding of 10.9 per cent.

As far as the Board of Directors is aware, there are no contracts 
between shareholders requiring specific information in accordance 
with the Swedish Company Accounts Act.

The share 
Share capital amounts to SEK 10,618,837, divided over 28,001,658 
shares with a quotient value of 0.38. All shares entitle the holder to an 
equal share of the company’s assets and profits and entitle the holder 
to one vote at the Annual General Meeting. At the Annual General 
Meeting, every individual entitled to vote may vote for the full number 
of shares owned and represented by the shareholder without any 
restriction on voting rights.

Buy-back of own shares
Shares are bought back partly with a view to adjusting the compa-
ny’s capital structure, and partly with a view to using bought-back 
shares as cash in or for the financing of acquisitions of companies or 
businesses.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 4 May 2023, the Board of 
Directors was authorised to acquire up to 10 per cent of the compa-
ny’s shares by the next Annual General Meeting.

Up to and including 31 December 2023, 218,500 shares have 
been bought back under this authorisation.

During 2023, no shares in the company’s own custody have been 
used for acquisitions of companies.

The total number of own shares held by the company is 720,210 
as at 31 December 2023, which is equivalent to 2.7 per cent of the 
total number of shares. The total purchase price paid for shares in 
own custody is SEK 52.1 million, corresponding to an average acqui-
sition value of SEK 72.34 per share.

Significant events after the end of the fiscal year
In January, it was announced that the company has appointed 
Noora Jayasekara as new CFO and member of the Group Manage-
ment Team, starting in the second quarter of 2024.

Expectations of the future
Most of our customers are large and medium-sized companies and 
organisations within a range of different industries on the majority 
of markets in Europe. Digitalisation continue to ba a central driving 
force regardless of industry. Organisations are investing in new 
technologies, such as artificial intelligence, automation and modern 
application development, to streamline their operations or create 
customer value. In turn, this means that the underlying growth in 
digital business-critical information is still high. The combination 
of rapid digitisation and the increasing volume of business-critical 
information means that IT-infrastructure is becoming increasingly 
complex and new demands are being made. As a result, more and 
more companies and organisations are evaluating options for using 
various services and new fields of technology in order to simplify their 
IT operations and ensure that their supply of IT services meets the 
requirements defined by business operations and their customers.

Securing business-critical information is of the utmost importance, 
whether it is to comply with various regulations and legal require-
ments or to protect oneself against mistakes and sabotage. Cyber 
security is today, due to the increasing risk of cyber threats, a very 
high priority issue for companies and organizations. Information 
security is thus an important part of the business and influences the 
business decisions that are made.

One clear market trend is that more customers want to offer in-house 
IT as a service, where users themselves order and consume differ-
ent types of IT service based on the needs of each individual user. 
To facilitate the supply of IT as a service, companies and author-
ities are implementing a combination of private and public cloud 
services, known as hybrid clouds, to an ever-increasing extent. The 
aim of this is to be able to supply cost-effective, flexible IT services 
to both internal and external users.

Besides the above market trends, automation – for instance – is an 
area that is becoming increasingly important. This creates opportu-
nities to facilitate administration and thereby reduce complexity and 
risks. Automating the underlying elements at a data centre allows IT 
services to be supplied more quickly, and these services are more 
capable of supporting the commercial requirements and needs 
demanded by the business. 

The need for ongoing streamlining, as well as a growing demand 
for solutions and services in Proact’s specialist fields, is indicating 
major potential for growth for the company. Proact has established 
methods, processes and services to offer so as to meet demand on 
the market and provide the most effective support to its customers.

Dividend policy
The company’s policy on dividends is adapted to suit the Group’s 
profit level, financial position and investment requirements. The div-
idend proposal is weighed up between shareholders’ expectations 
for reasonable direct returns and the company’s need to be able to 
finance itself. In the long term, Proact intends to issue a dividend of 
25-35 per cent of profits after tax.

Dividend proposal and proposed appropriation  
of profits
The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of SEK 2.00 per 
share (1.85) to the Annual General Meeting for the 2023 business 
year.

The Annual General Meeting has at its disposal:

Retained earnings 309,442,736 SEK

Profit/loss for the year 141,537,391 SEK

Total non-restricted equity 450,980,127 SEK

The Board of Directors proposes appropriation of retained earnings 
as follows:

Dividend, SEK 2.00 per share 53,984,412 SEK

Carried forward 396,995,715 SEK

Total 450,980,127 SEK

The Board of Directors proposes appropriation  
of retained earnings as follows: 
There are 28,001,658 registered shares within the company,  
of which – as at 30 March 2024 – 1,009,452 shares are bought-back 
own shares not entitled to dividends.

The Board submits the following statement of motivation in accor-
dance with Chapter 18, section 4 of the Companies Act with regard 
to the proposed appropriation of profits:

The proposed dividend amounts to 11 per cent of the company’s 
equity and 5 per cent of the Group’s equity. Non-restricted equity in 
the parent company at the end of the 2023 financial year amounted 
to SEK 450,980,127. The annual report indicates that the Group’s 
equity ratio amounts to 24.9 per cent. It may further be noted that the 
Group has cash and cash equivalents amounting to approximately 
SEK 548 million, unutilised bank overdraft facilities amounting to 
approximately SEK 155 million and net cash of SEK 80 million.

For the company’s accounted profit/loss for the financial year and 
its situation as at 31/12/2023, please see the income statement and 
balance sheet below, the equity report and the cash flow analyses, 
as well as the notes pertaining to these.w
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Business and operations / legal and regulatory issues Handling
IT systems and cybersecurity IT systems and cybersecurity

Proact operates in a complex technological landscape and manages huge 
volumes of  mission-critical data for its customers. Cybersecurity incidents 
could have a significant negative impact on Proact’s customers as well as 
on its business operations, financial performance and supplier relations.

Proact is investing significant resources in cybersecurity in order to remain resilient and support  
customers and the organisation. A number of  staff  are working to ensure that the company goes on 
implementing improved measures to reduce risks and unauthorised access to systems, and to protect 
the company from exposure to malware and security vulnerabilities.
  Proact operates a 24/7 Security Operations Centre that monitors and responds to security threats.
Proact has internally appointed an information security officer for the Group and an internal data  
protection officer for the Group who are working together in close cooperation.
  All staff  receive mandatory annual training on cybersecurity and privacy in order to enhance security 
and awareness of  privacy.

Workers and talent management Workers and talent management

An inability to recruit, develop, motivate and retain qualified staff  could 
have a negative impact on Proact’s success.

As future success is dependent on the ability to maintain its reputation as an attractive employer,  
Proact has a number of  customised training schemes and in-house schemes. Employer branding  
and talent development is a focus area for Proact’s People and Culture strategy. This includes further 
development of  our ability to attract, develop and retain both employees with outstanding and/or niche 
skills, and young talent as well.

Acquisitions and integration Acquisitions and integration

The implementation of  acquisitions involves risk. The acquired company’s 
relations with customers, suppliers and key individuals may be adversely 
affected. This is also a risk that integration processes may become more 
costly or more time-consuming than calculated, and that anticipated  
synergies may fail to emerge.

Proact evaluates potential candidates for acquisition on the basis of  an evaluation model, which  
includes potential synergy effects and how well the candidate for acquisition supports Proact’s strate-
gies. A review (due diligence) of  the entire company takes place in due course before a decision is 
made so that any risks can be evaluated. A structured integration plan in accordance with Proact’s  
integration handbook, overseen by a Group-level steering group, is being followed. Experience gained 
from acquisition and integration work carried out creates a strong foundation for successful limitation  
of  these risks in future.

Management of contracts Management of contracts

Proact has a large number of  service contracts with customers all over  
the world. Breaches of  these contracts could have an adverse impact both 
financially and in terms of  reputation. There is also an additional assumed 
contract risk on account of  acquisitions.

Proact focuses on contract management, including training relevant new colleagues on contract  
compliance processes and amendment of  contract documentation.

Risks involving business ethics Risks involving business ethics

Risk of  inappropriate business practices in our sales activities. Proact maintains a zero tolerance approach to unethical business practices in accordance with  
its Code of  Conduct and Company Handbook, and all employees receive mandatory training.  
The company has a whistleblower policy that provides all staff  with information on how to report  
suspected deviations.

Equality and diversity	 Equality and diversity

Risk of  imbalance in workplace diversity can lead to an inability to recruit 
or retain staff, or harm the employer’s brand.

Proact promotes diversity in the workplace and ensures that people with similar qualifications are  
given the same employment terms and opportunities without diction or discrimination on the basis  
of  age, race, skin colour, national origin, religion, gender or disability.

Proact’s risk management framework aims to identify, control and reduce the risks linked with its operations. Proact  
ensures that decisions on risks are made at the right level in the organisation, depending on the impact a risk may have 
on Proact’s business targets. Risks may be identified by each subsidiary or by Group functions, and actions are approved 
locally or at Group level as defined in the risk management framework. Risks limited to local operations are generally 
managed within each subsidiary or business unit, but certain legal, strategic and financial risks are managed at Group  
level. All risks and mitigation measures are evaluated regularly so as to determine the impact of the activities.
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Risk and risk management   

Market and environment Handling
The general market, political and economic situation The general market, political and economic situation

The general market situation affects the options and inclination of  Proact’s 
existing and potential customers to invest. Higher inflation is also affecting 
Proact’s cost position.

Proact operates over a significant geographical area, and the company has a broad customer base in 
a large number of  industries. As digital information volumes for storage and archiving are growing to 
a great extent while Proact is at the same time offering its customers streamlining and cost savings, 
Proact’s impact on the general market, political and economic situation is relatively limited. The fact that 
approximately a third of  Proact’s total sales are contracted for one to five years also alleviates the effects 
of  market fluctuations. The increase in geopolitical uncertainty around the world is creating additional 
uncertainty for customers, as well as potential disruptions in Proact’s supply chains. The Company’s has 
every chance of  continuing to provide contracted services such as support and operating services and 
outsourcing services.  
  However, there is still a risk that Proact could be adversely affected financially by continued supply 
chain disruptions, as well as by customers’ willingness to invest. Prices are adjusted regularly in order to 
take cost increases into account. The short-term assessment is that the situation can be managed, given 
the company’s good liquidity and stable financing. Proact has implemented – and will continue to imple-
ment – measures that we believe are in the best interests of  our employees, our customers, our suppliers 
and other third parties.

Customers Customers

A limited geographical presence or a presence in an industry sector  
may affect Proact’s business.

Proact has a good risk spread with regard to geographical presence and customer segments. Our  
biggest customers are in the trade/services sector, the public sector, telecoms and the manufacturing 
industry, and are spread across a number of  countries.
  Proact’s ten biggest customers are responsible for 20 per cent (21) of  sales, and no one customer  
represents more than 3 per cent (6) of  revenues.

Suppliers Suppliers

Dependence on key suppliers may affect Proact’s ability to deliver on  
customer contracts.

Proact works continuously with evaluation of  various suppliers in order to minimise risk exposure and 
dependency. As an independent integrator, Proact has the opportunity to achieve a good balance 
between a number of  market-leading strategic suppliers in combination with smaller niche suppliers  
in the respective product areas.

Products and technology	 Products and technology

Risk of  not meeting market requirements. The IT sector is constantly  
undergoing development as regards products and technology, with  
requirements for more efficient solutions helping users to save money.

Proact is constantly evaluating new technologies and developing new products and services in close 
partnership with its customers and suppliers to be able to provide the best solutions possible for the 
market.

Competitors Competitors

Most competition comes from integrators focusing on general IT business, 
public cloud services suppliers and global IT service companies.

Proact’s competitive advantages lie mainly in being an independent integrator with specialist expertise 
and extensive experience with regard to data centres with associated consultancy and support services, 
and also in the field of  cloud services. Our international geographical spread, close customer relations 
on a local level and diverse customer base from an industry perspective place us in a strong competitive 
position. Results from customer satisfaction surveys remain strong, with higher scores since last year. We 
are constantly developing our product portfolio, expertise and partner relations in order to further rein-
force our market position and competitive advantage.

Social and environmental responsibility Social and environmental responsibility

Risk of  inappropriate practices in respect of  human rights, health,  
safety and the environment in our supply chains.

Proact maintains a zero tolerance approach to violations of  human rights and has a process in place  
to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and industry standards in the supply chain. Proact 
endeavours to use limited environmental resources efficiently.

Climate change Climate change

Failure to meet customers’ and investors’ demands and expectations in 
respect of  climate action may lead to lost contracts, financial impact or 
damage to the Proact brand. Difficulties in finding suppliers that meet 
Proact’s climate ambition requirements in terms of  renewable energy at 
data centres, low PUE or net zero targets, for instance, may impact on 
Proact’s ability to deliver on customer requirements or achieve our own  
net zero target.

An initial calculation of  Proact’s emissions, in accordance with the guidelines of  the GHG Protocol, was 
carried out in 2023. This shows that Proact’s climate impact is mainly indirect and can be found in the 
supply chain. Targets were set during the year to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, with a view to 
achieving net zero by 2050. Proact’s previous goal of  using only data centres with renewable energy 
remains in place. Going forward, efforts will focus on reducing the carbon footprint in the supply chain. 
One key factor involves working in partnership with suppliers who are committed to reducing their emis-
sions.
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Risk and risk management 

Financial risks Handling
Liquidity risk Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of  the company not being able to meet its payment 
obligations in full, or of  only doing so on significantly unfavourable terms 
due to a shortage of  cash.

Fundamentally, liquidity risk is managed with caution at Proact. Liquidity planning, in combination with 
credit limits and lending facilities, is used to ensure that the Group has sufficient liquid funds at all times.
  At the end of  the year, Proact had cash and cash equivalents amounting to SEK 548 million (505) and 
an unutilised overdraft facility of  SEK 155 million (159), and at the same time net debt has been reduced 
from SEK 307 million to net cash of  SEK 80 million during the 2023 financial year. Liabilities relating to 
leasing in accordance with the IFRS 16 accounting rules - see also Note 27 - has had a negative impact 
on net liabilities in the amount of  SEK 246 million. Excluding leasing liabilities, the company has net cash 
amounting to SEK 326 million. According to the company’s finance policy, the parent company must 
manage the Group’s investments of  surplus liquidity. Investments must be made in bank accounts or in 
interest-bearing securities. Securities must relate to government bonds or treasury bills. Investments may 
only be made with counterparties with a high credit rating of  at least A- (Standard & Poor’s) or A2 
(Moody’s). Short-term liquidity requirements are currently provided for by overdraft facilities. To ensure 
that these needs can be met, a strong financial position is required in combination with active efforts to 
gain access to such credit.

Finance risk Finance risk

“Finance risk” relates to the risk of  the financing of  the Group’s capital 
requirements and refinancing of  outstanding loans being impaired or  
made more expensive.

Bank loans amount to SEK 222 million (441). 
  The bank loan consists of  both a three-year loan facility of  EUR 20 million from Svensk Exportkredit and 
also a three-year revolving credit facility that Proact signed in the third quarter of  2021. The revolving 
facility amounts to a total of  SEK 600 million, of  which SEK 0.0 million was utilised as at 31 December 
2023; and it has been extended by a maximum of  two years, which means that it will run until the third 
quarter of  2026.
  This bank loan includes lending terms in respect of  net debt in relation to EBITDA. The lending terms 
have been met by a good margin in 2023 and as at 31 December 2023. See Note 24 for further informa-
tion. The company also uses invoice factoring in Sweden and Finland. With invoice factoring, the risk 
remains with the company until the customer pays. Overdraft facilities granted amounted to SEK 155 mil-
lion, of  which SEK 155 million was unutilised as at 31 December 2023. The company is unable to guar-
antee that no capital requirement will arise. Failure to generate profits or meet future needs for finance 
may substantially affect the market value of  the company.

Capital Capital

The group’s objective is to maintain a stable financial position which safe-
guards the Group’s ability to continue operating and generating returns  
for shareholders, while also benefiting other stakeholders.

Proact’s managed capital consists of  equity. The company’s objective is to use established strategies  
to achieve a good financial position and so prepare profits for shareholders by increasing the value of  the 
managed capital. There are no external capital requirements other that those referred to in the Swedish 
Companies Act. A dividend of  SEK 50,791,474, equivalent to SEK 1.85 per share, was issued in 2023 for 
the 2022 business year.

Credit/counterparty risk Credit/counterparty risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction will not meet  
its financial obligations and that collateral does not cover the company’s 
receivables.

The predominant element of  Proact’s credit risk relates to receivables from customers. Proact’s sales are 
divided over a large number of  end-customers spread over a broad geographical area, which limits the 
concentration of  credit risk. The credit risk within the Group must be kept to a minimum by establishing 
a credit limit for each customer and partner, as well as entering into contracts where considered neces-
sary with a view to minimising credit risk. Below is an analysis of  accounts receivable as at 31 
December:

2023 % 2022 %

Not due 632.0 88.1 712.6 83.9

<30 days 59.0 8.2 111.9 13.2

31-60 days 11.8 1.7 17.0 2.0

61-90 days 9.3 1.3 4.2 0.5

>90 days 5.5 0.8 4.2 0.5

Total 717.7 100.0 849.8 100.0

The credit quality of  not due receivables is deemed to be good. Customer losses for the year amount to 
SEK 1 thousand (0). Reserves for uncertain receivables amount to SEK 1,121 thousand (870). Of  total 
trade receivables, 4 per cent (3) are older than 30 days.

Currency risk Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk of  changes in currency exchange rates having  
an adverse effect on the income statement, balance sheet and cash flow.

Proact is particularly subject to exchange rate risks in the USD and EUR currencies, as most of  its  
purchases are from suppliers which invoice in these currencies. The currency risk which may arise is 
managed by means of  a currency clause with customers. This covers the currency risk which may occur 
from the time of  tendering until delivery to the customer, and also by hedging major purchases in foreign 
currencies. Proact’s finance policy means that exposure exceeding EUR 200 thousand / USD 250 thou-
sand must be hedged. The fair value of  outstanding forward contracts as at 31 December 2023 amount-
ed to SEK -1,669 thousand (-5,496). The purchase and sale of  foreign currencies is reported in note 14.

Interest rate risk Interest rate risk

Interest risk is the risk that permanent changes in market interest rates will 
adversely affect cash flow or the fair value of  financial assets and liabilities. 
Interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from outstanding external loans. 
The impact on net interest is partly due to average interest terms on  
borrowings.

In accordance with the Group’s financial policy, all external borrowings have short interest terms;  
three months on average. No interest rate derivatives were utilised to manage this risk in 2023.  
Lending and interest rates are specified in greater detail in Note 24.
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The “Ownership” section in the Directors’ Report indicates the 
direct or indirect shareholdings in the company which represent  
at least one-tenth of the voting rights for all shares in the company. 

The “Shares” section also indicates the restrictions on how 
many votes each shareholder can cast at an Annual General 
Meeting.

Annual General Meeting 2023
Proact’s annual general meeting was held on 4 May 2023. 56 
shareholders representing 44.5 per cent of both the number of 
shares and the total number of votes in the company exercised 
their voting rights by attendance and postal vote. Among other 
things, the following decisions were made:

•	�The income statement and balance sheet, and the consoli-
dated income statement and consolidated balance sheet were 
approved and adopted.

•	�The Board’s remuneration report was approved.

•	�The Board’s proposal for a dividend of SEK 1.85 per share  
for the 2022 financial year was adopted.

•	�The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer were 
granted discharge from liability for the 2022 fiscal year.

•	�Remuneration payable to the Board of Directors was set at 
a total of SEK 2,090,000.

•	�Remuneration to the auditors will be paid in accordance with  
an approved invoice. PwC were re-elected as auditors.

•	�Anna Söderblom was newly elected as a Board member and 
was also elected as Chair of the Board.  
The following other Board members were re-elected:  
– Martin Gren 
– Annikki Schaeferdiek 
– Thomas Thuresson 
– Erik Malmberg

•	�A decision was made, with the requisite majority, to implement 
the performance share scheme in accordance with the Board’s 
proposal. This scheme has been formulated to drive profitability 
and growth and includes around 21 individuals; the company’s 
Chief Executive Officer, the Group executive and other key indi-
viduals within the company. For more information, see Note 9.

•	�Establishment of principles for the appointment of a nomination 
committee for the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

•	�A decision was made to authorise the Board to make decisions 
on the new issue of shares. It was noted that payment through 
offsetting must only take place in connection with company 
acquisitions.

•	�A decision was made to authorise the Board to implement 
acquisitions and transfers of the company’s own shares. It 
was also decided that the Board can only buy back shares in 
such numbers that bought-back shares, together with any newly 
issued shares according to the authorisation decided upon in 
the section above, do not exceed a total of 10 per cent of the 
now outstanding number of shares. It was noted that payment 
through offsetting must only take place in connection with com-
pany acquisitions and that the company is not allowed to sell  
its own shares on Nasdaq Stockholm.

•	�A decision was made, with the requisite majority, to amend the 
Articles of Association so that the registered office of the Board 
of Directors is Solna.

Proact IT Group AB (publ) is a parent company in the Proact 
Group which consists of a number of subsidiaries as outlined in 
the annual report, Note 17.

This corporate governance report has been compiled in accor-
dance with the Swedish Company Accounts Act and the Swedish 
Code of Corporate Governance.

The parent company and Group are governed via the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board of Directors and the Chief Exec-
utive Officer in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act, 
the Swedish Company Accounts Act, the company’s Articles of 
Association, the listing agreement with Nasdaq Stockholm and 
the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. This code is based 
on the “comply or explain” principle. Proact deviates from the 
recommendations of the code in respect of one item: the compa-
ny’s half-yearly and nine-monthly reports have not been reviewed 
by the auditors. The Board has determined that based on the 
complexity of the company and the business risks, such a review 
would not add value commensurate with the resources and costs 
involved. 

Governance structure

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is the supreme governing body of 
Proact. The Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB is held 
annually in April or May in Solna. The time and date of the meeting 
are published at the latest when the interim report for the third 
quarter is issued and published simultaneously on the company’s 
website. The Annual General Meeting elects Proact’s Board of 
Directors and its Chair. The other tasks of the Annual General 
Meeting also include

•	�approving and adopting the company’s income statements  
and balance sheets

•	making decisions on allocation of the company’s profit 

•	making decisions on changes to the Articles of Association

•	electing auditors

•	�making decisions on discharge from liability for Board members 
and the Chief Executive Officer

•	�making decisions on remuneration for the Board of Directors 
and auditors

•	approving the appointment of the nomination committee

Shareholders who do not have the opportunity to attend the 
General Meeting in person may instead participate via a repre-
sentative. The Board of Directors also has the option of allowing 
shareholders to participate by postal vote.

Shareholders via 
Annual General 

Meeting

Board of  
Directors

Chief Executive 
Officer

Company  
management

Auditors

Nomination  
committee

Remuneration  
committee

Audit committee

M&A committee
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Nomination committee
At the Annual General Meeting of Proact held on 4 May 2023, 
a decision was made for the nomination committee to comprise 
representatives for the four biggest shareholders or, as referred 
to in the paragraph below, the five biggest shareholders in terms 
of votes as at 30 September 2023; The nomination committee 
therefore has the right to require the attendance of the Chair of 
the Board at meetings of the nomination committee. The Chair  
of the Board must, without delay, contact the four biggest share-
holders in terms of votes in accordance with Euroclear Sweden’s 
list of shareholders as at 30 September 2023, and offer each 
and every one of them the opportunity to appoint a member of 
the nomination committee within a reasonable time.

If there is a change in the company’s ownership structure after 
30 September but before the date occurring two months before 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, and if a shareholder 
constituting one of the four biggest shareholders in the com-
pany in terms of votes after this change expresses a desire to 
the Chair of the nomination committee to become part of the 
nomination committee, this shareholder shall have the right to 
either appoint a further member of the nomination committee or, 
if so decided by the nomination committee, to appoint a member 
of the nomination committee who will replace the member that 
is the smallest shareholder in terms of votes after the change in 
ownership and that has appointed a member of the nomination 
committee. In addition, any member appointed by a share-
holder that has sold more than half of its shareholding after 30 
September and thus no longer constitutes one of the ten biggest 
shareholders in the company will be obliged to resign from the 
company’s nomination committee within two weeks of the date 
of the sale.

The names of the members of the nomination committee must 
be published as soon as the nomination committee has been ap-
pointed. If any of the biggest owners declines to appoint a rep-
resentative on the nomination committee, the next shareholder 
in order of size must be given the opportunity to appoint such a 
representative. A representative of the shareholders is appointed 
Chair of the nomination committee. The mandate period of the 
nomination committee continues until a new nomination commit-
tee has been appointed.

Where appropriate, the nomination committee must prepare  
and submit to the Annual General Meeting proposals for:

•	�election of a Chairman for the meeting

•	�election of a Chairman of the Board and other company  
directors

•	�directors’ fees divided between the Chairman and other  
members, plus remuneration for committee work

•	�election of and payment to auditors (where appropriate)

•	�decisions on principles for the appointment of a nomination 
committee

Work of the nomination committee
The composition of the nomination committee was published 
on 20 October 2023, comprising Katarina Berggren, Chair-
man (Aktiebolaget Grenspecialisten), Stephanie Göthman 
(Livförsäkringsbolaget Skandia), Wilhelm Gruvberg (Alcur Fonder 
AB) and Johannes Wingborg (Länsförsäkringar Fondförvaltning 
AB). This nomination committee represented a total of around 36 
per cent of votes in Proact as at 30 September 2023. 

The nomination committee has applied rule 4.1 in the Swedish 
Code of Corporate Governance as its diversity policy when 
devising the proposal for the Board, with the aim of achieving 
effective composition of the Board in terms of diversity and 
breadth with regard to factors such as gender, nationality, 
age and industry experience. The ambition of the nomination 
committee is to propose a Board composition where members 
complement one another with their respective experience and 
skills in a manner that gives the Board the opportunity to help 
bring about positive development of the company. The nomina-
tion committee always focuses on diversity so as to ensure that the 
Board has different perspectives on its Board work and the con-
siderations made. The nomination committee also takes into ac-
count the need for regeneration and carefully examines whether 
the proposed Board members have the opportunity to devote 
sufficient time and care to their Board work. All shareholders 
have the opportunity to consult the nomination committee with 
suggestions for Board members. The nomination committee has 
held several minuted meetings. 

A report on the work of the nomination committee is published 
on the Proact website – www.proact.se, at the latest in connec-
tion with the notice to attend the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

Board of Directors
Proact’s Board of Directors makes decisions on issues relating 
to Proact’s strategic focus, investments, finance, organisa-
tional issues, acquisitions and divestments and more important 
policies. The Board must also ensure that correct information is 
given to Proact’s stakeholders in accordance with the governing 
regulations mentioned above. 

Board composition and diversity
According to the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors 
must consist of three to eight members, with at most five deputy 
members. These members, and where appropriate their dep-
uties, are elected each year at the Annual General Meeting for 
the period until the next Annual General Meeting. At the Annual 
General Meeting held on 4 May 2023, it was decided that the 
Board would consist of five members and no deputies for the 
period until the next Annual General Meeting. The nomination 
committee applies the Swedish Code of Corporate Govern-
ments, section 4.1, as its diversity policy. The objective is to 
propose composition of a Board with complementary experi-
ence and skills, also demonstrating diversity in terms of age, 
gender, nationality and industry experience. The composition 
of the present Board is the result of the work of the nomination 
committee prior to the 2023 Annual General Meeting. The Board 
comprises members with experience of various industries, and 
there is even gender distribution.

The Articles of Association contain no provisions relating to 
the appointment or compulsory retirement of Board members  
or to amendments to the Articles of Association.
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The Board is deemed to be compliant with the stock exchange 
rules from Nasdaq Stockholm and the Swedish Code of Cor-
porate Governance in respect of requirements for independent 
Board members.

Every business year, the Board of Directors carries out a 
review of the work of the Board and CEO by means of:

•	�Evaluation of the work of the Board. A board evaluation is 
carried out in the fourth quarter of the financial year. The re-
sults of the questionnaire will be discussed by the Board and 
communicated to the nomination committee. The nomination 
committee will then hold interviews with all members during 
the same quarter or the first quarter of next year

•	�Evaluation of the work of the CEO

•	�The CEO’s view of the work of the Board

This review forms the basis for the Board’s future working  
methods.

Board remuneration
The Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2023 set the Board’s total 
remuneration at SEK 2,090,000, of which the Chair of the Board 
will receive SEK 590,000 and the other members SEK 275,000 
each. A total of SEK 400,000 will be payable for committee work. 
No further payments have been made to the Board over the year. 

Board members are not included in any share or share 
price-related incentives schemes issued by the company. 

The Board’s procedures
The work of the Board is governed by a set of procedures estab-
lished annually which regulate the members’ mutual division of 
work, decision-making arrangements, signing on behalf of the 
company, a meeting agenda for the Board and the tasks of the 
Chair. The work of the Board follows a set agenda intended to 
ensure that the Board’s information needs are satisfied and that 
there is an appropriate distribution of work between the Board 
and the Chief Executive Officer.

In 2023, the Board held 11 meetings compared with 13 in the 
previous year. The control issues arising at Board meetings are 
dealt with by the Board where appropriate following preparation 
by the remuneration committee, M&A committee or audit com-
mittee. In addition, the company’s auditors report directly at least 
once a year to the Board their observations from the review and 
their assessments of the company’s internal accounting control.

Besides the ongoing follow-up and monitoring of business, 
over the year the Board of Directors has dealt with strategies, 
acquisition issues, capital structure and organisational issues.

Composition of the Board and attendance at Board meetings, 2023

Board member
Remuneration 

committee
Audit  

committee
M&A  

committee

Attendance  
at Board  

meetings, %

Anna Söderblom  100

Annikki Schaeferdiek 100

Martin Gren 91

Thomas Thuresson 91

Erik Malmberg 100

Board members’ independence in respect of Proact,  
Proact’s executive and major owners

Board member Function

Date  
of  
birth

Nation- 
ality Elected

Indepen
dent

Share- 
holding, 

31/12/2023

Anna Söderblom Chair 1963 Swedish 2022 Yes 8,900

Martin Gren Member 1962 Swedish 2017 No 3,237,334¹)

Annikki Schaeferdiek Member 1969 Swedish 2017 Yes 4,000

Thomas Thuresson Member 1957 Swedish 2018 Yes 2,500

Erik Malmberg Member 1982 Swedish 2020 Yes 5,000

1) Holding personally and via legal entity.

Other information on Board members 
•	 �Anna Söderblom (Teacher/researcher at the Stockholm School 

of Economics plus Board work, previous senior positions at  
Microsoft, Posten and Industrifonden, among others). Member  
of the Board for Länsförsäkringar Liv Försäkringsaktiebolag,  
BTS Group AB, HAKI Safety, Dedicare AB, Webstep ASA and 
Chalmers Ventures AB.

•	�Martin Gren (Founder and advisor to Axis Communications AB)  
Chairman of the Board of Axis AB and Axis Communications AB. 
�Member of the Board at Lumen Radio AB, Askero Sagoboks Förlag 
AB, AB Grenspecialisten, Lumen Radio and H. Lundén Holding AB.

•	�Annikki Schaeferdiek (Founder and CEO of Syster P AB plus Board 
work, international experience in the IT/telecom industry).  
Chair of the Board at Formpipe Software AB 
Director of Syster P AB, Axiell Group AB and Addtech AB.

•	�Thomas Thuresson (Board work and CEO of Tetra Laval Real  
Estate AB, various previous positions at Alfa Laval Group,  
including as CFO) 
Chair of the Board at Terratech Group AB 
Director of JM AB and Skiold A/S and member of the Advisory 
Board for Solix Group AB.

•	�Erik Malmberg (Independent advisor and investor, formerly  
Investment Advisory Professional, Triton Advisers (Sweden) AB)  
and share analyst at Goldman Sachs International.  
No other directorships. 
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Board meetings  
in 2023

FEBRUARY
Year-end report, report from 
auditors, review of the service 
delivery organisation, review of 
BU West.

MARCH
Decision on annual reports, 
preparation of Annual General 
Meeting.

MAY
Interim report January-March, 
review of BU UK and BU 
Central, start of strategy work, 
Annual General Meeting, 
constitutive Board meeting, 

adoption of instructions and 
policies. Election of commit-
tees. Extra meeting for review of 
cost saving programmes. 

JUNE
Extension of an existing credit 
facility and establishment of a 
new one.

JULY
Interim report, January-June.

SEPTEMBER
Strategy work, review of portfo-
lio, market and business plans 
and risk for business units and 
the Group.

OCTOBER
Interim report, January-September. 
Risk review and review of the sustain-
ability strategy.

DECEMBER
Review of the business plan for 
2024. Organisational development. 
Evaluation of the work of the Board, 
the Chief Executive Officer and the 
corporate management team. Review, 
BU NOBA.
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Remuneration committee
The duty of the remuneration committee is to examine the princi-
ples for remuneration, including performance-based remunera-
tion and pension terms for the company’s senior executives, and 
to give recommendations to the Board concerning these issues. 
Issues relating to the Chief Executive Officer’s terms of employ-
ment, remuneration and benefits are prepared by the remunera-
tion committee and decided upon by the Board of Directors. This 
committee also discusses the general starting points for setting 
salary levels within the Group.

More information on remuneration to the Chief Executive 
Officer and other corporate executive staff can be found in the 
annual report, Note 9.

The remuneration committee comprises two Board members 
and has held two minuted meetings during the year, as well as 
maintaining constant contact by telephone and e-mail.

Audit committee
The job of the audit committee is to prepare Board work on  
quality assurance of the company’s financial reporting. This  
committee maintains constant contact with the company’s exter-
nal auditors in order to stay abreast of the focus and scope of the 
audit and discuss views on the company’s risks. Decisions by 
the Board are required for non-audit services from the selected 
auditor that exceed SEK 500 thousand. Total fees for non-audit 
services must not exceed 70 per cent of the budgeted audit fee. 
This committee is also tasked with providing its evaluation of the 
audit work to the nomination committee and with assisting the 
nomination committee with production of the nomination commit-
tee’s proposals to the Annual General Meeting concerning the 
election of auditors and the size of the audit fee. The committee 
also deals with issues related to internal control, risks, insurance 
and GDPR. 

 After the 2023 Annual General Meeting, the audit committee 
comprises two Board members. The Chair of the audit committee 
prepares and convenes the meetings of the audit committee.

The audit committee has held five minuted meetings during the 
year, as well as maintaining constant contact by telephone and 
email.

M&A committee
The committee’s job is to prepare the Board’s work on acquisi-
tions in accordance with the company’s acquisition strategy.  
This work includes evaluating potential acquisition candidates 
and assisting the management in matters such as financing, 
business valuation and pipeline of potential acquisitions. 

During the year, the M&A committee consisted of two Board 
members and held eight meetings for which minutes were kept.

External auditors
The Annual General Meeting which was held on 4 May 2023 
elected the firm of auditors Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 
(PwC), with Nicklas Kullberg as principal auditor, for the period 
up to the 2024 Annual General Meeting.

The auditors review the Board’s and the Chief Executive 
Officer’s management of the company and the quality of the 
company’s accounts documentation.

The auditors’ report on the results of their review to shareholders 
by means of the audit report, which is presented at the Annual 
General Meeting. In addition, the auditors submit detailed re-
ports at the meetings of the audit committee with the committee 
and to the Board of Directors at least once a year.

The company’s half-yearly and nine-monthly reports have not 
been reviewed by the auditors. This is a deviation from the rec-
ommendation in the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance. 
The Board is of the opinion that any such review on the basis 
of a cost perspective is not necessary, given the company’s 
degree of complexity and business risks.

PwC performs certain services for Proact in addition to audits. 
When PwC is engaged to provide services other than auditing, 
this takes place in accordance with the rules decided upon by 
the audit committee for approval of the nature and scope of the 
services and remuneration for the same. Proact is of the opinion 
that execution of these services is within the guidelines and has 
not impacted upon PwC’s independence.

Further information on remuneration to the auditors can be 
found in the annual report, Note 8.

Chief Executive Officer and Group executive
Jonas Hasselberg has been Chief Executive Officer and Pres-
ident of Proact IT Group AB since 1 September 2018. Jonas 
Hasselberg holds a Master of Science degree in Engineering 
Physics from KTH Royal Institute of Technology and has expe-
rience of senior positions at Telia Company, Nokia, Mycronic 
and Microsoft. Jonas Hasselberg owned 35,411 shares in the 
company as at 31 December 2023. Jonas Hasselberg has no 
significant shareholdings or co-ownership in companies with 
which Proact has significant business relationships. 

The Chief Executive Officer manages operations in accor-
dance with the instructions of the Board of Directors and the 
approved distribution of work between the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
keeping the Board informed and for ensuring that the Board is 
provided with the requisite decision data. The Chief Executive 
Officer presents reports to the Board but is not a Board member. 
This is in accordance with applicable policy, in which neither 
the Chief Executive Officer nor another senior executive has to 
be a Board member in the parent company. In ongoing contact, 
the Chief Executive Officer keeps the Chair informed of the de-
velopment and financial position of the company and the Group 
besides providing periodic reporting.

The Chief Executive Officer and other members of the corpo-
rate executive hold regular meetings in order to review results 
development, update forecasts and plans, and make decisions 
on various issues.

As at 31 December 2023, Proact’s Group executive consisted 
of the Chief Executive Officer and eight other senior executives. 

The subsidiaries running operations report to the relevant 
Business Unit Directors, who in turn report directly to the Chief 
Executive Officer. Reporting takes place on a monthly basis, 
with more in-depth quarterly reviews of the operations in 
question. The Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries principally 
consist of members of Proact’s Group executive. Chair positions 
at the subsidiaries are held either by the Chief Executive Officer 
of Proact IT Group AB or by the relevant Business Unit Directors. 
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Remuneration to senior executives
The Annual General Meeting held on 6 May 2020 adopted the 
Board’s proposal concerning guidelines for remuneration to 
senior executives, which should apply until the 2024 Annual 
General Meeting, unless circumstances arise that necessitate 
revision of this at an earlier stage. These guidelines include the 
Chief Executive Officer and the corporate management team. 
The guidelines must promote the company’s business strategy, 
long-term interests and sustainability.

Provision of information
Proact endeavours to maintain communication with its share-
holders and other stakeholders which is correct, clear, factual, 
reliable and quick. It must also be characterised by openness. 

Proact regularly publishes interim reports and annual reports 
in Swedish and English. Events which are deemed to affect 
rates are published as press releases. The Proact website also 
includes a wide range of company information which is updated 
regularly.

In addition, Proact communicates with the capital market and 
the media by means of meetings with analysts and journalists in 
connection with the publication of the interim reports and annual 
reports. Representatives of Proact also take part regularly in var-
ious meetings of shareholders and analysts.

The Board’s internal control report
Control environment
Internal controls at Proact are based on a control environment 
which includes organisation, decision paths, authorisations 
and responsibilities. This is documented and communicated in 
steering documentation such as internal policies, guidelines and 
instructions. For example, this is applicable to the distribution 
of work between the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer, and between the various units within the organisation, 
and also via instructions for rights of authorisation, accounting 
and reporting, etc. The Board follows up to ensure compliance 
with set principles for financial reporting and internal controls, 
and also maintains the appropriate relationships with the com-
pany’s auditors. 

The corporate executive reports to the Board based on 
established procedures. The corporate executive is responsible 
for the system of internal controls which is required for handling 
significant risks in ongoing operations. For example, guidelines 
and instructions for various officials are compiled in order to 
reinforce understanding and the importance of their respec-
tive roles, and hence also to contribute towards good internal 
control. 

Risk assessment and inspection activities
The Board holds overall responsibility for risk management. 
Clear organisation and decision-making arrangements aim to 
create good awareness of risks among employees and well con-
sidered risk-taking. The risk assessment includes identification, 
charting and assessment of risks at all levels within the Group. 
Activities and reporting take place regularly in order to maintain 
good internal control, and hence to prevent and detect risks. 

Information and communication
Essential guidelines and manuals – such as the Company 
Handbook and finance policy – affect financial reporting and are 
updated and communicated regularly to the relevant personnel 
within the Group. There are both formal and informal information 
channels for the corporate executive and Board for essential 
information from employees. For external communication, the 
company complies with the governing rules discussed previ-
ously.

Follow-up
The Board receives monthly financial statements, as well as 
non-conformance reports relating to the company’s profit and 
position. Extraordinary incidents and emerging risks are also 
reported each month. The Board regularly evaluates the infor-
mation submitted by the corporate executive. The work of the 
Board also includes ensuring that measures are implemented 
with regard to any shortcomings and proposals for measures 
which have arisen during external audits. Given the size of the 
company, there is no separate department for internal audits. 
Instead, this work is carried out from the Group finance function 
together with the company’s own lawyers. The company per-
forms regular audits of its subsidiaries. The outcome is reported 
to the CEO, CFO and Board of Directors.
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Anna Söderblom Martin Gren Thomas Thuresson Erik Malmberg Annikki Schaeferdiek

Role Chair Member Member Member Member

Current posi-
tion

Teacher and researcher  
at Stockholm School of 
Economics.

Chief Executive Officer of 
Tetra Laval Real Estate AB.

Independent advisor, 
investor and board work.

Chief Executive Officer  
of Syster P AB.

Date of birth 1963 1962 1957 1982 1969

Elected 2022 2017 2018 2020 2017

Training Bachelor’s degree in  
mathematics, Lund 
University. PhD, Stockholm 
School of Economics.

Honorary doctorate in  
entrepreneurship from Lund 
University of Technology.

Graduate in Business 
Administration, Lund 
University 
BPSE, IMD.

MBA, Stockholm School 
of Economics.

MSc from the Institute of 
Technology at Linköping 
University. 

Experience Board work, senior  
positions at companies 
including Nokia, Ericsson, 
Posten och Industrifonden.

Founder of and advisor to 
Axis Communications AB.

Board work and Chief 
Executive Officer at Tetra 
Laval Real Estate AB, various 
previous positions at Alfa 
Laval Group.

Investment Advisory 
Professional at Triton 
Advisers (Sweden) AB 
and share analyst at 
Goldman Sachs 
International.

Board work, international 
experience of the IT/tele-
coms industry, Chief 
Executive Officer of 
Netwise, business area 
manager at an Ericsson 
multimedia unit, founder  
of Syster P.

Other direc-
torships

Director: Länsförsäkringar 
Liv Försäkringsaktiebolag, 
BTS Group AB, 
HAKI Safety, Dedicare AB, 
Webstep ASA and 
Chalmers Ventures AB.

Chair:  
Axis Communications AB.
Director: Askero Sagoboks 
Förlag AB, AB 
Grenspecialisten, Lumen 
Radio and H. Lundén 
Holding AB.

Chair: 
Terratech Group AB. Director: 
JM AB and Skiold A/S. 
Member of the Advisory 
Board: Solix Group AB.

No other directorships. Chair: Formpipe Software 
AB. Director: Syster P AB, 
Axiell Group AB and 
Addtech AB. 

Independence 
in respect of 
Proact, 
Proact’s exec-
utive and 
major owners

Yes No Yes Yes Yes

Number of 
shares

8,900 3,237,334 2,500 5,000 4,000



49Annual Report 2023  Proact

Jonas Hasselberg Magnus Lönn Åsa Regen Jansson

Role
CEO & President, Acting 
Business Unit Director, UK

Deputy CEO, Business Unit 
Director, Nordics & Baltics

Acting CFO & VP Investor 
relations

Date of birth 1967 1974 1970

Employed since 2018 2022 2023

Number of shares 35,411 6,000 –

Jonas Ekman Paul de Freene Maria Gomez

Role VP Mergers & Acquisitions VP Services Operation
Business Unit Director, 
Central

Date of birth 1975 1969 1970

Employed since 2019 2022
2024 (took office on 8 
January)

Number of shares 8,905 _ 2,000

Alexander Lechthaler Madeleine Samuelson Per Sedihn

Role
Business Unit Director,  
West VP People & Sustainability

CTO and VP Portfolio & 
Technology

Date of birth 1982 1972 1964

Employed since 2011 2022 1994

Number of shares 2,000 3,350 500
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 2023 2022

1

System revenues 2,698,001 2,861,442

Service revenues 2,144,644 1,889,002

of which support revenue 595,165 513,344

of which revenue from cloud services 1,097,359 943,844

of which consulting revenue 452,120 431,814

Other revenues 4,670 6,379

Total revenues 2.3 4,847,315 4,756,823

Cost of  goods and services sold
5, 6, 7, 9, 13, 14, 

19 -3,758,117 -3,704,152

Gross profit 5, 28 1,089,198 1,052,671

Sales and marketing expenses 9, 13 -504,456 -466,820

Administration expenses 5, 6, 8, 9, 13 -354,988 -325,254

Operating profit 7, 8, 13, 14, 27 229,754 260,597

Financial income 10 28,518 9,973

Financial expenses 11 -40,000 -26,416

Earnings before tax 14 218,272 244,154

Income tax 12 -45,179 -52,614

Profit/loss for the year 173,093 191,540

Other comprehensive income

Items that can be transferred to profit/loss for the year

Hedging of  net investment in foreign operations 262 29,918

Tax effect of  hedging of  net investment in foreign operations -54 -6,163

Translation differences -4,864 29,465

Total items that can be transferred to profit/loss for the year, after tax -4,656 53,220

Total comprehensive income for the year 168,437 244,760

Profit/loss for the year attributable to:

Parent Company’s shareholders 172,647 191,258

Non-controlling interests 17 446 282

173,093 191,540

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Parent Company’s shareholders 168,728 244,122

Non-controlling interests -291 638

168,437 244,760

Earnings per share

Earnings per share for profit/loss attributable to 

parent company shareholders, before dilution, SEK¹) 31 6.29 6.97

parent company shareholders, after dilution, SEK¹) 31 6.29 6.97

Weighted average number of  outstanding shares 27,466,985 27,454,851

1) �The company has a long-term performance share scheme which may involve maximum dilution of  1.84 per cent.
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

1

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

Goodwill 5, 15 983,571 983,637

Other intangible assets 5, 15 177,310 230,729

Tangible fixed assets 5, 16 74,098 74,167

Right-of-use assets 27 245,219 292,680

Other non-current receivables 18, 21, 27 544,605 548,185

Deferred tax receivables 12 22,453 25,590

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 2,047,256 2,154,988

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 19 15,442 64,065

Accounts receivable 14, 20 717,665 849,777

Current tax receivables 6,612 1,757

Other receivables 52,260 53,109

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 657,316 612,492

Cash and cash equivalents 26 547,897 505,684

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 1,997,192 2,086,884

TOTAL ASSETS 4,044,448 4,241,872

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 30

Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders

Share capital (28,001,658 shares, quotient value SEK 0.38) 10,619 10,619

Other capital contributions 297,964 297,964

Other reserves 67,598 71,963

Retained earnings including profit/loss for the year 632,423 538,987

Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders 1,008,604 919,533

Equity pertaining to non-controlling interests 17 - 3,888

TOTAL EQUITY 1,008,604 923,421

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 24 221,920 440,665

Leasing liabilities 146,092 177,156

Other non-current liabilities 23, 24, 27 775,298 750,416

Deferred tax liabilities 12 58,186 73,121

Non-current liabilities, total 1,201,496 1,441,358

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 14 529,970 625,050

Current tax liabilities 25,035 39,957

Bank loans 24 - -

Leasing liabilities 100,258 113,416

Other liabilities 22, 24 166,028 161,977

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 23 1,013,057 936,693

Current liabilities, total 1,834,348 1,877,093

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,035,844 3,318,451

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,044,448 4,241,872
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Amounts in SEK thousand, Note 30

Attributable to the parent company’s shareholders

Attributable 
to non- 

controlling  
interests

Total  
share- 

holders’  
equity

Share 
capital

Other 
capital 

contribu-
tions

Hedging  
of net  

investment  
in foreign 

operations

Translation 
of foreign 

subsidiaries

Retained 
earnings, 

inc. profit/
loss for  
the year Total

Opening balance as at 1 January 
2022

10,619 297,964 33 19,066 382,930 710,611 3,249 713,860

Profit/loss for the year - - - - 191,258 191,258 282 191,540

Other comprehensive income - - 23,722 29,142 - 52,864 356 53,220

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 23,722 29,142 191,258 244,122 638 244,760

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends - - - - -41,182 -41,182 - -41,182

Long-term incentive programme - - - - 5,984 5,984 - 5,984

Total transactions with shareholders - - - - -35,198 -35,198 - -35,198

Closing balance as at 31 December 2022 10,619 297,964 23,755 48,208 538,987 919,533 3,888 923,421

Opening balance as at 1 January 
2023

10,619 297,964 23,755 48,208 538,987 919,533 3,888 923,421

Profit/loss for the year - - - - 172,647 172,647 446 173,093

Other comprehensive income - - 208 -4,127 - -3,919 -737 -4,656

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 208 -4,127 172,647 168,728 -291 168,437

Transactions with shareholders

Dividends - - - - -50,791 -50,791 - -50,791

Buy-back of own shares - - - - -19,588 -19,588 - -19,588

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests - - - -446 -8,427 -8,873 -2,680 -11,553

Sales of  non-controlling interests - - - - - - -917 -917

Long-term incentive programme - - - - -3,087 -3,087 - -3,087

Sold previously repurchased shares - - - - 2,682 2,682 - 2,682

Total transactions with shareholders - - - -446 -79,211 -79,657 -3,597 -83,254

Closing balance as at 31 December 2023 10,619 297,964 23,963 43,635 632,423 1,008,604 - 1,008,604
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 2023 2022

26

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR

Operating profit for the year 229,754 260,597

Adjustment for items not affecting cash flow:

  Reversal of  depreciation and impairment of  fixed assets 5, 15, 16 228,211 212,576

  Financial lease sales 27 32,954 36,714

  Reversal of  unrealised items - 746

  Reversal of  other non-cash items -9,049 5,725

  Changes in provisions -174 5,254

  Income tax paid¹) 12 -54,651 -46,886

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 427,045 474,726

Cash flow from changes in working capital

  Inventories 49,504 -45,131

  Operating receivables 64,554 -447,026

  Operating liabilities -9,060 471,688

Cash flow from current operations 532,043 454,257

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of  businesses 17 -7,951 -153,357

Disposals of businesses 26 -12 -

Capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets 16 -44,347 -39,360

Disposals of  tangible fixed assets 16 1,064 1,888

Investments in intangible fixed assets 15 -968 -1,648

Decrease, non-current receivables 18 333 396

Increase, non-current receivables 18 -45 -2,540

Cash flow from investment activities -51,926 -194,621

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends -50,791 -41,182

Buy-back of own shares -19,588 -

Borrowing 112,018 95,912

Repaid loans -336,176 -158,221

Interest earned 10,366 2,905

Interest paid -25,133 -15,215

Amortisation of  leasing debt -117,971 -133,145

Other cash flow from financing activities -2,784 1,554

Cash flow from financing activities -430,059 -247,392

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR 50,058 12,244

Cash and cash equivalents at start of  year 505,684 463,934

Translation difference in cash and cash equivalents -7,845 29,506

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END 547,897 505,684

1) �Income tax SEK 45,179 thousand (52,614).  
Net non-cash adjustment and paid tax SEK -9,472 thousand (5,728).
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 2023 2022

Revenues 4, 14 152,021 139,931

Gross profit 4 152,021 139,931

Administration expenses 5, 9 -151,896 -144,421

Operating profit 9 125 -4,490

Financial income 10 187,550 96,721

Financial expenses 11 -45,396 -18,413

Earnings before tax and appropriations 14 142,279 73,818

Group contribution - -

Earnings before tax 14 142,279 73,818

Income tax 12 -742 -5,064

Profit/loss for the year 141,537 68,754

Amounts in SEK thousand 2023 2022

Profit/loss for the year 141,537 68,754

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 141,537 68,754
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

ASSETS

FIXED ASSETS

Intangible fixed assets 5, 15 8,216 13,837

Tangible fixed assets 5, 16 294 262

Shares in Group companies 17 492,383 491,802

Current receivables from Group companies 640,109 696,997

Other non-current receivables 1,448 -

Deferred tax receivables 12 1,394 1,074

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 1,143,844 1,203,972

CURRENT ASSETS

Current tax receivables - -

Current receivables from Group companies 18 81,020 94,115

Other receivables 1,696 1,310

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 21 15,031 13,497

Cash and cash equivalents 26 - -

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 97,747 108,922

TOTAL ASSETS 1,241,591 1,312,894

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY 30

Restricted equity  

Share capital (28,001,658 shares, quotient value SEK 0.38) 10,619 10,619

Statutory reserve 28,236 28,236

Capitalised development costs 8,216 42,889

Total restricted equity 47,071 81,744

Non-restricted equity

Retained earnings 309,444 276,801

Profit/loss for the year 141,537 68,754

Total non-restricted equity 450,981 345,555

TOTAL EQUITY 498,052 427,299

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to credit institutions 24 221,920 440,665

Liabilities to Group companies 18 12,768 12,581

Non-current liabilities, total 234,688 453,246

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 4,957 7,905

Current tax liabilities 3,958 -

Liabilities to Group companies 18, 26 478,401 401,789

Other liabilities 22, 24 8,181 11,696

Accrued expenses and prepaid income 23 13,354 10,959

Current liabilities, total 508,851 432,349

TOTAL LIABILITIES 743,539 885,595

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1,241,591 1,312,894
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Amounts in SEK thousand, Note 30
Number  

of shares
Share  

capital
Statutory 

reserve

Capitalised 
development 

costs
Retained 
earnings

Profit/loss  
for the year

Total share-
holders’ 

equity

Transfer of  previous year’s profit - - - - 38,468 -38,468 -

Dividends - - - - -41,182 - -41,182

Long-term incentive programme - - - - 5,984 - 5,984

Reversal of  capitalised development costs - - - 1,242 -1,242 - -

Profit/loss for the year - - - - - 68,754 68,754

Closing balance as at 31 December 2022 28,001,658 10,619 28,236 42,889 276,801 68,754 427,299

Transfer of  previous year’s profit - - - - 68,754 -68,754 -

Dividends - - - - -50,791 - -50,791

Long-term incentive programme - - - - -3,087 - -3,087

Sold previously repurchased shares - - - - 2,682 - 2,682

Reversal of  capitalised development costs - - - -34,673 34,673 - -

Buy-back of own shares - - - - -19,588 - -19,588

Profit/loss for the year - - - - - 141,537 141,537

Closing balance as at 31 December 2023 28,001,658 10,619 28,236 8,216 309,444 141,537 498,052
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Amounts in SEK thousand Note 2023 2022

26

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR

Profit/loss for the year 141,537 68,754

Adjustment for items not affecting cash flow:

  Depreciation and write-downs of  fixed assets 5, 15, 16 6,645 11,061

  Write-down of  shares in subsidiaries 17 - -

  Other financial items 4,901 20,426

  Other adjustments 6,513 5,981

  Income tax¹) 12 -1,594 2,937

Cash flow from operating activities before changes  
in working capital

158,002 109,159

Cash flow from changes in working capital:

  Operating receivables 9,878 9,627

  Operating liabilities 75,801 139,670

Cash flow from current operations 243,681 258,456

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets 16 -217 -164

Disposals of  tangible fixed assets 16 - -

Investments in intangible fixed assets 15 -839 -1,392

Changes in non-current receivables 18 49,043 -153,811

Cash flow from investment activities 47,987 -155,367

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends -50,791 -41,182

Buy-back of own shares -19,588 -

Borrowing 112,018 95,912

Repaid loans -336,176 -158,221

Other cash flow from financing activities 2,869 402

Cash flow from financing activities -291,668 -103,089

CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR - -

Cash and cash equivalents at start of  year - -

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT YEAR-END - -

1) �Income tax SEK 742 thousand (5,064), tax paid SEK 2,336 thousand (2,127).  
Net non-cash adjustment and paid tax SEK -1,594 thousand (2,937).
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Note 1  Accounting policies

Corporate information
Proact IT Group AB (publ)
Frösundaviks Allé 1
SE-169 04 Solna, Sweden
Headquarters: Solna, Sweden
Company registration number: 556494-3446

The consolidated accounts and annual report relating to the 2023 financial year 
for Proact IT Group AB have been prepared by the Board of  Directors and Chief  
Executive Officer, who on 3 April 2024 have approved this annual report and 
these consolidated accounts for publication. The annual report and consolidat-
ed accounts will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2024 
for approval and adoption. The parent company is a Swedish limited company 
(publ) listed on NASDAQ Stockholm and based in Solna, Sweden. The primary 
operations of  the Group involve offering specialist skills in the field of  storage 
and archiving of  large volumes of  business-critical information.

Subsidiary information
The following subsidiaries, as companies, a part of  the consolidated statements 
and therefore are exempt from the obligation to prepare notes and, where appli-
cable, a directors’ report in accordance with the provisions for companies and  
to apply the publication provisions under Article 264 (3) of  the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB).
Proact IT Germany GmbH, HRB 132327, Hamburg.
Proact Deutschland GmbH, HRB 18320, Nuremberg. Proact IT Germany GmbH 
owns 100 per cent of  the shares in Proact Deutschland GmbH.

General accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and interpretation pronouncements from the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as assumed 
by the EU. In addition, Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation 
RFR 1 (Supplementary accounting rules for groups) has been applied.

The annual financial statements for Proact IT Group AB have been compiled 
in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial Report-
ing Board’s recommendation RFR 2 (Accounting for Legal Entities). Differences 
between the parent company’s and the Group’s applied accounting policies 
stem from the limited opportunities for applying IFRS to the parent company as 
a consequence of  the Annual Accounts Act, and in some cases because of  
applicable tax regulations. 

Significant differences between the Group’s  
and parent company’s accounting policies
The parent company is compliant with the same accounting policies as the 
Group, with the following exceptions. Shares in subsidiaries are reported in the 
parent company in accordance with the cost method. There may also be Group 
contributions within the parent company which are reported as appropriations at 
the parent company. As of  the 2016 financial year, the parent company is setting 
aside capitalised development costs relating to software to the Fund for develop-
ment costs within restricted equity. This fund is being reduced with depreciation 
on these capitalised development costs. The parent company reports all leasing 
as operational leasing.

Uncertain assessments and estimates
The balance sheet includes uncertainty in assessment and estimates, primarily 
in the items goodwill and deferred tax receivables attributable to loss carry
forwards.

As regards goodwill and intellectual property rights, the write-down test is 
based on assumptions on the future on the basis of  circumstances which are 
known at the time of testing. When calculating utilisation value of assets assump-
tions are made about future earnings evolution. Future earnings may not accord 
with the assumptions made if  conditions in the market change without the 
company executive adapting the organisation and business in accordance with 
the changed market conditions; in which case future earnings may be worse 
and thus the need for major adjustments to recorded amounts may arise. More 
information on write-down testing can be found in Note 15.

Fiscal deficits are capitalised insofar as they are deemed to be potentially 
usable against future tax profits on the basis of  assumptions on future profit 
development. See Note 12 for further information.

Changes to accounting policies and information
The Group applies the same accounting principles as those described in the 
annual report for 2022. No new standards have been adopted by the EU, and  
no amended or revised standards, interpretations and improvements that are  
to be applied as of  1 January 2023 have resulted in any changes for the Group.

2024 and ahead
IASB has not published any new standards approved by the EU application  
as of  1 January 2024.

Consolidated accounts
Scope of the Group
The Group includes Proact IT Group AB and all companies over which the  
parent company has a controlling influence. The Group checks a company  
when it is entitled to a variable return from its holding in the company and  
has the opportunity to influence this return through its influence within the  
company, which normally means that the parent company owns more than 
50 per cent of  votes for all shares and participations. 

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
day on which controlling influence passes to the Group. They are excluded from 
the consolidated financial statements from the day on which the controlling 
influence ceases. 

Internal Group transactions, balance sheet items, revenues and expenses on 
transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Profit or loss arising from 
intra-group transactions and that are recorded as assets are also eliminated. 
The accounting policies for subsidiaries have been amended where necessary 
in order to guarantee consistent application of  the Group’s principles.

The purchase method
The purchase method is used to report on the Group’s operating acquisitions. 
The purchase price for the acquisition of  a subsidiary is made up of  the fair 
value of  transferred assets, liabilities and the shares issued by the Group.  
The purchase price also includes the fair value of  all assets or liabilities which 
are a consequence of  a contract on a contingent purchase price. Acquisition- 
related expenses are reported in the income statement when they arise. Identi-
fiable acquired assets and transferred liabilities in a business combination are 
initially valued at fair value on the acquisition date. For every acquisition, the 
Group decides whether all non-controlling interests in the acquired company  
are recognised at fair value or at the proportional percentage of  the net assets 
of  the acquired company.

The amount by which the purchase price, any holding without a controlling 
influence and the fair value on the acquisition date of  earlier shareholdings 
exceeds the fair value of  the Group’s share of  identifiable acquired net assets is 
recognised as goodwill. If  this amount falls below the fair value for the assets of  
the acquired subsidiary, in the event of  what is known as a “bargain purchase”, 
the difference is recognised directly in the statement of  comprehensive income.

Translation of foreign subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor (SEK), 
which is the parent company’s functional currency. All amounts are shown in 
SEK thousands unless otherwise stated.

Income statement and balance sheet items, including goodwill, of  companies 
with functional currencies other than SEK are translated into SEK. As a result, 
assets and liabilities are translated at the rate on the balance sheet  
date and the income statement items at the average rate over the period.  
Translation differences are presented as a separate item under Other compre-
hensive income in the statement of  comprehensive income. When investments 
are divested, the previous translation differences are recognised in the state-
ment of  comprehensive income as part of  capital gains.

Transactions and balance sheet items in a currency other than the functional 
currency are translated in each operation to the functional currency using the 
average exchange rate for transactions for the period and the exchange rate as at 
the balance sheet date for balance sheet items.

Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests comprise the part of  subsidiary results and net assets 
which are not directly or indirectly owned by the parent company. The Group han-
dles transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with the Group’s 
shareholders. In the case of  acquisitions from non-controlling interests, the 
difference between the purchase price paid and the current acquired share of  
the book value of the subsidiary’s net assets is recognised against equity. Profits 
and losses on divestments to non-controlling interests are also recognised 
against equity.

In 2010, Proact signed a contract concerning the purchase of  60 per cent of  
Storyflex Inc. The business is being run under the name Proact Czech Republic, 
s.r.o. The parties have entered into a contract which meant that Proact had the 
opportunity/an obligation to acquire the remaining share within three to seven 
years of  the time of  acquisition. A further 20 per cent was acquired in 2013, 
along with a further 6 per cent in 2014. This agreement concerning the opportu-
nity/obligation to acquire the remaining percentage expired in 2018. No agree-
ment concerning buyout has been concluded, which is why the estimated value 
of  the selling options assigned to owners without a controlling influence that 
were previously recognised as a financial liability in the consolidated balance 
sheet has been converted into a share of  equity that is attributable to owners 
without a controlling influence. In 2023, the last 14.7 percent of  Pract Czech 
Republic, s.r.o. were acquired which means that Proact IT Group now owns 
100 percent of  the company. On 28 August 2023, the subsidiary in Lithuania  
was divested. Including these two transactions, Proact IT Group AB no longer 
has a holding without controlling influence.

Notes to the accounts
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Note 2  Reporting by segment

The information below is presented from an executive perspective, which 
means that it is presented in the manner applied in internal reporting. 
Reportable segments are identified on the basis of  internal reporting to 
the highest executive decision-maker. The Group has identified the Chief  
Executive Officer as its highest executive decision-maker. 

The company manages and reports on results by operating segment, 
known as Business Units (BUs). Transactions between units take place un-
der market conditions. Total assets/liabilities per segment are not reported 
to the highest executive decision maker. The same range of  products and 
services is offered within each BU, with the exception of  Proact Finance.

The business units are as follows:

Nordics & Baltics: Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania (divested  
on 28 August 2023), Norway, Sweden and the USA

UK: United Kingdom

West: Belgium and the Netherlands

Central: Czech Republic and Germany

Financial year 2023 Nordics & Baltics UK West Central Groupwide Eliminations Group

External revenues 2,559,222 652,229 794,805 809,031 32,028 - 4,847,315

Internal revenues 60,036 9,489 28,379 24,123 151,988 -274,015 -

Total revenues 2,619,258 661,718 823,184 833,154 184,016 -274,015 4,847,315

Earnings before tax and non-recurring items 211,606 13,204 4,670 -3,100 8,554 - 234,934

Non-recurring items¹) -4,760 -963 -6,450 -2,031 -2,458 - -16,662

Earnings before tax 206,846 12,241 -1,780 -5,131 6,069 - 218,272

Tax -45,179

Profit/loss for the year 173,093

1) �This item is not presented in accordance with IFRS, but as it is included in internal reporting the company has opted to include it in the presentation above, see also Note 13.

Financial year 2022 Nordics & Baltics UK West Central Groupwide Eliminations Group

External revenues 2,458,360 699,317 749,392 771,117 78,637 - 4,756,823

Internal revenues 49,805 12,303 56,393 18,104 136,116 -272,721 -

Total revenues 2,508,165 711,620 805,785 789,221 214,753 -272,721 4,756,823

Earnings before tax and non-recurring items 165,242 28,268 34,358 18,415 -171 - 246,112

Non-recurring items¹) - - - -5,773 3,815 - -1,958

Earnings before tax 165,242 28,268 34,358 12,642 3,644 - 244,154

Tax -52,614

Profit/loss for the year 191,540

1) �This item is not presented in accordance with IFRS, but as it is included in internal reporting the company has opted to include it in the presentation above, see also Note 13.

Geographical information 2023 2022

External revenues¹) ²)

Sweden 1,661,086 1,506,782

United Kingdom 652,229 699,317

The Netherlands 710,602 675,903

Germany 769,121 723,220

Other countries 1,054,277 1,151,601

Total 4,847,315 4,756,823

1) �These revenues are attributable to the geography in question, based on the country 
in which the company is located. There is no other information, e.g. on whether the 
company has sales to customers in other countries.

2) �The section “Risks and risk management” include information stating that an individual 
customer is responsible for most of  the net sales.

Intangible and tangible fixed assets  
and right-of-use assets 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Sweden 250,870 265,188

United Kingdom 322,530 351,454

The Netherlands 274,470 311,782

Germany 548,290 583,457

Other countries 84,038 82,412

Total 1,480,198 1,594,293
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Note 3  Revenues per sector

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition
Proact is applying IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” as 
of  1 January 2018. The basic principle for revenue reporting is that Proact 
should report revenues on the basis of  the fact that everything commences 
from a contract concerning the sale of  a product or service between two 
parties. Thus the first action is to identify a customer contract, which gener-
ates an asset (rights, i.e. a promise of  obtaining remuneration) and a liability 
(commitment, i.e. a promise to transfer goods/services) for the vendor. The 
commitments (performance commitments) in the contract are identified 
and the transaction price is distributed over various commitments, if  there 
is more than one. Income is recognised when the commitment to supply 
promised goods or services to the customer is fulfilled.

Revenue streams
The Group mainly generates revenues through:
•	 System sales – sale and installation of  hardware and software
•	 Maintenance and support services
•	 Independent IT consultancy services
•	 Cloud services 

System sales
Every item of  hardware and software is a separate performance undertak-
ing. Income from the sale of  hardware and software is recognised when 
Proact has transferred all material risks and benefits associated with owner-
ship of  the product, i.e. when the customer takes control of  hardware and/
or software. In most cases this is at the time of  transferring legal ownership 
and when the goods are physically handed over to the purchaser. The sale 
has not been completed in cases where material risks associated with the 
ownership of  the goods remain. The income is recognised only when the 
sale has been completed. 

 Invoicing takes place at the time of  delivery, or in certain cases at the 
time of  approval of  the deliverable. Customer does not have the right to 
return hardware or software after the time of  delivery or approval of  the de-
liverable. The payment terms are normally between 30 and 90 days. Proact 
has no guarantee obligations to the customer.

Proact acts as the principal for the sale of  supplier guarantees and main-
tenance. Income and expenses for this are recognised gross in the income 
statement and on a straight-line basis over the contract period.

Services
Maintenance and support income
Maintenance and support income stems mainly from fixed price service 
agreements. Maintenance and support are two different performance 
commitments, and the income is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the contract period. 

IT consultancy services
IT consultancy services have been divided into six different performance 
commitments: Analysis and Design, Implementation (Installation, Project 
Management, Documentation, Training) and Operation.

Proact sells consultancy services with three different charging options: 
current account, fixed price and time banks. Income is reported as the  
work is carried out in the case of  sales on a current account basis. Fixed 
price projects, or capped current account, are recognised as they are  
completed. Of  the estimated total income for a project, during each period 
the proportion settled corresponds to the share of  estimated total costs  
accumulated during the period. Time banks are billed in advance and 
income is recognised as consultancy hours are used.

Cloud services
Income from cloud services has been divided into five different performance 
commitments: Service Management, Premium Support Plus, Customer Sup-
port, Private Cloud and Shared Cloud.

Income from cloud service activities is recognised when the performance 
commitments are fulfilled, which normally takes place on a straight-line ba-
sis over the term of  the contract. If  the cloud services are sold together with 
installation, any income for installation and costs for installation are reported 
on a straight-line basis over the term of  the contract.

Proact charges cloud services on the basis of  two different measurement 
methods: a fixed basic charge and a fixed price per unit for any usage in 
excess of  an agreed volume included in the fixed basic charge.

The various services (performance commitments) included in a cloud 
service offering can be recognised as a single performance commitment if  
the services mean that all performance commitments are fulfilled over the 
same period. In these cases, the income is recognised for the charge per 
unit that is charged to the customer on a monthly basis.

If  any performance commitment – such as customer support – is performed 
over any period of  time, part of  the income per unit must be allocated to that 
service and recognised when this performance commitment is fulfilled.

Volume discounts
Proact has contracts with customers for the storage of  data where the 
pricing model means that the customer pays a certain price per GB stored. 

The contract includes volume discounts where the price per GB is reduced 
for every additional GB stored if  the customer exceeds certain levels during 
the specific measurement period (month/quarter). With these contracts, the 
customer is charged monthly for a minimum capacity (GB).

Income and usage measured on a monthly basis
With use of  storage space (GB) measured on a monthly basis, the amount 
of  income to which Proact is entitled for the period is determined at the end 
of  the month. The income is recognised on the basis of  the amount invoiced 
during the month.

Income and usage measured on a quarterly basis
Proact has to calculate performance-related pay for volume discounts (price 
per GB) where usage is measured per quarter. Proact has to estimate how 
many GB the customer will use during the period, and hence how much 
expected remuneration is to be recognised.

Rental income
Income from leasing operations is generated on an ongoing basis, and 
rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the rental period. 
Sale of  leasing income amounts to SEK 31,987 thousand (43,065). These 
are included in the Group-wide segment report.

Composite customer contracts
Sales in the form of  what are known as composite customer contracts, 
which may include hardware, software and service in a single contract, are 
common in the Group’s business. If  the contract includes various services 
and/or products and services (a composite customer contract), it is neces-
sary to calculate distribution of  the transaction price between each service 
and product (performance commitment) promised in the contract on the 
basis of  the independent selling price of  the products and services. More 
information on the various performance commitments that can be included 
in a composite contract is provided above, and when income is recognised 
for each performance commitment. 

Costs for obtaining customer contracts
Costs for obtaining customer contracts are capitalised in accordance with 
IFRS 15. In Proact’s case, this relates to sales commissions only. The costs 
are then charged to expenses over the period that Proact believes the 
customer will remain with Proact. For 2023, expensed sales commissions for 
obtaining customer contracts amounted to SEK 17,395 thousand (14,798).

Group

Revenues per operating segment 2023 2022

System sales 2,698,001 2,861,442

Service operations 2,144,644 1,889,002

of which support revenue 595,165 513,344

of which revenue from cloud services 1,097,359 943,844

of which consulting revenue 452,120 431,814

Other revenues 4,670 6,379

Total 4,847,315 4,756,823

Group

Revenues per operating segment 2023 2022

Nordics & Baltics 2,619,258 2,508,165

UK 661,723 711,620

West 823,186 805,785

Central 833,155 789,221

Groupwide 184,008 214,753

Eliminations -274,015 -272,721

Total 4,847,315 4,756,823

Group

Revenues per sector 2023 2022

Public sector 1,570,339 1,272,937

Retail and wholesale trade and services 987,683 970,299

Manufacturing industry 356,087 675,200

Telecoms 531,980 425,783

Banking, finance 293,677 312,847

Energy 266,049 251,155

Media 128,307 113,261

Other details 713,193 735,341

Total 4,847,315 4,756,823
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Note 3 – Continued

Contract assets ¹)

Group

Opening  
balance 

2023

Total system  
and service  

revenues for  
the year

of which revenues  
attributable to  

performance commit-
ments fulfilled and 

invoiced during the year

Contract assets  
settled during the year,  

attributable to performance 
commitments fulfilled  

in previous years

Remaining contract 
assets, attributable  

to performance  
commitments fulfilled  

in previous years

Additional contract 
assets, attributable  

to performance  
commitments fulfilled 

during the year

Closing  
balance

2023

Accrued  
system revenues 6,799 2,698,001 2,692,529 -6,799 - 5,472 5,472

Accrued  
service revenues 114,122 2,144,644 2,022,133 -37,797 76,325 46,186 122,511

Total contract 
assets 120,921 127,983

1) 	There have been no provisions or write-downs relating to contract assets in 2023.

Contract assets ¹)

Group

Opening  
balance 

2022

Total system  
and service  

revenues for  
the year

of which revenues  
attributable to  

performance commit-
ments fulfilled and 

invoiced during the year

Contract assets  
settled during the year,  

attributable to performance 
commitments fulfilled  

in previous years

Remaining contract 
assets, attributable  

to performance  
commitments fulfilled  

in previous years

Additional contract 
assets, attributable  

to performance  
commitments fulfilled 

during the year

Closing  
balance

2022

Accrued  
system revenues 5,513 2,861,442 2,854,643 -5,513 - 6,799 6,799

Accrued  
service revenues 44,591 1,889,002 1,774,880 -27,359 17,232 96,890 114,122

Total  
contract assets 50,104 120,921

1) 	There have been no provisions or write-downs relating to contract assets in 2022.

Contract liabilities

Group

Opening  
balance 

2023

Total system  
and service  

revenues for  
the year

of which taken up as 
income, attributable to 
contracts concluded in 

previous years

of which taken up as  
income, attributable to  

contracts concluded  
during the year

Deferred revenues,  
attributable to  

contracts concluded 
during the year

Deferred revenues,  
attributable to  

contracts concluded 
during the year

Closing 
balance 

2023

Deferred  
system revenues 605,531 2,698,001 334,547 2,363,454 360,640 340,902 701,542

Deferred  
service revenues 755,753 2,144,644 364,460 1,780,184 370,905 492,996 863,901

Total  
contract liabilities 1,361,284 1,565,443

Contract liabilities

Group

Opening 
balance 

2022

Total system  
and service  

revenues for  
the year

of which taken up as 
income, attributable to 
contracts concluded in 

previous years

of which taken up as  
income, attributable to  

contracts concluded  
during the year

Deferred revenues,  
attributable to  

contracts concluded 
during the year

Deferred revenues,  
attributable to  

contracts concluded 
during the year

Closing 
balance 

2022

Deferred  
system revenues 591,146 2,861,442 327,865 2,533,577 291,874 313,657 605,531

Deferred  
service revenues 536,451 1,889,002 331,511 1,557,491 196,156 559,597 755,753

Total  
contract liabilities 1,127,597 1,361,284

Long-term contracts with performance  
commitments that are not yet fulfilled or  
are partially unfulfilled, are expected  
to generate revenues: within 1 year within 1-2 years 3 years and later

Total agreed revenues for  
performance commitments that  

are not yet fulfilled or are  
partially unfulfilled

Expected system revenues 376,332 170,843 199,874 747,049

Expected service revenues 721,825 320,178 280,920 1,322,923

Total 1,098,157 491,021 480,794 2,069,972
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Note 4  Intra-Group purchases and sales

Of the parent company’s total purchasing expenses and sales income, 
SEK 58,770 thousand (54,859), 41 per cent (41), refers to purchasing and 
SEK 151,988 thousand (136,116), 100 per cent (97), refers to sales to other 
Group companies.

Note 5  Depreciation and write-down of fixed assets

Group Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Depreciation/write-downs included  
in expenses for sold goods and services

Depreciation

– Intangible assets 49,173 41,439 - -

– Tangible assets 9,570 14,097 - -

– �Spare parts and  
demonstration equipment 2,148 2,534 - -

– Right-of-use assets 99,631 88,591 - -

Write-downs

– Intangible assets - 3,815 - 3,815

Depreciation included in  
administration expenses

– Intangible assets 6,508 7,238 6,460 6,855

– Tangible assets 24,212 18,959 185 391

– Right-of-use assets 36,867 35,903 - -

Total 228,109 212,576 6,645 11,061

Note 6  Research and development costs

No research and development costs relating to services or products were 
specifically charged to income or capitalised during the year.

Note 7  Operating expenses

The difference between total revenues and recognised operating profit is 
explained by the following expense items:

Group

Operating expenses by expense type 2023 2022

Product cost 2,864,708 2,875,397

Other expenses 214,254 196,052

Personnel expenses 1,310,468 1,212,201

Depreciation and write-downs 228,131 212,576

Total operating expenses 4,617,561 4,496,226

Note 8  Information about auditor’s remuneration

Auditing assignments are the statutory review of  the annual report and 
bookkeeping and administration by the Board of  Directors and Chief  
Executive Officer. 

The above statutory assignments include other quality assurance 
services to be implemented in accordance with statute, the articles of  
association, regulations or contracts.

Tax advice includes both advice and review of  compliance of  tax.
Other services are other assignments.

Group Parent company

Fees and remuneration 2023 2022 2023 2022

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB¹)

  Audit assignments 5,467 4,748 1,217 900

  Other statutory assignments 23 - - -

  Tax advice - - - -

  Other services 109 - 50 -

Other auditors 

  Audit assignments 687 619 - -

 Tax advice 158 - - -

 Other services 110 - - -

Total 6,554 5,367 1,267 900

1) �Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB have been the selected auditors since the 
2017 Annual General Meeting.

Of  audit assignments, SEK 1,785 thousand (1,877) relates to PwC Sweden; 
of  Other statutory assignments, SEK 0 thousand (0) relates to PwC Sweden;  
of  Tax advice fees, SEK 0 thousand (0) relates to PwC Sweden; and of  
Fees for other services, SEK 50 thousand (0) relates to PwC Sweden.

Note 9  �Average number of employees, salaries,  
other remuneration and social costs, etc.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits

Pensions
In defined contribution plans the Group pays contributions to a separate  
legal entity. The contributions are charged to income as they arise. The Group 
has no legal obligations other than paying something above the ongoing 
contributions.

The Group has no defined benefit pension plans.

Severance pay
The Group reports expenses for severance pay in the statement of  com-
prehensive income when it is demonstrably obliged either to give notice to 
employees in accordance with a detailed formal plan without the option of  
recall, or to provide compensation as a result of  an offer made to encour-
age voluntary resignation from employment. Benefits due more than 12 
months after the balance sheet date are discounted to net present value.

Bonus programme
Where there are legal commitments the Group recognises a liability and 
a cost for bonuses based on a formula that allows for sales and/or gains 
in accordance with the company’s bonus models.
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Note 9 – Continued

Average  
number

of which 
women

of which  
men

Average number  
of employees 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Parent company

Sweden 20 18 9 8 11 10

Subsidiaries

Sweden 201 219 20 28 182 191

Norway 40 40 8 8 32 32

Finland 34 33 3 3 32 30

Denmark 14 15 - 1 14 14

Latvia 13 13 4 4 9 9

Lithuania 7 12 2 3 5 9

Estonia 16 18 3 4 13 14

Czech Republic 14 15 4 4 10 11

The Netherlands 281 282 42 41 239 241

Belgium 18 19 1 2 17 17

Spain - 2 - - - 2

Germany 244 231 58 59 186 172

United Kingdom 253 249 56 56 197 193

USA - - - - - -

Total subsidiaries 1,134 1,146 200 211 934 935

Group total 1,154 1,165 209 219 945 945

Board members and 
senior executives

Number of which women of which men

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Group and parent com-
pany

Board members and 
Chief  Executive Officer/
President 6 6 2 2 4 4

Other senior executives 10 10 2 2 8 8

Salaries and remuneration  
to the Board of Directors and  

Chief Executive Officer  
(of which bonuses, etc.)

Salaries and  
remuneration to  
other employees

Salaries and  
remuneration  

Total
Payroll overheads  

(of which pension expenses)

Salaries, remuneration  
and payroll overheads 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Parent company 8,237 8,649 23,125 26,544 31,362 35,193 16,419 16,719

 (1,244) (2,406) (1,244) (2,406) (5,851) (4,976)

Subsidiaries 33,993 34,214 949,335 866,048 983,328 900,262 238,257 222,582

(5,509) (7,801) (5,509) (7,801) (60,594) (53,467)

Group total 42,230 42,863 972,460 892,592 1,014,690 935,455 254,676 239,301

(6,753) (10,207) (6,753) (10,207) (66,445) (58,443)

Remuneration to the Board of Directors and senior executives

Directors’ fees1) Committee fees¹) Total fees

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Chairman of  the Board Eva Elmstedt (until May 2022) - 229 - 46 - 275

Chairman of  the Board Anna Söderlund (from May 2022) 584 335 110 64 694 399

Board member Martin Gren 273 262 60 60 333 322

Board member Annikki Schaeferdiek 273 262 - - 273 262

Board member Thomas Thuresson 273 262 115 115 388 377

Board member Erik Malmberg 273 262 115 115 388 377

Total 1,675 1,612 400 400 2,075 2,012

1) Relates to the actual fee for the calendar year in question according to a resolution by the Annual General Meeting.

Chief Executive Officer Deputy CEO¹) Other senior executives

2023
Jonas Hasselberg

2022
Jonas Hasselberg

2023
Magnus Lönn

2022
Magnus Lönn 2023 2022

Set salaries 4,411 4,201 624 - 21,975 18,417

Performance-related pay 597 1,545 210 - 1,660 3,453

Benefits ²) 1,071 26 9 - 3,687 712

Pension costs 1,330 1,273 76 - 1,872 1,748

Severance pay - - - - - -

Total 7,410 7,045 919 - 29,194 24,330

1) The role of  Deputy CEO was established on 1 October 2023

2) Includes preference shares regarding the long-term incentive programme LTI 2020
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Note 9 – Continued Note 9 – Continued

All Group companies have only defined contribution pension plans. The 
Chief  Executive Officer’s pension premium is equivalent to 30 per cent of  
his set annual salary. The variable element of  the salary provides no entitle-
ment to a pension. Retirement age is 65. The Chief  Executive Officer’s  
pensionable salary for the year amounted to SEK 4,411 thousand (4,201). 
There are no other pension liabilities besides the paid-in pension contribu-
tions. The company must give the Chief  Executive Officer nine months’  
notice of  termination of  employment, and the Chief  Executive Officer must 
give the company six months’ notice. If  employment is terminated by the 
company, severance pay of  nine months’ basic salary will also be payable 
to the Chief  Executive Officer. The severance pay must be offset against 
any payment from a new employer. The variable element of  the Chief  
Executive Officer’s salary is based on the company’s growth and profit, as 
well as employee-related targets. 

There were ten (ten) other senior executives, including Deputy CEO, in 
2023. Of  the other senior executives, six people are employed by the parent 
company and four people are employed by subsidiaries. Proact’s pension 
terms in accordance with a defined-contribution pension plan are applica-
ble to other senior executives. The variable element of  the salary entitles the 
incumbent to a pension in some cases, and retirement age is 65. The pen-
sionable salary for the Deputy CEO amounted to SEK 624 thousand (-) and 
for other senior executives amounted to SEK 17,574 thousand (16,164) for 
the year. There are no other pension liabilities besides the paid-in pension 
contributions. The company must give other senior executives 3-9 months’ 
notice of  termination of  employment, and other senior executives must give 
the company 3-6 months’ notice. Should the company give notice to termi-
nate their employment, other senior executives are entitled to severance pay 
of  0-12 months’ salary. 

The variable element of  the salaries of  other senior executives is based 
on growth, earnings and employee-related targets both locally and within 
the Group. 

During the year, Mark van Liempt Business Unit Director West, René 
Schülein Business Unit Director Central and Danny Duggal VP Commercial 
& Communications have left the group management. Alexander Lechthaler 
has taken office the role of  Business Unit Director West and is part of  the 
group management.

Queries relating to remuneration and benefits to the Chief  Executive Offi-
cer and other senior executives will be dealt with by the Board of  Directors 
and its remuneration committee.

Long-term incentive programme
The 2020 Annual General Meeting decided to introduce a long-term  
incentive programme in the form of  a performance share programme, LTI 
2020. This programme will run from 2020 until April 2023. The programme 
was designed for 17 senior executives and other key personnel. Participa-
tion in LTI 2020 requires participants to own a certain number of  shares in 
Proact throughout the entire period, and they must also be employed by 
Proact throughout the entire period and at the time of  allocation. The Chief  
Executive Officer can invest 900 shares (equivalent to 2,700 after the 2021 
split), senior management 450 shares (equivalent to 1,350 after the 2021 
split) and other key employees 340 shares (equivalent to 1,020 after the 
2021 split). All participants have the same performance targets. The number 
of  shares allocated will be dependent on how well the performance targets 
are met. Participants can be assigned a maximum of  five new shares 
in Proact IT Group AB for every share with which they participate if  the 
performance targets defined by the Board in respect of  net revenues, profit 
per share and return on capital employed for 2022 are met. The shares will 
be allocated after the first quarterly report for 2023 is published. In 2023, 
the 2020 incentive programme expired. Target fulfillment for the program 
amounted to 98 percent of  the maximum level and resulted in an allocation 
of  4.92 shares per invested share.

The 2021 Annual General Meeting decided to introduce a long-term 
incentive programme in the form of  a performance share programme, LTI 
2021. This programme will run from 2021 until April 2024. The programme 
was designed for 17 senior executives and other key personnel. Participa-
tion in LTI 2021 requires participants to own a certain number of  shares in 
Proact throughout the entire period, and they must also be employed by 
Proact throughout the entire period and at the time of  allocation. The Chief  
Executive Officer can invest up to 900 shares (equivalent to 2,700 after 
the 2021 split), senior management up to 450 shares (equivalent to 1,350 
after the 2021 split) and other key employees up to 340 shares (equivalent 
to 1,020 after the 2021 split). All participants have the same performance 
targets. The number of  shares allocated will be dependent on how well the 
performance targets are met. Participants can be assigned a maximum 
of  five new shares in Proact IT Group AB for every share with which they 
participate if  the performance targets defined by the Board in respect of  

net revenues, profit per share and return on capital employed for 2023 are 
met. The shares will be allocated after the first quarterly report for 2024 is 
published. A maximum of  123,000 performance shares can be awarded to 
participants in the programme.

The 2022 Annual General Meeting decided to introduce a long-term 
incentive programme in the form of  a performance share programme, LTI 
2022. This programme will run from 2022 until May 2025. The programme 
was designed for 19 senior executives and other key personnel. Participa-
tion in LTI 2022 requires participants to own a certain number of  shares in 
Proact throughout the entire period, and they must also be employed by 
Proact throughout the entire period and at the time of  allocation. The CEO 
is able to invest up to 2,700 shares, the corporate management team up to 
1,350 shares and other key personnel up to 1,020 shares. All participants 
have the same performance targets. The number of  shares allocated will be 
dependent on how well the performance targets are met. Participants can 
be assigned a maximum of  five new shares in Proact IT Group AB for every 
share with which they participate if  the performance targets defined by 
the Board in respect of  net revenues, profit per share and return on capital 
employed for 2024 are met. The shares will be allocated after the first quarterly 
report for 2025 is published. A maximum of  122,000 performance shares 
can be awarded to participants in the programme. 

The 2023 Annual General Meeting decided to introduce a long-term 
incentive programme in the form of  a performance share programme, LTI 
2023. The programme runs in 2023 until May 2026. The programme was 
aimed at approx. 21 senior executives and other key personnel. Partici-
pation in LTI 2023 presupposes that participants own a certain number of  
shares in Proact throughout the term and partly that the participants are 
employed by Proact during the entire period and at time of  award. The CEO 
can invest up to 4,000 shares, company management up to 2,000 shares 
and other key personnel up to 1,250 shares. All participants have the same 
performance goals. The number of  shares awarded depends on how well 
performance targets are met. For each share participant participates with 
participants can be awarded a maximum of  seven new shares in Proact IT 
Group AB if  they of  the board set the performance targets regarding net 
income, profit per share and return on capital employed in 2025 are met. 
Allocation takes place after the first quarterly report for 2026 is published. 
The maximum the number of  performance shares that can be allocated to 
the participants in the programme amounts to to 256,000 shares.

The cost of  the share-based compensation is based on fair value on the 
grant date and is reported over the vesting period, in line with the earnings 
plan.

 

Options
There are no option programmes.

Proact shareholdings of the Board of Directors,  
the Chief Executive Officer and other senior executives

Board of Directors
Shareholding in Proact

31 Dec 2023

Anna Söderblom 8,900

Martin Gren ¹) 3,237,334

Annikki Schaeferdiek 4,000

Thomas Thuresson 2,500

Erik Malmberg 5,000

1) Holding personally and via legal entity.

Chief Executive Officer and other  
senior executives

Shareholding in Proact
31 Dec 2023

Jonas Hasselberg (CEO and President) 35,411

Linda Höljö 6,950

Jonas Ekman 8,905

Paul de Freene -

Alexander Lechtaler 2,000

Magnus Lönn 6,000

Madeleine Samuelson 3,350

Per Sedihn 500

Martin Thompson 6,219
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Note 12  Income tax

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Taxes
Deferred taxes are calculated according to the balance sheet method for all 
temporary differences that arise between the carrying value and the tax- 
related value of  assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets including as yet 
unexercised tax loss carryforwards are recognised only if  it is deemed that 
they can be exercised. Deferred tax liabilities/tax assets are reassessed 
each year at the current tax rate and reported in the consolidated statement 
of  comprehensive income as part of  tax for the year. Tax liabilities/tax assets 
are assessed at nominal amounts and in accordance with the applicable 
tax rules and rates. Net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised if  they relate to the same tax authority.

Tax expense (-)/tax income (+)

Group Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Current tax for the year -56,759 -76,411 -899 -6,016

Adjustment relating to previous 
years’ tax -339 -2,957 -163 -

Deferred tax 11,919 26,754 320 952

Tax in the income statement -45,179 -52,614 -742 -5,064

During the year, the Group paid tax of  SEK 54,651 thousand (46,866), and 
SEK 13 thousand (2,127) for the parent company.

Reconciliation of effective tax

Group Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Reported profit before tax 218,272 244,154 142,279 73,818

Tax for the parent company, based on 
Swedish 20.6 per cent (20.6) tax rate -44,964 -50,296 -29,309 -15,206

Difference attributable to foreign tax 
rates -3,470 -2,175 - -

Non-deductible expenses -61,141 -23,165 -1,866 -61

Non-taxable income 64,273 20,338 30,597 10,203

Losses for the year for which no  
deferred tax claims have been  
capitalised -4,680 -4,942 - -

Tax effect for the year relating to 
capitalised unused loss carry
forwards from previous years 800 7,492 - -

Tax effect for the year relating to 
non-capitalised unused loss carry-
forwards from previous years 3,909 2,430 - -

Adjustment relating to previous 
years’ tax 347 -2,714 - -

Adjustment relating to previous 
years’ deferred tax - -167 - -

Other taxes -253 585 -164 -

Tax expense (-)/tax income (+) -45,179 -52,614 -742 -5,064

Note 10  Financial revenues

Group Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2023

Interest income 12,368 6,456 8,860 2,702

Interest income from Group companies - - 38,007 15,799

Income from participations in Group 
companies - - 140,675 49,527

Other items 16,150 3,517 - 28,693

Total 28,518 9,973 187,542 96,721

The Group’s entire interest income is attributable to loans and receivables. 
For shares in Group companies, see also Note 17.

Note 11  Financial expenses

Group Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Interest expenses 29,520 20,127 17,027 12,065

Interest expenses to Group companies - - 23,597 5,063

Exchange rate differences 1,747 460 1,918 -

Other items 8,733 5,829 2,854 1,285

Total 40,000 26,416 45,396 18,413

All of  the Group’s interest expenses are attributable to loans and other 
liabilities.
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Note 12 – Continued

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities
There are temporary differences in cases of  differences between the reported tax values of  assets or liabilities. The Group’s temporary differences  
and loss carry-forwards have resulted from deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets associated with the following items:

2023  
Deferred tax assets

Opening  
balance

Deferred tax reported  
in income statement  
(+ income/- expense)

Recognised  
in other compre-
hensive income

Deferred tax  
reported in  

balance sheet
Exchange rate  

differences
Closing  
balance

Unused loss carryforwards 6,711 -1,912 - - 34 4,833

Goodwill - - - - - -

Other intangible assets 896 351 - - - 1,247

Tangible fixed assets 16,903 -2,034 - - -21 14,848

Hedging of  net investment in foreign operations - - -54 54 - -

Provisions -499 1,073 - - 7 581

Other details 1,709 -718 - - -48 943

Net reporting -130 130 - - - -

Total deferred tax assets 25,590 -3,110 -54 54 -28 22,452

2023  
Deferred tax liabilities

Opening  
balance

Deferred tax reported  
in income statement 

 (- income/+ expense)

Recognised  
in other compre-
hensive income

Deferred tax  
reported in  

balance sheet
Exchange rate  

differences
Closing  
balance

Goodwill 7,080 -4,384 - - -55 2,641

Other intangible assets 58,695 -12,457 - -148 312 46,402

Tangible fixed assets -474 -18 - - -6 -498

Provisions 1,640 268 - - -8 1,900

Other details 6,310 1,432 - - -1 7,741

Net reporting -130 130 - - - -

Total deferred tax liabilities 73,121 -15,029 - -148 242 58,186

2022  
Deferred tax assets

Opening  
balance

Deferred tax reported  
in income statement  
(+ income/- expense)

Recognised  
in other compre-
hensive income

Deferred tax  
reported in  

balance sheet
Exchange rate  

differences
Closing  
balance

Unused loss carryforwards 2,280 4,050 - - 381 6,711

Goodwill - - - - - -

Other intangible assets -53 949 - - - 896

Tangible fixed assets 14,236 2,650 - - 17 16,903

Hedging of  net investment in foreign operations - - 6,163 -6,163 - -

Provisions -878 267 - 44 68 -499

Other details 1,437 242 - - 30 1,709

Net reporting -156 42 - - -16 -130

Total deferred tax assets 16,866 8,200 6,163 -6,119 480 25,590

2022  
Deferred tax liabilities

Opening  
balance

Deferred tax reported  
in income statement 

 (- income/+ expense)

Recognised  
in other compre-
hensive income

Deferred tax  
reported in  

balance sheet
Exchange rate  

differences
Closing  
balance

Goodwill 10,556 -3,871 - - 395 7,080

Other intangible assets 52,892 -10,425 - 11,507 4,721 58,695

Tangible fixed assets -463 23 - -18 -16 -474

Provisions -265 1,840 - -3 68 1,640

Other details 6,619 - - -319 10 6,310

Net reporting -156 42 - - -16 -130

Total deferred tax liabilities 69,183 -12,391 - 11,167 5,162 73,121
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Note 12 – Continued

Note 14  Foreign currencies

The currency exchange rates used for the Group’s significant currencies 
throughout the year appear in the table below.

Rate,  
balance sheet date Average rate

Currency 2023 2022 2023 2022

EUR 11.0960 11.1283 11.4765 10.6317

USD 10.0416 10.4371 10.6128 10.1245

GBP 12.7680 12.5811 13.1979 12.4669

NOK 0.9871 1.0572 1.0054 1.0523

CZK 0.4488 0.4607 0.4781 0.4329

DKK 1.4888 1.4965 1.5403 1.4290

JPY 0.0710 0.0792 0.0756 0.0771

Note 13  Non-recurring items

Non-recurring items as stated below have affected the operating profit in 
2023.

Group

2023 2022

Administration expenses -16,662 1,958

Total ¹) -16,662 1,958

1) �Non-recurring items in 2023 relate to cost SEK 16,7 million in operating profits.     
Non-recurring items in 2023 relate to costs associated with the cost savings  
programme (SEK -19.3 million) and the realised gain from the sale of  Proact's 
Lithuanian subsidiary (SEK 3.0 million in operating profit). Exceptional items for  
2022 relate to expenses of  SEK 5.8 million in connection with acquisitions in  
operating profit. In EBITA, exceptional items amounted to SEK 3.2 million, which  
also includes compensation from a supplier, which in the operating profit has  
been offset by impairment of  intangible assets. 

Net deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are reported when there is a legal 
set-off  right for current tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets have 
been reported for unused loss carryforwards relating to tax losses in the sub-
sidiaries where the company has assessed that it will be possible to utilise 
these unused loss carryforwards against future taxable profits. Expected 
taxable profits have been calculated individually for each company. As at 
31 December 2023, it has been deemed possible to utilise 49 per cent of  
total loss carryforwards in the Group against future taxable profits. Deferred 
tax assets/liabilities attributable to deductible temporary differences relating 
to interests in subsidiaries are reported insofar as it is likely that the tempo-
rary difference will be returned in the future and there will be taxable profits 
against which the deduction can be utilised. The profit for the year has 
resulted in the Group being able to report a tax expense amounting to  
SEK 45,149 thousand (52,614).

Parent company

2023
Opening  
balance

Deferred  
tax

Closing  
balance

Unused loss carryforwards - - -

Temporary differences 1,074 320 1,394

Total deferred tax asset (+)/
tax liability (-) 1,074 320 1,394

2022
Opening  
balance

Deferred  
tax

Closing  
balance

Unused loss carryforwards - - -

Temporary differences 122 952 1,074

Total deferred tax asset (+)/
tax liability (-) 122 952 1,074

Unutilised loss carryforwards
Unutilised loss carryforwards are reported as deferred tax assets when it is 
likely that these can be utilised to offset future taxable excesses. The parent 
company’s unutilised loss carryforwards amount to SEK 0 thousand (0). 
The Group’s unutilised loss carryforwards amount to SEK 36,700 thousand 
(96,499), of  which SEK 17,901 thousand (28,740) has been deemed to be 
utilisable, which is why deferred tax receivables of  SEK 4,833 thousand 
(6,711) have been reported.

Can be utilised at the latest by:

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Not subject to time limit 36,700 96,499

Total unutilised loss carryforwards 36,700 96,499

Exchange rate differences 
affecting net result for the 
year (+ profit, - loss)

    Group   Parent company

2023 2022 2023 2022

Recognised within cost of   
sold product 5,914 14,520 - -

Recognised within net financial 
items -1,747 540 -1,918 28,693

Invoicing and goods purchased in foreign currencies
Most goods are purchased from the USA and Europe, and therefore the 
company is affected by changes in the dollar, pound and euro exchange 
rate respectively.
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Note 14 – Continued

Note 15  Intangible fixed assets

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill
Reported goodwill is the difference between – on the one hand – the acqui-
sition value of Group company shares, the value of non-controlling interests 
in the acquired operations and the actual value of  a previously owned 
share, and on the other hand the reported value in the acquisition analysis 
of  acquired assets and transferred liabilities. A write-down test is carried 
out each year, as well as when there is an indication that an asset has fallen 
in value. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purposes 
of  write-down testing. Each and every one of  these cash-generating units 
goes to make up the Group’s Business Units. In cases where the carrying 
amount of  the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the value  
of  the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Invoicing and goods  
purchased in:
(Amounts in SEK thousand)

Group

2023 2022

Invoicing
Percentage of  

total revenues, %
Goods  

purchases
Percentage of  

total purchases Invoicing
Percentage of  

total revenues, %
Goods  

purchases
Percentage of  

total purchases

EUR 2,222,070 46 1,560,234 42 2,208,453 46 1,480,838 40

USD 448,836 9 722,233 19 501,089 11 729,028 20

GBP 702,270 14 294,451 8 724,287 15 362,601 10

Other currencies 1,474,139 30 1,181,199 31 1,322,994 28 1,131,685 31

Total 4,847,315 100 3,758,117 100 4,756,823 100 3,704,152 100

Accounts receivable and accounts payable in foreign currencies

Accounts receivable and 
accounts payable in:
(Amounts in SEK thousand)

Group

2023 2022

Accounts 
receivable

Percentage of  
total accounts 
receivable, %

Accounts  
payable

Percentage of  
total accounts  

payable
Accounts 

receivable

Percentage of  
total accounts 
receivable, %

Accounts  
payable

Percentage of  
total accounts  

payable

EUR 311,108 43 230,011 43 378,951 25 308,426 49

USD 19,463 3 62,342 12 54,442 4 98,600 16

GBP 77,316 11 59,465 11 91,639 6 95,181 15

Other currencies 309,778 43 178,152 34 324,745 65 122,843 20

Total 717,665 100 529,970 100 849,777 100 625,050 100

Hedges as at 31 December 2023
The Group does not utilise hedge accounting. Concluded forward contracts 
constitute financial hedges. 

As at the balance sheet date, hedged accounts receivable amounted 
to USD 2,149 thousand (3,499) and EUR 2,095 thousand (2,375) in the 
Group. In Swedish kronor, the hedged amount totals SEK 44,787 thousand 
(62,941). The effect on profit is recognised within the operating profit in the 
statement of  comprehensive income. The fair value of  these forward con-
tracts as at 31/12/2023 meant an unrealised loss of  SEK 1,509 thousand, 
which has affected the statement of  comprehensive income by an equiva-
lent amount. The previous year’s unrealised result was a loss amounting to 
SEK -627 thousand. 

As at the balance sheet date, hedged accounts payable amounted 
to USD 7,964 thousand (13,643) and EUR 6,382 thousand (8,552) in the 
Group. In Swedish kronor, the hedged amount totals SEK 150,756 thousand 
(237,563). The effect on profit is recognised within the operating profit in 
the statement of  comprehensive income. The fair value of  these forward 
contracts as at 31 December 2023 meant an unrealised loss of  SEK -5,719 
thousand, which has affected the statement of  comprehensive income 
by an equivalent amount. The previous year’s unrealised result was a loss 
amounting to SEK -1,476 thousand.

Hedged receivables in leasing contracts as at the balance sheet date 
amount to EUR 2,465 thousand (3,002), GBP 2,014 thousand (3,629), USD 
0 thousand (11) and NOK 3,067 thousand (7,458) within the Group. In 
Swedish kronor, the hedged amount totals SEK 56,092 thousand (87,065). 
The effect on profit is recognised within the operating profit in the statement 
of  comprehensive income. The fair value of  these forward contracts as 
at 31 December 2023 meant an unrealised loss of  SEK -1,084 thousand 
(-3,809), which has affected the statement of  comprehensive income by an 
equivalent amount.

The parent company had outstanding forward contracts as at 31 December 
2021 totalling EUR 1,386 thousand (2,110) and USD 205 thousand (163). 

The fair value of  these forward contracts as at 31 December 2023 meant 
an unrealised profit of  SEK 223 thousand (-361). 

As at 31 December 2023, accounts receivable in foreign currencies 
amounted to SEK 445,626 thousand (623,152) and accounts payable 
amounted to SEK 386,662 thousand (534,067).

Net investments (excluding goodwill) in foreign subsidiaries
Net assets in foreign subsidiaries divided by currency. When translating for-
eign subsidiaries’ balance sheets to Swedish kronor, the Group is exposed 
to exchange rate fluctuations. The effect on equity in 2023 for the translation 
of  foreign subsidiaries’ accounts to Swedish kronor was SEK -4,573 thou-
sand (29,143).

The Group’s exposure in equity to currency exchange rate fluctuations on 
the balance sheet date was as follows:

2023 2022

Amount in 
thousands Amount

Converted to SEK acc. 
to exchange rate on 
balance sheet date Amount

Converted to SEK acc. 
to exchange rate on 
balance sheet date

CZK 34,647 15,550 46,155 21,263

DKK 21,339 31,770 12,150 18,182

EUR 15,165 168,271 14,533 161,728

GBP 21,773 277,998 20,958 263,675

USD -435 -4,368 -579 -6,043

NOK 68,199 67,319 107,950 114,122

JPY - - 301 24

Other intangible assets
Customer relations, brands and support contracts
Customer relations, brands and support contracts that are identified 
upon the acquisition of  companies are recognised as intangible assets at 
acquisition value (fair value at the time of  acquisition). Customer relations 
and brands are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a maximum of  ten 
years. In each case a useful life is set over which the support contracts are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis according to plan. If  there are indica-
tions of  impairment, the asset’s recoverable amount is assessed. In cases 
where the carrying amount of  the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount, the value of  the asset is written down to its recoverable amount.
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Note 15 – Continued

Capitalised software expenses
Capitalised software expenses are made up of  expenses in connection 
with implementation and adaptation of  software which can be capitalised. 
Capitalised software is depreciated on a straight-line basis over a maximum 
of  5 years. If  there are indications of  impairment, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is assessed. In cases where the carrying amount of  the asset 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the value of  the asset is written 
down to its recoverable amount.
    Proact had no cloud-based solutions in 2023.

Write-downs
Assets that have an indeterminate useful life are not amortised but are tested 
annually to see whether there is any need for write-down. Assets which are 
depreciated/amortised are assessed in terms of  decrease in value whenever 
an event or a change in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. Write-down takes place in the amount by which the 
reported value of  the asset exceeds its recovery value. The recovery value is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value minus sales costs and value in use. When as-
sessing the write-down requirement, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 
at which there are separately identifiable cash-generating units.

Group Parent company

Goodwill
Customer  
relations

Other  
intangible assets Total

Other  
intangible assets 

Opening acquisition value, 1 January 2023 1,062,175 514,782 125,605 1,702,562 69,496

Acquisitions during the year - - 968 968 839

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired companies - - - - -

Acquisitions for the year via corporate acquisitions 67 - - 67 -

Sales/disposals - -1,681 - -1,681 -

Exchange rate differences -1,357 -399 -97 -1,853 -

Closing accumulated acquisition value 1,060,885 512,702 126,476 1,700,063 70,335

Opening depreciation and write-downs, 1 January 2023 -78,537 -315,064 -94,594 -488,195 -55,659

Depreciation for the year - -46,217 -9,487 -55,704 -6,460

Write-downs for the year - - - - -

Sales/disposals - 1,681 - 1,681 -

Exchange rate differences 1,223 1,408 405 3,036 -

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs -77,314 -358,192 -103,676 -539,182 -62,119

Book value as at 31 December 2023 983,571 154,510 22,800 1,160,881 8,216

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2022 896,065 445,912 117,434 1,459,411 68,104

Acquisitions during the year - - 1,648 1,648 1,392

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired companies - - 22 22 -

Acquisitions for the year via corporate acquisitions 117,104 44,179 - 161,283 -

Sales/disposals - - - - -

Exchange rate differences 49,006 24,692 6,500 80,198 -

Closing accumulated acquisition value 1,062,175 514,782 125,605 1,702,562 69,496

Opening depreciation and write-downs, 1 January 2022 -75,357 -262,372 -76,105 -413,834 -44,989

Depreciation for the year - -38,203 -10,473 -48,676 -6,855

Write-downs for the year - - -3,815 -3,815 -3,815

Sales/disposals - - - - -

Exchange rate differences -3,180 -14,490 -4,200 -21,870 -

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs -78,537 -315,064 -94,594 -488,195 -55,659

Book value as at 31 December 2022 983,638 199,718 31,011 1,214,367 13,837

Distribution of goodwill per  
cash-generating unit

Group

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Nordics & Baltics 199,524 200,854

UK 213,889 210,759

West 192,449 193,009

Central 377,709 379,015

Total 983,571 983,637

Cash-generating unit

Group
WACC, before tax

Group
WACC, after tax

Group Growth  
in the terminal period

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Nordics & Baltics 10.8% 10.9% 10.6% 10.8% 2.0% 3.0%

UK 10.5% 10.6% 10.4% 10.5% 2.0% 3.0%

West 10.5% 10.6% 10.3% 10.5% 2.0% 3.0%

Central 10.7% 10.8% 10.6% 10.7% 2.0% 3.0%
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Note 16  Tangible fixed assets

Note 15 – Continued

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at acquisition value less 
depreciation and write-downs. Expenditure that can be directly attributed  
to the acquisition of  the asset is included in the historical cost. Depreciation 
of  property, plant and equipment is based on the acquisition value of  the 
assets and the estimated useful life. In this regard, a depreciation time of  
three years is applied for computers and technical equipment, five years 

for machinery and equipment, three years for spare parts and 50 years 
for buildings. The useful life of  the assets is tested on every balance sheet 
date and adjusted where required. The book value of  assets is written down 
to recovery value if  the asset’s book value exceeds its assessed recovery 
value. Profits and losses during disposal are determined through compari-
son between the sales income and reported value, and are reported in the 
statement of  comprehensive income.

Group Parent company

Computers  
and machines Inventories Spare parts Buildings Total

Computers  
and machines

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2023 282,941 69,683 72,433 19,033 444,090 3,833

Acquisitions during the year¹) 29,478 10,682 3,129 766 44,055 217

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired  
companies - - - - - -

Sales/disposals -32,005 -3,431 -9,430 -73 -44,939 -

Reclassifications¹) - - - - - -

Exchange rate differences -190 -398 -78 276 -390 -

Closing accumulated acquisition value 280,224 76,536 66,054 20,002 442,816 4,050

Opening depreciation and write-downs, 1 January 2023 -239,456 -55,558 -69,792 -5,117 -396,923 -3,571

Depreciation for the year -25,414 -7,616 -2,148 -361 -35,539 -185

Sales/disposals 31,484 3,332 9,371 73 44,260 -

Reclassifications -9,140 - - - -9,140 -

Exchange rate differences 929 604 153 -62 1,624 -

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs -241,597 -59,238 -62,416 -5,467 -368,718 -3,756

Book value as at 31 December 2023 38,627 17,298 3,638 14,535 74,098 294

Opening acquisition value as at 1 January 2022 331,342 60,427 68,834 18,414 479,017 3,702

Acquisitions during the year¹) 35,155 3,139 1,066 - 39,360 164

Accumulated acquisition values in acquired  
companies 501 1,558 - - 2,059 -

Sales/disposals -87,512 -1,159 -24 - -88,695 -33

Reclassifications¹) -19,061 2,049 - - -17,012 -

Exchange rate differences 22,516 3,669 2,557 619 29,361 -

Closing accumulated acquisition value 282,941 69,683 72,433 19,033 444,090 3,833

Opening depreciation and write-downs, 1 January 2022 -279,604 -46,345 -65,298 -4,657 -395,904 -3,213

Depreciation for the year -27,402 -5,356 -2,534 -298 -35,590 -391

Sales/disposals 86,286 583 4 - 86,873 33

Reclassifications 1,162 -1,618 499 - 43 -

Exchange rate differences -19,898 -2,822 -2,463 -162 -25,345 -

Accumulated depreciation and write-downs -239,456 -55,558 -69,792 -5,117 -369,923 -3,571

Book value as at 31 December 2022 43,485 14,125 2,641 13,916 74,167 262

1) �Includes SEK 9,140 thousand (17,012) reclassified from fixed assets Computers and machines to financial lease sales.

Write-down test
Any goodwill write-down requirements are tested each year by calculating  
the future utilisation value of  each cash-generating unit. Impairment require-
ments are present if  the reported value of  goodwill exceeds the calculated 
utilisation value. 

When estimating the future utilisation value, the future cash flows of  the 
respective cash-generating units have been calculated based on the forth-
coming year’s budget and forecasts for a further 4 years, assuming an eternal 
growth rate of  2 per cent (3). 

A Weighted Average Cost of  Capital (WACC) before and after tax of  be-
tween 10-11 per cent (10-11) has been used for calculation, depending on risk 
factor in the various cash-generating units. Besides these important assump-
tions in respect of  WACC and future growth, profitability (margin on profit be-
fore tax) of  6-8 per cent (6-8) has been estimated. The corporate executive’s 
determination of  important assumptions, and the values inherent in these, are 
based on a reflection of  earlier experiences. Eternal growth of  2 per cent has 

been deemed reasonable on the market in which the company is active. The 
assessment is based on a weighted analysis of  both products and services, 
and also on higher growth earlier in the first years of  the forecast period.

The company has implemented sensitivity analyses based on isolated 
changes of  lower budget levels, lower growth figures and higher weighted 
capital costs. 

In the event of  an increase of  2 percentage points in weighted average  
cost of  capital, all cash-generating units would still have good margins for  
the recoverable amount compared with the reported value.

If  the growth rate in terms of  net sales were to fall by 1 percentage point 
during the forecast period, the recoverable amount for all cash-generating 
units would still exceed the reported values by a good margin.

If  the long-term growth rate in terms of  net sales were to fall by 1 percent-
age point, the recoverable amount for all cash-generating units would still 
exceed the reported values by a good margin.

No write-down requirement was deemed to exist as at 31 December 2023.
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Note 17  Shares in Group companies

Shares in Group companies
Company  
registration number Headquarters

Number of 
shares

Share of  
equity, %

Book value,  
SEK thousand 

31 Dec 2023

Book value,  
SEK thousand 

31 Dec 2022

Proact IT Sweden AB 556328-2754 Solna, SE 47,456,047 100.00 96,672 96,672

Proact IT Norge AS 971,210,737 Oslo, NO 3,475,000 100.00 49,523 49,523

Proact Finland OY 1084241-2 Espoo, FI 20,000 100.00 15,519 15,519

Proact Systems A/S 18,803,291 Brøndby, DK 600 100.00 - -

Proact Finance AB 556396-0813 Sollentuna, SE 500,000 100.00 5,000 5,000

Proact IT Latvia SIA LV40003420036 Riga, LV 850 100.00 8,499 8,499

Proact Lietuva UAB 110861350 Vilnius, LT 7,386 73.86 - 7,845

Proact Netherlands B.V. 20136449 Breda, NL 44,419  100.00 221,789 79,131 

Proact Estonia AS 115131151 Tallinn, EE 22,757 100.00 11,388 11,388

Proact IT (UK) Ltd 07493526 Chesterfield, UK 775,000 100.00 62,112 62,112

Databasement International 
Holding B.V. 27326003 Zoetermeer, NL 1,802 100.00 - 142,658

Proact Belgium BVBA 090211403 Drongen, BE 6,408 100.00 - -

Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. 24799629 Prague, CZ - 85.30 21,882 13,455

Proact U.S. LLC - Delaware, USA - 100.00 - -

Proact IT Germany GmbH HRB 132327 Hamburg, DE 210,000 100.00 - -

492,384 491,802

Any impairment requirements in respect of  shares in subsidiaries are tested each year by calculating the future utilisation value of  each individual subsidiary, 
as referred to in Note 15. 

In 2023, a further 14.7 per cent was acquired from non-controlling interests in Proact Czech Republic Ltd, amounting to SEK 8,427 thousand. 
The shares in Proact Lietuva UAB were sold during the year. The value of  shares in Databasement International Holding B.V. was transferred to  
Proact Netherlands B.V. in 2023.

Shares in subsidiaries

  Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Opening book value 491,802 491,802

Acquisitions 8,427 -

Disposals -7,845 -

Closing accumulated acquisition value 492,384 491,802

BOOK VALUE 492,384 491,802

Income from participations in  
Group companies

  Parent company

2023 2022

Dividends, earned 148,520 49,527

Total 148,520 49,527

Acquisition of further interests in 2023 from non-controlling interests
In 2023, the company acquired a further 14.7 per cent of  shares in Proact 
Czech Republic Ltd from non-controlling interests. Following the acquisition, 
the company holds 100 per cent of  shares in the subsidiary. The purchase 
price amounted to CZK 17,922 thousand (SEK 8,427 thousand).

Disposal of interests in 2023 from non-controlling interests
Shares in Proact Lietuva UAB were sold on 28 August 2023. Following the 
disposal, the company holds 0 per cent of  shares in the subsidiary. The 
purchase price amounted to SEK 0 thousand.

Profit, equity and cash flow pertaining to non-controlling interests

Equity Profit Cash flow 

Percentage of  
non-controlling  

interests Equity Profit Cash flow 

Percentage of  
non-controlling  

interests

SEK thousand 31 Dec 2023 2023 2023 2023
 

31 Dec 2022 2022 2022 2022

Proact Lietuva UAB - -384 -7,745 26 762 -217 870 26

Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o. - - - - 3,127 499 845 15

- -384 -7,745 3,888 282 1,714

Acquisition of further interests in 2022 from non-controlling interests
No further interests from non-controlling interests have been acquired in 
2022.
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Note 18  �Receivables and liabilities with Group  
companies and Other long-term receivables

Parent company

<1 year 1-5 years >5 years

Receivables with group companies  
due within 150,486 184,927 399,253

Liabilities with Group companies  
due within 477,818 - 13,189

There are no subordinated loans to foreign subsidiaries.

Other non-current receivables

Group

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Blocked accounts of  tenancy agreements 1,222 1,274

Receivables relating to financial leasing 40,255 36,669

Pre-paid expenses and accrued income – 
Non-current¹) 502,622 509,495

Other non-current receivables 506 747

Total 544,605 548,185

1) See also Note 21.

Note 19  Inventories

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Stock is valued at the lowest of  the acquisition value and the net selling 
price. The net realisable value is the estimated sales price in operating 
activities, after deductions for estimated expenses for preparation and for 
achieving a sale. 

The acquisition value for inventories is based on the first-in first-out prin-
ciple (FIFO) and includes costs arising upon acquisition of  the inventories 
and their transport to their current location and condition.
     Inventories are valued at the acquisition value or the net realisable value, 
whichever is the lower. The reported value of  goods in stock may need 
to be written down if  they are exposed to damage, if  all or some of  them 
become too old or if  their sale prices decline. Stock value as at 31 December 
2023 amounted to SEK 15,442 thousand (64,065). During the year, the 
Group wrote down inventories to the value of  SEK 276 thousand (170) due 
to obsolescence. At the same time, write-downs amounting to SEK 493 
thousand (149) were reversed in 2023 as it was possible to sell inventories 
written down previously.

Note 20  Accounts receivable

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are amounts attributable to customers in respect 
of  goods or services sold that are implemented in current operations. 
Accounts receivable generally fall due for payment within 30-90 days, and 
so all accounts receivable have been classified as current assets. Accounts 
receivable are initially recognised at the transaction price. The Group holds 
accounts receivable for the purpose of  collecting contractual cash flows.

Provisions for uncertain receivables and write-downs
The Group applies the simplified method for calculating expected credit 
losses. This method means that expected losses throughout the entire term 
of  the receivable are used as a basis for accounts receivable and contract 
assets.

Provision for expected credit loss is based on the credit risk characteris-
tics of  the accounts receivable and contract assets and the number of  days 
of  delay. 

The contract assets are attributable to as yet uninvoiced work and essen-
tially have the same risk characteristics as already invoiced work for the 
same type of  contract. 

The Group it is therefore of  the opinion that the loss levels for accounts 
receivable is a reasonable estimate of  the loss levels for contract assets.

Expected credit losses are based on customers’ payment histories 
together with the loss history. 

Accounts receivable and contract assets are impaired when it has been 
established that it will not be possible to recover any amount.

Credit losses are recognised in the income statement as a cost of  goods 
and services sold. 

Group

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Accounts receivable 718,786 850,647

Provisions for impairment  
of  accounts receivable -1,121 -870

Accounts receivable – net 717,665 849,777

The Group has had customer losses of  SEK 49 thousand in 2023. 
The Group has had customer losses of  SEK 296 thousand in 2022. 
See the section entitled “Risks and risk management” for risks and age 
analysis relating to accounts receivable.
    Contract assets are reported separately: see Note 3 Revenue and Note 
21 Interim receivables.
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Note 21  �Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Current

Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Prepaid rental costs 4,559 5,081 - -

Prepaid leasing fees 2,935 3,807 - -

Prepaid insurance premiums 8,417 5,402 3,692 -

Prepaid maintenance 
charges 200,464 168,128 8,882 -

Prepaid system costs 320,233 292,207 - -

Other prepaid expenses 52,239 78,045 2,457 12,280

Accrued service revenues 56,432 38,620 - -

Accrued system revenues 5,472 6,799 - -

Other accrued revenues 6,568 14,403 - 1,217

Total current interim  
receivables 657,319 612,492 15,031 13,497

Non-current

Prepaid rental costs - 22 - -

Prepaid leasing fees 33 11 - -

Prepaid maintenance 
charges 134,053 117,141 - -

Prepaid system costs 280,748 298,573 - -

Other prepaid expenses 17,863 12,256 1,448 -

Accrued service revenues 66,079 76,325 - -

Accrued system revenues - - - -

Other accrued revenues 3,846 5,167 - -

Total non-current interim 
receivables ¹) 502,622 509,495 1,448 -

1) �Non-current interim receivables are included as part of  Other non-current  
receivables in the balance sheet.

Note 22  Other liabilities

Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Employee tax at source 30,561 34,058 798 793

Social security contributions 44,298 14,535 6,056 7,633

VAT liabilities 50,279 70,171 1,327 -

Advance payments from  
customers 3,427 2,605 - -

Deferred payment of  part of  
purchase price 5,031 4,957 - -

Other items 32,432 35,651 - 361

Total 166,028 161,977 8,181 8,787

All liabilities are due for payment within one year.

Note 23  �Accrued expenses and deferred income

Current

Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Accrued wages  
and salaries 60,673 62,146 3,479 5,021

Accrued holiday  
pay liabilities 51,783 44,640 3,485 2,372

Accrued social costs 11,355 38,617 - 373

Accrued servicing costs 11,740 14,411 - -

Accrued non-recurring 
costs 6,536 2,518 1,304 -

Prepaid system revenues 342,473 289,719 - -

Prepaid service revenues 456,613 364,480 - -

Other items 71,881 120,162 5,086 3,193

Total current interim 
liabilities 1,013,054 936,693 13,354 10,959

Non-current

Accrued servicing costs - 3,316 - -

Prepaid system revenues 395,980 370,905 - -

Prepaid service revenues 359,447 360,640 - -

Other items 1,516 - - -

Total non-current interim 
liabilities ¹) 756,943 734,861 - -

1) �Non-current interim liabilities are included as part of  Other non-current liabilities  
in the balance sheet.
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Note 24  Financial assets and liabilities

Inclusion of derivative instruments 
Derivatives are included in the balance sheet on contract date and are val-
ued at fair value, both at first inclusion and when subsequently reassessed. 
All derivatives are reported on an ongoing basis at fair value, with value 
changes reported in the statement of  comprehensive income within cost 
of  sold product for the derivatives linked with accounts payable or financial 
items respectively for the derivatives linked with financial leasing contracts.

Calculation of fair value
The fair value of  financial instruments such as forward exchange contracts 
which are not traded on an active market is established by using valuation 
techniques. Such methods may include an analysis of  recent transactions 
of  similar instruments or discounting of  anticipated cash flows. 

The nominal value less any assessed credits, for accounts receivable 
and liabilities to suppliers, are assumed to correspond to their fair value. 

The fair value of  additional purchase prices is calculated by discounting 
the future contracted or assessed cash flow at the current market rate of  
interest available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value 
of  financial liabilities is calculated for disclosure in a note by discounting 
the future contracted or assessed cash flow at the current market rate of  
interest available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Other financial liabilities 
valued at accrued  
acquisition cost

Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Non-interest-bearing

Currency derivatives 1,669 5,496 - 361

Other liabilities¹) 42,819 57,014 2,350 20,854

Accounts payable 529,970 625,050 4,957 7,905

Total non-interest-bearing 574,458 687,560 7,307 29,120

Interest-bearing

Liability on acquisition – 
Current¹) - 4,957 - -

Liability on acquisition –  
Non-current¹) - 12,786 - -

Bank loans,  
of  which current portion - - - -

Bank loans,  
of  which non-current portion 221,920 440,665 221,920 440,665

Leasing liabilities²) 246,350 290,572 456 -

Total interest-bearing 468,270 748,980 222,376 440,665

Total other financial  
liabilities valued at  
accrued acquisition cost

1,042,728 1,436,540 229,683 469,785

1) �Deferred payment of  part of  the purchase price for acquisition of  sepago GmbH SEK 
0 thousand (12,786) and SEK 5,031 thousand (4,957) for acquisition of  Cetus 
Solutions Ltd.

2) �See also Note 27.

Interest-bearing liabilities, 
Group, 31 Dec 2023 Interest Maturity

Book  
value

Utilised overdraft facility, 
Nordea¹) ²) Base rate +2.0% 31/12/2023 -

Bank loan, Nordea ²) STIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2026 -

Bank loan, Nordea ²) EURIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2026 -

Bank loan, Svensk 
Exportkredit ²) EURIBOR 3M 1.8% 16/07/2026 221,920

Leasing liability³) 4.17% - 7.48% 2024 51,565

Leasing liability³) 3.06% - 6.19% 2025-2028 194,785

Total interest-bearing liabilities 468,270

1) Interest will be payable over three months.
2) �The limit for the Group overdraft facility is SEK 154,488 thousand, and for the parent 

company SEK 150,000 thousand, of  which the Group amount utilised amounted to 
SEK 0 thousand and SEK 0 thousand for the parent company. 

3) Interest will be payable over one month.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial assets and liabilities
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial 
assets valued at fair value via the statement of  comprehensive income, fi-
nancial assets valued at accrued acquisition cost, financial instruments held 
to maturity and financial assets that can be sold. Classification depends on 
the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. The Group establish-
es the classification of  the instruments at the time of  first recognition. Only 
the categories relevant to the Group are described below.

The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories: 
financial liabilities valued at fair value via the statement of  comprehensive 
income, plus other financial liabilities valued at accrued acquisition cost.

Risks linked with financial instruments, sensitivity analyses, etc. are described 
in the section entitled “Risks and risk management” in the annual financial 
statements.

Financial assets valued at fair value via the statement  
of comprehensive income
Assets in this category are constantly valued at fair value with value changes 
recorded in the statement of  comprehensive income. This category consists 
of  two subgroups: financial assets and liabilities held for trading and other 
financial assets and liabilities which the company has initially opted to value 
at fair value in the statement of  comprehensive income. A financial asset is 
classified as a holding for trade if  it is acquired with a view to being sold in 
the short term. Proact only has derivatives in the group financial asset held 
for trading.

Financial assets valued at accrued acquisition cost
Loans receivable and accounts receivable are non-derivative financial assets 
with determined or determinable payments which are not listed on an active 
market. It is significant that they are incurred when the Group supplies money, 
products or services directly to a customer without the intention of  purchas-
ing with the accrued claim. They are included in current assets, with the 
exception of  items with due dates more than 12 months after the balance 
sheet date which are classified as fixed assets. The Group’s financial lease 
receivables are reported in the balance sheet in the other non-current 
receivables entry.

Assets in this category are valued at accrued acquisition cost after the 
acquisition date. Accrued historical cost is determined from the effective 
interest that is calculated at the date of  acquisition. Accounts receivable  
are recognised at the amount expected to be paid following individual 
assessment. The expected maturity of  accounts receivable is short, and 
so the value has been recognised at a nominal amount without discount. 
Provision for expected credit loss is based on the credit risk characteristics 
of  the accounts receivable and contract assets and the number of  days of  
delay. The contract assets are attributable to as yet uninvoiced work and  
essentially have the same risk characteristics as already invoiced work 
for the same type of  contract. The Group it is therefore of  the opinion that 
the loss levels for accounts receivable is a reasonable estimate of  the loss 
levels for contract assets. Expected credit losses are based on customers’ 
payment histories together with the loss history. Write-downs of  accounts 
receivable are reported in operating expenses. 

Financial liabilities valued at fair value via the statement  
of comprehensive income
Liabilities in this category are constantly valued at fair value with value 
changes recorded in the income statement. This category comprises 
financial liabilities reported by the company at fair value via the statement 
of  comprehensive income. Proact has carried out present value calcula-
tion of  additional purchase prices as they arise in this category, as well as 
derivatives. 

The effective portion of  the change in fair value of  a derivative instrument  
identified as a net investment that qualifies for hedge accounting is recog
nised through other comprehensive income in the hedging reserve in equity. 
The ineffective portion of  the change in value is recognised immediately in 
the income statement as other revenues or other expenses. 

The portion of  the gain or loss on a hedging instrument that is deemed 
to be an effective hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity. The gain or loss attributable to the ineffective portion 
is recognised directly in the income statement as other income or other 
expenses. 

Other financial liabilities valued at accrued acquisition cost
Accounts payable are without security and are normally paid within 30 days. 
The fair value of  accounts payable and other liabilities is considered to 
correspond to their recognised values, as they are current by nature.

Borrowing is initially recognised at fair value, net after transaction costs. 
Borrowing is then recognised at accrued cost and any difference between 
the amount received (net after transaction costs) and the repayment amount 
is recognised in the statement of  comprehensive income, distributed across 
the loan period, with the application of  the effective interest method. Ac-
counts payable are without security and are normally paid within 30 days.
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Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans that fall due in 2024 
amount to SEK 0 thousand. Of  the bank loans above, maturing on 16 July 
2026, SEK 221,920 thousand relates to a three-year loan facility of  EUR 20 
million from Svensk Exportkredit and a three-year credit facility from Nordea 
totalling SEK 600 million. The credit facility from Nordea has two extension 
options of  one year each, occurring after 12 and 24 months respective-
ly. The second extension option was exercised in 2023. There are no 
drawings on the Nordea credit facility as at 31 December 2023. The bank 
loans includes lending terms in respect of  net debt in relation to EBITDA. 
The lending terms have been met by a good margin in 2023 and as at 31 
December 2023. 

Interest-bearing liabilities, Group, 
31 Dec 2022 Interest Maturity Book value

Liability on acquisition¹) 0% - 10% 2023-2024 17,743

Utilised overdraft facility, 
Nordea ²) ³) Base rate +2.0% 31/12/2022 -

Bank loan, Nordea ³) STIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2025 154,000

Bank loan, Nordea ³) EURIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2025 286,665

Leasing liability 4) 4.17% - 7.48% 2023 113,416

Leasing liability 4) 3.06% - 6.19% 2024-2027 177,156

Total interest-bearing liabilities 748,980

1) �The interest rate used in the present value calculation for sepago GmbH is 7.5 per 
cent with a term until 2023 and 10 per cent with a term until 2024, and 0 per cent for 
Cetus with a term until 2023.

2) Interest will be payable over three months.
3) �The limit for the Group overdraft facility is SEK 159,214 thousand, and for the parent 

company SEK 150,000 thousand, of  which the Group amount utilised amounted to 
SEK 0 thousand and SEK 0 thousand for the parent company. 

4) Interest will be payable over one month.

Interest-bearing liabilities, parent 
company, 31 December 2023 Interest Maturity

Book 
value

Bank loan, Nordea¹) STIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2026 -

Bank loan, Nordea¹) EURIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2026 -

Bank loan, Svensk 
Exportkredit ¹) EURIBOR 3M 1.8% 16/07/2026 221,920

Total interest-bearing liabilities 221,920

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans that fall due in 2024 
amount to SEK 0 thousand. Of  the parent company’s bank loans above, 
maturing on 16 July 2026, SEK 221,920 thousand relates to a three-year 
credit facility of  EUR 20 million from Svensk Exportkredit and a three-year 
credit facility from Nordea totalling SEK 600 million. The credit facility from 
Nordea has two extension options of  one year each, occurring after 12 
and 24 months respectively. The second extension option was exercised in 
2023. There are no drawings on the Nordea credit facility as at 31 Decem-
ber 2023. This bank loan includes lending terms in respect of  net debt in 
relation to EBITDA. The lending terms have been met by a good margin in 
2023 and as at 31 December 2023. 

1) Interest will be payable over three months.

Interest-bearing liabilities, parent 
company, 31 December 2022 Interest Maturity

Book 
value

Bank loan, Nordea ¹) STIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2025 154,000

Bank loan, Nordea ¹) EURIBOR 3M +1.25% 16/07/2025 286,665

Total interest-bearing liabilities 440,665

Of the above interest-bearing liabilities, current loans that fall due in 2023 
amount to SEK 0 thousand. Of  the parent company’s bank loan above, 
maturing on 16 July 2025, this amount of  SEK 440,665 thousand (482,920) 
relates to a three-year credit facility totalling SEK 600 million. This credit 
facility has two extension options of  one year each, occurring after 12 and 
24 months respectively. The first extension option was exercised in 2022. 
This bank loan includes lending terms in respect of  net debt in relation to 
EBITDA. The lending terms have been met by a good margin in 2022 and 
as at 31 December 2022. 

1) Interest will be payable over three months.

Group term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2023

Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request <3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Currency derivatives - - 587 1,082 -

Liability on acquisition – 
Current element 1) - - - - -

Liability on acquisition – 
Non-current element 1) - - - - -

Bank loans, of  which 
non-current portion - 3,189 9,564 209,214 -

Accounts payable - 529,970 - - -

Other liabilities - 42,819 - - -

Leasing liabilities - 12,891 38,674 194,785 -

- 588,869 48,825 405,081 -

1) �Liability on acquisition of  sepago GmbH SEK 0 thousand (12,786), and on  
acquisition of  Cetus Solutions Ltd SEK 5,031 thousand (4,957).

Group term analysis, financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022

Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request <3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Currency derivatives - - 4,030 1,466 -

Liability on acquisition – 
Current element  ¹) - - - 4,957 -

Liability on acquisition – 
Non-current element  ¹) - - - 12,786 -

Bank loans, of  which 
non-current portion - 4,056 12,168 440,665 -

Accounts payable - 625,050 - - -

Other liabilities - 57,014 - - -

Leasing liabilities - 15,123 45,368 241,965 -

- 701,252 61,566 701,839 -

1) �Liability on acquisition of  sepago GmbH SEK 12,786 thousand (0), and on  
acquisition of  Cetus Solutions Ltd SEK 4,957 thousand (8,099).

Parent company term analysis, financial liabilities  
as at 31 December 2023

Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request <3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Bank loans, of  which 
non-current portion - 3,189 9,564 209,214 -

Accounts payable - 4,957 - - -

- 8,146 9,564 209,214 -

Parent company term analysis, financial liabilities  
as at 31 December 2022

Contractual undiscounted amounts including future interest payments

On request <3 mths 3-12 mths 1-5 years >5 years

Bank loans, of  which 
non-current portion - 4,056 12,168 440,665 -

Accounts payable - 7,905 - - -

- 11,961 12,168 440,665 -
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Financial assets and liabilities per valuation category

Group, 2023

Assets and liabilities valued  
at fair value through statement 

of comprehensive income

Financial assets  
valued at accrued  

acquisition cost

Other financial liabilities  
valued at accrued  

acquisition cost

Total  
carrying  
amount

Fair 
value²)

Lease receivables - 46,675 - 46,675 46,675

Rent deposits - 978 - 978 978

Accounts receivable - 717,665 - 717,665 717,665

Other receivables - 129,105 - 129,105 129,105

Cash and cash equivalents - 547,897 - 547,897 547,897

Currency derivatives¹) - - - - -

Total financial assets ³) 4) - 1,442,320 - 1,442,320 1,442,320

Accounts payable - - 529,970 529,970 529,970

Other liabilities - - 42,819 42,819 42,819

Bank loans - - 221,920 221,920 221,920

Liabilities, acquisitions - - 5,031 5,031 5,031

Currency derivatives¹) 1,669 - - 1,669 1,669

Leasing liabilities - - 246,350 246,350 246,350

Total financial liabilities ³) 1,669 - 1,046,090 1,047,759 1,047,759

1) �Assets and liabilities relating to currency derivatives are recognised in Other non-current receivables, Other receivables, Other non-current liabilities,  
Other liabilities and Accrued expenses.

2) Recognised values are a reasonable estimate of  fair value.
3) �The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is described in the section entitled Risks and risk management.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date corresponds to the fair value for each category of  financial assets stated above. 
4) Financial assets pledged as security, see Note 25.

Financial assets and liabilities per valuation category

Group, 2022

Assets and liabilities valued  
at fair value through statement 

of comprehensive income

Financial assets 
valued at accrued  

acquisition cost

Other financial liabilities  
valued at accrued  

acquisition cost

Total  
carrying  
amount

Fair 
value²)

Lease receivables - 70,489 - 70,489 70,489

Rent deposits - 1,029 - 1,029 1,029

Accounts receivable - 849,777 - 849,777 849,777

Other receivables - 140,487 - 140,487 140,487

Cash and cash equivalents - 505,684 - 505,684 505,684

Currency derivatives¹) - - - - -

Total financial assets ³) 4) - 1,567,466 - 1,567,466 1,567,466

Accounts payable - - 625,050 625,050 625,050

Other liabilities - - 57,014 57,014 57,014

Bank loans - - 440,665 440,665 440,665

Liabilities, acquisitions - - 4,957 4,957 4,957

Currency derivatives¹) 5,496 - - 5,496 5,496

Leasing liabilities - - 290,572 290,572 290,572

Total financial liabilities ³) 5,496 - 1,418,258 1,423,754 1,423,754

1) �Assets and liabilities relating to currency derivatives are recognised in Other non-current receivables, Other receivables, Other non-current liabilities,  
Other liabilities and Accrued expenses.

2) Recognised values are a reasonable estimate of  fair value.
3) �The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is described in the section entitled Risks and risk management.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date corresponds to the fair value for each category of  financial assets stated above. 
4) Financial assets pledged as security, see Note 25.

Borrowing

Group, 2023 Group, 2022

Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total

Loans with pledged assets

Bank loans - 221,920 221,920 - 440,665 440,665

Total loans with pledged assets - 221,920 221,920 - 440,665 440,665

Loans without pledged assets

Accounts payable 529,970 - 529,970 625,050 - 625,050

Total loans without pledged assets 529,970 - 529,970 625,050 - 625,050

Total borrowing 529,970 221,920 751,890 625,050 440,665 1,065,715
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Sensitivity analysis – Currency risk
The Group’s profit is affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates in relation to SEK.  
Many of  the Group’s purchases are made in EUR and USD, while at the same time sales to end customers are made in local currency.

A 10 per cent change in currency exchange rates would affect profit before depreciation as follows:

Group, 2023 Group, 2022

Currency Change

Effect on profits  
before depreciation, 

SEK thousands

Effect on equity  
after tax,  

SEK thousands Change

Effect on profits  
before depreciation, 

SEK thousands

Effect on equity  
after tax,  

SEK thousands

SEK / EUR +/- 10% 27,071 21,548 +/- 10% 19,291 15,355

SEK / USD +/- 10% 27,698 22,048 +/- 10% 23,083 18,374

Calculation of fair value
According to IFRS 9, certain financial instruments must be valued at fair 
value in the balance sheet. To do this, information is required on valuation  
at fair value for each level in the following fair value hierarchy:
Level 1) �Listed prices (unadjusted) on active markets for identical assets  

or liabilities.
Level 2) �Observable inputs for assets or liabilities other than quoted prices 

included in level 1, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly  
(i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3) �Data for assets or liabilities which is not based on observable 
market data (i.e. non-observable data).

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when there is a commitment 
as a consequence of  an event that has occurred, and it is likely that an out-
flow of  resources will be required to settle the obligation, and that a reliable 
estimate of  the amount can be made. Where the time at which payment 
is made is material, provisions must be set at the net present value of  the 
payments which are expected to be required to settle the liability.

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is present when there is a possible commitment that 
stems from events that have occurred and its existence is confirmed only 
by one or more uncertain future events. Contingent liabilities are not rec-
ognised as a liability or provision, because it is not likely that an outflow of  
resources will be required or the size of  the commitment cannot be calculat-
ed in a reliable manner. Thus information is provided unless the likelihood of  
outflow of  resources is extremely low.

Pledged assets

  Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Chattel mortgages¹) 7,468 7,489 - -

Blocked resources²) 978 1,029 - -

Security, bank loans³) 748,750 589,487 96,672 96,672

Pledged accounts  
receivable 4) 11,045 11,338 - -

Total pledged assets 768,241 609,343 96,672 96,672

1) �Chattel mortgages refer to security placed for overdraft facilities in Finland  
amounting to SEK 7,468 thousand (7,489).

2) �Security for rental contract SEK 978 thousand (1,029). Frozen liquid funds are  
included in the item Other non-current receivables.

3) �Shares in subsidiaries as security for bank loans of  SEK 221,920 thousand (440,665)  
with Nordea.

4) Pledged for overdraft facility in Proact Czech Republic, s.r.o.

Note 25  �Assets pledged, contingent liabilities and commitments

In category 2, the Group has receivables and liabilities relating to currency 
hedges at a net value of  SEK 5,314 thousand as at 31 December 2023. 
Receivables of  SEK 0 thousand (0) are recognised in Other non-current 
receivables, SEK 6,938 thousand (10,358) in Other receivables and SEK 
1,669 thousand (5,496) in Other liabilities.

Currency hedges are valued at market value in that early allocation of  
currency hedging takes place in order to find out what the forward price 
would be in the event of  maturity at the balance sheet date. In the case of  
currency hedging of  EUR to SEK, for example, the difference in interest 
rates between Sweden and Europe for the remaining original term is used, 
which provides the number of  points to be deducted from the original for-
ward price. The difference between the new forward price and the original 
forward price gives the market value of  the currency hedge.

The Group has no financial assets and liabilities in category 1 and 
category 3. No transfers between the categories have taken place during 
the period.

Contingent liabilities
The parent company has contingent liabilities relating to bank guarantees 
and other guarantees and other business arising during normal business 
operations. No significant liabilities are expected to stem from these contin-
gent liabilities.

  Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Guarantees for

 � Other guarantees,  
subsidiaries¹) 255 256 32,568 10,549

Total contingent liabilities 255 256 32,568 10,549

1) �Other guarantees, subsidiaries relates to customer commitments of  SEK 1,989.6 
thousand, supplier guarantees of  SEK 29,699 thousand and guarantees for leased 
vehicles of  SEK 879 thousand.

Commitments
As at 31 December 2023, the company had no contracted  
commitments which had not yet been reported in the financial statements 
which would result in significant future disbursements, except for commit-
ments relating to operating and support activities. For leasing commitments, 
see Note 27.
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Note 26  Supplementary information on the cash flow statement

Divestment of subsidiaries and activities
The subsidiary in Lithuania was sold in 2023. The sale had an impact of  
EUR 261 thousand (SEK 2,995 thousand) on cash flow.
No subsidiaries or operations were sold in 2022.

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets worth SEK 968 thousand (1,648) were acquired 
during the year.

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets worth SEK 44,347 thousand (39,360) were acquired 
during the year.

Dividends to non-controlling interests
During the year, dividends amounting to SEK 0 thousand (0) were paid out 
to holders without a controlling influence in a partly-owned subsidiary in the 
Baltic region.

Cash and  
cash equivalents

Group Parent company

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Cash and cash  
equivalents ¹) ²) 547,897 505,684 - -

1) �Of  Group cash and cash equivalents, SEK 0 thousand (19,874) relates to  
partly-owned companies in the Baltic region and the Czech Republic.

2) �The parent company’s cash and cash equivalents relate to the balance of  
 the Group account and are recognised  
as liabilities to Group companies, amounting to SEK  
408,950 thousand (312,885) as at 31 December 2022.

Blocked liquid assets
The Group has total frozen liquid assets of  SEK 1,222 thousand (1,274).  
Of  these, SEK 1,222 thousand (1,274) are included in Other long-term 
receivables and relate to security for rental contracts. See Note 18.

Transactions not settled in cash and cash equivalents
There were no transactions settled by means of  payment methods other 
than cash and cash equivalents in 2023.

There were no transactions settled by means of  payment methods other 
than cash and cash equivalents in 2022.

Specification of cash flow from financing activities

Changes not affecting cash flow

2023 Opening balance Cash flow
Translation  
differences

Acquisition- 
related Other details Closing balance

Long-term bank loans 440,665 -224,158 5,413 - - 221,920

Other non-current liabilities¹) 881,548 17,162 4,394 - 11,391 914,495

Current bank loans -2,530 - - - 156 -2,374

Other current liabilities 275,393 -127,712 14,934 19,006 84,665 266,286

Total 1,595,076 -334,708 24,741 19,006 96,212 1,400,327

2022 Opening balance Cash flow
Translation  
differences

Acquisition- 
related Other details Closing balance

Long-term bank loans 482,920 -62,309 20,054 - - 440,665

Other non-current liabilities¹) 634,191 -2,310 36,457 - 213,210 881,548

Current bank loans -1,876 - - - -654 -2,530

Other current liabilities 261,334 -132,864 -39,607 139,376 47,154 275,393

Total 1,376,569 -197,483 16,904 139,376 259,710 1,595,076

1) �Non-current interim liabilities, which are included in Other non-current liabilities in the balance sheet, are classified under working capital in the cash flow statement.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents are deposited in bank accounts or invested in 
Swedish interest-bearing securities. Cash and cash equivalents belong to 
the category of  loans and receivables. The maturity of  investments included 
in cash and cash equivalents is three months at the most. 

Cash flow analysis
The indirect method has been applied when drawing up the cash flow 
statement. When applying the indirect method, net payments to and from 
current operations are calculated by adjusting the net result for changes 
in operating income and expenses during the period, items which are not 
included in the cash flow and items which are included in the cash flow of  
investment and financing business. Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash balances and immediately accessible holdings in banks and corre-
sponding institutes, and short-term investments with a maturity from the 
acquisition date of  less than three months and which are exposed to only a 
minimal risk of  value fluctuation.

Information concerning interest paid
During the period, interest received in the Group amounted to SEK 10,366 
thousand (2,905) and SEK 8,868 thousand (2,702) in the parent company. 
During the period, interest paid in the group amounted to SEK 25,133 thou-
sand (15,215) and SEK 17,027 thousand (12,065) in the parent company.

Acquisition of subsidiaries and activities
No acquisitions have taken place in 2023. 

sepago GmbH in Germany was acquired in the third quarter of  2022. The 
purchase price for this company was settled with cash and cash equiva-
lents, EUR 120 million being paid in 2022.

Acquisitions from non-controlling interests 
In the first quarter of  2023, the company acquired a further 14.7 per cent 
of  shares in Proact Czech Republic Ltd from non-controlling interests. 
Following the acquisition, the company holds 100 per cent of  shares in the 
subsidiary. The purchase price amounted to CZK 17,922 thousand (SEK 
8,427 thousand).

No acquisitions of  further interests from non-controlling interests have taken 
place in 2022.
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Note 27  Leasing

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In Proact operations, the Group acts as both lessor and lessee. 

Proact as lessee
As of  1 January 2019, Proact is applying IFRS 16 Leases to replace IAS 17 
Leases. Proact is applying the simplified transition method, and the primary 
impact on the company’s accounts originates from the recognition of  IT 
equipment, vehicles, office equipment and rental contracts relating to 
premises. This change means that leasing contracts (with the exception 
of  short-term leasing contracts and leasing contracts of  lesser value) are 
recognised as right-of-use assets and leasing liabilities in the balance 
sheet. Assets and liabilities arising from leasing agreements are initially 
recognised at present value. Leasing liabilities include the present value of  
the following lease payments:
•	 �set charges (including set charges in substance), after deductions for  

any benefits that are to be obtained in connection with the conclusion  
of the leasing agreement 

•	 �variable lease charges dependent on an index or price, valued initially  
with the help of the index or price on the initial date 

•	 �amounts that are expected to be paid by the lessee according to residual 
value guarantees 

•	 �the redemption price for an option to buy if the company is reasonably 
certain to exercise such an option.

Right of  use is depreciated on a straight-line basis throughout the right 
of  use period. Short-term leasing contracts are contracts of  less than 12 
months, and contracts of  lesser value include contracts containing assets 
of  less than EUR 5,000. In the comprehensive income report, the linear op-
erational leasing cost is replaced with a cost for depreciation of the right-of-use 
asset and an interest cost attributable to the leasing liability. 

Leasing agreements may include both leasing and non-leasing compo-
nents. As regards leasing agreements in respect of  vehicles, the group has 
opted not to separate different leasing components, but instead to report 
these as a single leasing component. Non-leasing components are separat-
ed for other leasing agreements. 

Any options to extend the agreement or terminate it early must be 
included when calculating the length of  the leasing period, if  it is reason-
ably certain that these options will be exercised. A thorough evaluation 
of  the financial benefits must be performed before making a decision to 
exercise an option. The leasing period is equivalent to the initial term of  the 
agreement for most of  Group’s agreements. Leasing contracts containing a 
buyout option are not treated as short-term contracts even if  the term is less 
than 12 months.

Proact uses different discount rates depending on the terms of  its agree-
ments and the geographical market. Leasing payments are discounted by 
the interest rate implicit in the leasing agreement. If  this interest-rate cannot 
be established easily – which is normally the case for the Group’s leasing 
agreements – the lessee’s marginal loan rate must be used: this is the interest 
rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the necessary 
funds to buy an asset of  similar value as the right of  use in a similar eco-
nomic environment, with similar terms and securities. The Group determines 
the marginal loan rate as follows: 
•	 �when it is possible to do so, finance that has recently been obtained by a 

third party is used as a starting point and then adjusted in order to reflect 
changes in the finance criteria since the finance was obtained. 

•	 �adjustments are made for the specific terms of  the agreement, e.g. the 
lease period, country, currency and security. 

Proact is exposed to any future increases in flexible lease payments based 
on an index or an interest rate that are not included in the leasing liability 
until they come into force. When adjustments of  lease payments based on 
an index or an interest rate come into force, the leasing liability is revalued 
and adjusted to the right of  use. Lease payments are distributed between 
repayment of  the loan and interest. The interest is reported in the income 
statement over the leasing period in a manner that means a fixed interest 
rate for the leasing liability recognised for the period in question. 

Proact as lessor
Where Proact is a lessor in accordance with a financial leasing agreement, 
the transaction is recognised as a sale and a lease receivable. It comprises 
the future minimum lease charges and any residual values guaranteed to 
the lessor. Lease charges received are recognised as interest income and 
repayment of  lease receivables.

Leasing commitments

Lessors – Financial leasing agreements
Proact offers customers lease financing, hire purchase, via Proact Finance 
AB. Future amortisations plus interest will be received as follows:

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

Gross  
investment

Present value of 
future minimum 
lease payments

31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2022

Within 0-1 
year 26,404 24,385 36,220 33,818

Within 1-5 
years 23,624 22,900 38,263 36,671

After more 
than 5 years - - - -

50,028 47,285 74,483 70,489

Unearned  
finance  
income - 3,353 - 3,994

50,028 50,638 74,483 74,483

The total variable charge included in profit for the year amounted to SEK 
2,365 thousand (1,459). Financial revenues included in profit for the year 
amounted to SEK 2,931 thousand (3,561). At the end of  the leasing period, 
customers are offered the opportunity to purchase the underlying asset at 
the applicable market price. Profit on the sale of  underlying assets during 
the year amounted to SEK 0.4 million.

Lessees–IFRS16
The following amounts related to leasing agreements are reported in the 
balance sheet:

Assets with right of use 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

IT equipment  89,220  116,603 

Premises  88,180  107,816 

Vehicles  58,190  52,720 

Office equipment  9,629  15,541 

 245,219  292,680 

Leasing liabilities 31 Dec 2023 31 Dec 2022

Current  100,258  113,416 

Non-current  146,092  177,156 

 246,350  290,572 

Additional rights of  use in 2023 amounted to SEK 11,564 thousand (125,985) .

The following amounts related to leasing agreements are reported in the 
income statement:

Depreciation on rights of use 2023 2022

IT equipment -66,071 -59,014

Premises -30,584 -29,485

Vehicles -33,349 -30,375

Office equipment -6,494 -5,620

-136,498 -124,494

Other items in the income statement 2023 2022

Interest expenses (included in financial  
expenditure) -6,713 -6,192

Expenses attributable to short-term leasing 
agreements and leasing agreements where  
the asset is of  low value - -54

Expenses attributable to variable lease pay-
ments that are not included in leasing liabilities - -

-6,713 -6,246

The total cash flow in respect of  leasing agreements in 2023 amounted to 
SEK 118 million (133) .
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Note 28  Information on related parties

Proact IT Sweden AB has a customer contract with Axis Communications AB, 
co. reg. no. 556253-6143. Revenues generated from this contract amounted 
to SEK 37.0 million in 2023, and Proact IT Sweden AB has an outstanding 
receivable of SEK 2.0 million due from Axis Communications AB as at 
31 December 2021. All transactions with Axis Communication AB took 
place at market price. Axis Communication AB is an affiliate of  Proact IT 
Group AB via Martin Gren, who has been a Board member at Proact IT 
Group AB since the 2017 Annual General Meeting, while also being founder, 
advisor and Chairman at Axis Communication AB.

Note 30 – Continued

Note 29  Events subsequent to balance sheet date

In January, it was announced that the company has appointed Noora 
Jayasekara as new CFO and member of  the Group Management Team, 
starting in the second quarter of  2024.

Note 30  Equity

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Equity
Costs attributable to the new issue of  shares or options are included in 
equity as a reduction in cash and cash equivalents. The buy-back of  own 
shares is classified as own shares and recognised in equity as a deduction.

Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board of  Directors reduce distributable funds 
and are recognised as liabilities once the Annual General Meeting has 
approved the dividend.

Share capital
The share capital item relates to the parent company’s share capital. 

Total no. of shares
According to the Articles of  Association, the number of  shares in the com-
pany must be no fewer than 15 million and no more than 60 million. A total 
of  28,001,658 shares in the company had been issued as at 31 December 
2023. 

Total number of  shares as at 1 January 2023 28,001,658

Total number of shares as at 31 December 2023 28,001,658

No. of shares bought back

Opening balance, bought-back own shares in own custody, 1 
January 2023

546,807

Own shares bought back over the year 218,500

Own shares sold over the year -45,097

Number of bought-back own shares in own custody as at 
31 December 2023

720,210

Other capital contributions
Other capital contributions comprises capital arising from transactions  
with shareholders, such as premium issues.

Hedging of net investment in foreign operations
Exchange rate differences concerning net investment in operations in  
the United Kingdom, Germany and the USA.

Translation of foreign subsidiaries
Other reserves consist of  translation differences attributable to the  
translation of  foreign subsidiaries.

Specification of translation differences Group

Opening balance, 1 January 2023 48,208

Change, 2023 -4,573

Closing balance, 31 December 2023 43,635

Retained earnings 
Retained earnings in the group includes results for the year and previous 
year, dividends to shareholders, the buy-back of  own shares, disposal of  
businesses and acquisitions from non-controlling interests.

In December 2023, the parent company bought back a total of  218,500 
shares on Nasdaq Stockholm at an average share price of  SEK 89.65. 
A total of  SEK 19,588 thousand was paid for the shares, which reduced 
the retained earnings. A total of  720,210 own shares were held as at 31 
December 2023. All shares held as own shares were fully paid as at 31 
December 2023.

Attributable to non-controlling interests
This item refers to non-controlling interests in Lithuania and the Czech  
Republic. Proact acquired the remaining part of  the Czech Republic opera-
tion, 14.7 per cent, in March 2023 and thus owns 100 per cent of  the Czech 
company. The company in Lithuania was divested on 28 August 2023.  
There are no non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2023.

Capital
Proact’s managed capital consists of  equity. The company’s objective is 
to use established strategies to achieve a good financial position and so 
prepare profits for shareholders by increasing the value of  the managed 
capital. There are no external capital requirements other that those referred 
to in the Swedish Companies Act. 

Parent company
Each share entitles the holder to one vote. All shares issued are fully paid 
up. A dividend of  SEK 50,791 thousand, equivalent to SEK 1.85 per share, 
was issued in 2023 for the 2022 fiscal year. The Board of  Directors will pro-
pose to the AGM on 7 May 2024 the distribution of  a dividend of  SEK 2.00 
per share for the 2023 fiscal year. The parent company has not issued any 
share options or conversion rights.

Proposed distribution of profits
The Board of  Directors will propose a dividend of  SEK 2.00 per share (1.85)  
to the Annual General Meeting for the 2023 fiscal year.

The Annual General Meeting has at its disposal 
(non-restricted equity in the parent company),  
SEK thousands: 2023

Retained earnings 309,443

Profit/loss for the year 141,537

Total non-restricted equity 450,980

The Board of Directors proposes appropriation of retained earnings as 
follows:

Dividend, SEK 2.00 per outstanding share¹) 53,984

Carried forward 396,996

Total 450,980

1) �There are 28,001,658 registered shares within the company, of  which – as at 31 
March 2022 – 1,009,452 shares are bought-back shares not entitled to dividends. 

The total of  the dividend of  SEK 53,984,412 proposed above may change, 
but to no more than SEK 56,003,316, if  ownership of  the number of  
bought-back own shares changes prior to the record day for dividends.

Note 31  Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the result attributable to the 
shareholders in the parent company by the “Weighted average number of  
outstanding shares”.

2023 2022

Profit per share for the year pertaining to the 
parent company’s shareholders 172,647 191,258

Weighted average total number of  shares 28,001,658 28,001,658

Weighted average number of  outstanding 
shares 27,466,985 27,454,851

Earnings per share before dilution, SEK 6.29 6.97

Earnings per share after dilution, SEK 6.29 6.97

Proact has a long-term performance share scheme which may give rise to 
dilution not exceeding 1.84 per cent. 
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The undersigned assure that the consolidated and annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with  
international financial reporting standards IFRS as adopted by the EU, as well as with good accounting practice, and give  

a fair view of the Group’s and the parent company’s financial position and results, and that the Directors’ Report gives a fair  
summary of the development of the operations, position and results of the Group and the parent company, as well as  

describing significant risks and uncertainty factors facing the companies which form part of the Group.

Solna 03 April 2024

Anna Söderblom
Chairman

Martin Gren
Board member

Annikki Schaeferdiek
Board member

Erik Malmberg
Board member

Thomas Thuresson
Board member

Jonas Hasselberg
Chief Executive Officer

Our audit report was submitted on 3 April 2024
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant
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To the Annual General Meeting of Proact IT Group AB (publ), co. reg. no. 556494-3446

Report on the annual financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements

Statements
We have performed an audit of the annual financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements for Proact IT Group AB 
(publ) for 2023, with the exception of the corporate governance 
report on pages 43-49. The company’s annual financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements can be found on 
pages 34-84 of this document.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements have been 
produced in accordance with the Swedish Company Accounts 
Act and provide a fair view in all significant regards of the parent 
company’s financial position as at 31 December 2023, and of its 
financial results and cash flows for the year in accordance with 
the Swedish Company Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts 
have been compiled in accordance with the Swedish Company 
Accounts Act and provide a fair view in all significant regards of 
the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2023, and of its 
financial results and cash flows for the year in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted 
by the EU, and the Swedish Company Accounts Act. Our state-
ments do not include the corporate governance report on pages 
45-51. The Directors’ Report is in accordance with other parts 
of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements.

We therefore recommend that the Annual General Meeting 
adopt the income statement and balance sheet for the parent 
company and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and balance sheet.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and con-
solidated financial statements are consistent with the content in 
the supplementary report that has been submitted to the parent 
company’s and the Group’s audit committee in accordance with 
article 11 of the Audit Regulation (537/2014).

Basis for the opinion
We have conducted our audit in accordance with the Internatio-
nal Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing 
principles in Sweden. Our responsibility in accordance with 
these standards is described in greater detail in the section en-
titled Auditor’s responsibility. We are independent in respect of 
the parent company and the Group in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing principles in Sweden and have otherwise 
fulfilled our professional ethical requirements in accordance with 
these requirements. This includes the fact that, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, no prohibited services as referred to in 
article 5.1 of the Audit Regulation (537/2014) have been provi-
ded by the reviewed company or, where appropriate, its parent 
company or its controlled companies within the EU.

We are of the opinion that the audit proof we have acquired is 
sufficient and appropriate as a basis for our statements.

Our audit approach
Focus and scope of the audit
We formulated our audit by establishing a materiality threshold 
and assessing the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
reports. We paid particular attention to the areas where the 
Chief Executive Officer and Board of Directors made subjective 
assessments, such as important account-related estimations 
made on the basis of assumptions and forecasts of future 
events, which by their nature are uncertain. As with all audits, 
we have also observed the risk of the Board of Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer neglecting internal control, and among 
other things considered whether there is any evidence of syste-
matic non-conformances that have given rise to risk of material 
misstatement as a consequence of irregularities.

We adapted our audit in order to perform an effective review 
so that we could comment on the financial reports as a whole, 
taking into account the structure of the company and the Group, 
accounting processes and controls, as well as the industry in 
which the Group is active.

Materiality
The scope and focus of the audit were influenced by our assess-
ment of materiality. An audit is formulated in order to achieve a 
reasonable degree of security as to whether the financial reports 
include any material misstatement. Misstatement may occur as 
a consequence of irregularities or errors. Misstatement is regar-
ded as material if parties, individually or jointly, can reasonably 
be expected to influence the financial decisions made by users 
on the basis of the financial reports.

Based on professional judgement, we established certain 
quantitative materiality figures for elements such as financial 
reporting as a whole. We used these and qualitative conside-
rations to establish the focus and scope of the audit and the 
nature, time and scope of our review methods, and also to as-
sess the effect of individual and combined misstatement on the 
financial reports as a whole.

.
Particularly significant areas
Particularly significant areas for the audit are the areas that, in 
our professional opinion, were of most significance to the audit 
of the annual financial statements and consolidated financial  
statements for the period in question. These areas were proces-
sed within the scope of the audit of the annual financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements as a whole and  
our stance on the same, but we make no separate comments  
on these areas.
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Particularly significant area How our audit took the particularly 
significant area into account

Recognition of revenues from sales of systems in the right amount  
and for the right period

Revenues from the sale of systems account for more than half of the Proact 
Group’s reported net sales, and these sales sometimes take place in the form of 
what are known as composite customer contracts, where hardware, software, 
services, and support and maintenance may all be included in one and the same 
contract. The price of the contract is normally set for the contract as a whole, and 
not on a per product or per service basis. Contracts are therefore divided up into 
components, and revenue is distributed among each element of the contract. 
The revenue for each subcomponent is then recognised when the customer has 
been given control over the element in question. Thus this means that the time 
of revenue recognition does not normally coincide with invoicing and payment 
from the customer. This means that the corporate management team has to make 
estimates and assessments in respect of the independent sale prices of the 
various elements of customer contracts, which has an influence when reporting 
sales margins. 

As a consequence of the inherent complexity of revenue recognition and the 
element of estimates and assessments from the corporate management team, 
we have deemed revenues from the sale of systems to be a particularly signifi-
cant area in the audit. 
Please see Notes 1 and 3 in the Annual Accounts for 2023 for the accounting 
policies specified above.

We have focused a significant part of our 
audit on evaluating Proact’s principles and 
underlying assumptions in order to divide 
revenues from system sales over different 
elements. 

This has been done by the undertaking 
the following review procedures: 

•		�Analysis of revenues over the year,  
compared with the previous year.

•	�Surveyed and evaluated controls over 
revenue reporting.

•		�Reviewing a selection of major new cont-
racts and sales against contract terms 
and Proact’s guidelines for assessing 
revenue recognition. 

•		�Performing tests of random samples 
to ensure that revenues have been re-
cognised for the right period and in the 
right amount. 

•		�Evaluating assumptions in revenue 
recognition principles by comparing 
deviating margins for system sales.

Write-down testing 

The consolidated balance sheet reports acquisition-related surplus values and 
goodwill at a value of SEK 1,138 million, while the parent company’s balance 
sheet reports shares in subsidiaries amounting to SEK 492 million. 

Goodwill and acquisition-related surplus values correspond to the difference 
between the value of net assets and the purchase price paid in the event of an 
acquisition. The resulting goodwill is distributed between cash-generating units, 
which may differ from the level that was once generated by the acquisition as 
the new business is integrated into the Group. Unlike other assets, there is no 
depreciation of goodwill: instead, this is examined each year for write-down 
or when there are any indications of a need for write-down. Other acquisition-
related surplus values are depreciated over the estimated useful life. 

When the corporate management team examines cash-generating units for 
write-down, the values recognised are compared with the estimated recovera-
ble amount. If the recoverable amount is significantly less than the recognised 
amount, the asset is impaired to its estimated recoverable amount. The reco-
verable amount is established by calculating the utilisation value of the asset. 
When calculating the utilisation value, the corporate management team have 
to make assumptions on future growth and margin development. Future events 
and new information may change these assessments and estimates, and it is 
therefore particularly important for the corporate management team to regularly 
reassess whether the value of the acquisition-related intangible assets can be 
justified with regard to assessments made. 

The corporate management team’s calculation of the utilisation value of assets 
is based on the budget for the next year and forecasts for the following four years. 

A more detailed description of these assumptions can be found in Note 15. A 
weighted average cost of capital before tax of 10-11 per cent (10-11 per cent) 
has been used, dependent on the assessed market risk for the various cash-
generating units. The corporate management team has based its assumptions 
on future development on historical experience and analyses performed at 
the time of the acquisitions. Write-down tests naturally involve more estimates 
and assessments from the corporate management team, which is why we have 
deemed this to be a particularly significant area in our audit. 

Please see Notes 1 and 15 in the Annual Accounts for 2023 for the accounting 
policies specified above.

In our audit, we have focused in particular 
on how the corporate management team 
has tested write-down requirements.

We have undertaken the following review 
procedures:

•	�Evaluating the Proact process for testing 
acquisition-related surplus values and 
goodwill, as well as shares in subsidia-
ries for write-down. 

•	▪�Reviewing how the corporate manage-
ment team has identified cash-genera-
ting units and compared this with how 
Proact follows up goodwill internally.

•	�	Obtained market data on the discount 
rate applied with the assistance of PwC’s 
in-house valuation specialists. 

•	▪�Evaluating the plausibility of assump-
tions made and performing sensitivity 
analyses for altered assumptions. 

•	▪�Evaluating the management’s forecas-
ting capability by comparing previous 
forecasts with actual outcomes.

•	▪�Working on the basis of materiality to 
confirm that there are sufficient notes in 
the annual financial statements.

Working on the basis of materiality to con-
firm that there are sufficient notes in the 
annual financial statements.
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Information other than the annual financial  
statements and consolidated financial statements
This document also includes information other than the annual 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements, and 
this can be found on pages 2 to 33 and 88 to 90. The compen-
sation report that can be found on the company's website is 
also other information. The Board of Directors and the CEO are 
responsible for this other information.

Our statement concerning the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements does not include this informa-
tion, and we make no statement with confirmation concerning 
this other information.

When performing our audit of the annual financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements, it is our responsibility to 
read the information identified above and consider whether the 
information is significantly incompatible with the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements. During this 
review, we also take into account the knowledge that we have 
otherwise obtained during the audit and assess whether the 
information in general appears to include material misstatement.

Given the work that has been carried out in respect of this 
information, if we come to the conclusion that the other informa-
tion includes material misstatement, we are obliged to report 
this. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors  
and the Chief Executive Officer
The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer are re-
sponsible for ensuring that the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements are compiled and provide 
an accurate picture in accordance with the Swedish Company 
Accounts Act and, as regards the consolidated financial state-
ments, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the 
Swedish Company Accounts Act. The Board of Directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer are also responsible for the internal 
control that they deem necessary for drawing up the annual 
report and consolidated financial statements to ensure that they 
do not contain any material misstatement, whether these are the 
result of irregularities or errors.

When compiling the annual financial statements and consoli-
dated financial statements, the Board of Directors and Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer are responsible for assessment of the company’s 
and the Group’s ability to continue the business. They provide 
information, where applicable, on circumstances that may 
influence the ability to continue the business and to use the 
assumption of continued operation. However, the assumption of 
continued operation will not be applied if the Board of Directors 
and Chief Executive Officer intend to liquidate the company, 
terminate the business or have no realistic alternative to doing 
either of these.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our goal is to achieve a reasonable degree of certainty as to 
whether the annual report and the consolidated financial state-
ments, as a whole, do not contain any material misstatements, 
whether these are the result of irregularities or errors and to 
submit a report containing our opinions. Reasonable security 
is a high degree of security, but it is no guarantee that an audit 
performed in accordance with ISA and generally accepted 
auditing principles in Sweden will always discover any material 
misstatement if such exists. Inaccuracies may occur as a result 
of irregularities or errors and are considered to be material if 
they, individually or together, can reasonably be expected to 
influence the financial decisions made by users on the basis of 
the annual report and consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 
annual financial statements and consolidated financial state-

ments can be found on the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors 
website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This 
description is part of the audit report.

Report on other requirements in accordance 
with the law and other statutes

The auditor’s review of management and propo-
sed appropriation of the company’s profit or loss
Statements
In addition to our audit of the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements, we have also performed a re-
view of the administration of the Board of Directors and the Chief 
Executive Officer of Proact IT Group AB (publ) for 2023 and of 
the proposed appropriation of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend that the Annual General Meeting appropriate 
the profit as proposed in the Directors’ Report and discharge 
from liability the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer in respect of the financial year.

Basis for the opinion
We have conducted the audit in accordance with generally ac-
cepted accounting policies in Sweden. Our responsibility in ac-
cordance with these is described in greater detail in the section 
entitled Auditor’s responsibility. We are independent in respect 
of the parent company and the Group in accordance with gene-
rally accepted auditing principles in Sweden and have otherwise 
fulfilled our professional ethical requirements in accordance with 
these requirements.

We are of the opinion that the audit proof we have acquired is 
sufficient and appropriate as a basis for our statements.

.
Responsibility of the Board of Directors  
and the Chief Executive Officer
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposed allocation 
of the company’s profit or loss. When a proposal for a dividend 
is issued, this involves, inter alia, an assessment of whether the 
dividend is justified with reference to the requirements such as 
the nature, scope and risks of the business of the company and 
the Group with regard to the scope of the equity of the parent 
company and the Group, consolidation needs, liquidity and 
position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s 
organisation and Management of the company’s affairs. This in-
cludes regularly assessing the financial situation of the company 
and the Group and ensuring that the company’s organisation is 
formulated so that the accounting, the management of assets 
and the company’s financial affairs in general are controlled in 
a satisfactory manner. The Chief Executive Officer shall manage 
the ongoing administration in accordance with the guideli-
nes and instructions of the Board of Directors and, inter alia, 
undertake the action necessary to ensure that the company’s 
bookkeeping is carried out in accordance with the law and so 
that assets may be managed in a satisfactory manner.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 
hence our opinion on discharge from liability, is to obtain audit 
proof so as to be able to assess with a reasonable degree of  
security whether any Board member or the Chief Executive  
Officer in any significant respect:

•	�has undertaken any action or is guilty of any negligence that 
may result in liability to pay compensation to the company

•	�has otherwise acted in contravention of the Swedish Compa-
nies Act, the Swedish Annual Accounts Act or the company’s 
articles of association.
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Our objective concerning the audit of the proposal for appropria-
tion of the company’s profit or loss, and hence our opinion on the  
same, is to determine with a reasonable degree of security whether 
the proposal is consistent with the Swedish Companies Act.

Reasonable security is a high degree of security, but it is no 
guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing principles in Sweden will always discover any 
actions or negligence that may result in liability to pay compen-
sation to the company, or that a proposal for appropriation of 
the company’s profit or loss is not consistent with the Swedish 
Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 
administration can be found on the Swedish Inspectorate of 
Auditors website:  
www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description 
is part of the audit report.

Auditor’s review of the ESEF report
Opinions
Besides our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated ac-
counts, we have also verified that the Board of Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer have prepared the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts in a format that permits consistent elec-
tronic reporting (the ESEF report) in accordance with Chapter 
16, Section 4 a of the Securities Market Act (2007:528) for Proact 
IT Group AB (publ) for 2023.

Our review and statement relate only to the statutory require-
ment.

In our view, the ESEF report has been prepared in a format 
that essentially allows for uniform electronic reporting.

Grounds for our opinion
We conducted our review in accordance with FAR Recom-
mendation RevR 18 Auditor’s Review of the ESEF Report. Our 
responsibility in accordance with this recommendation is descri-
bed in greater detail in the section entitled Auditor’s responsibi-
lity. We are independent in respect of Proact IT Group AB (publ) 
in accordance with generally accepted auditing principles in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our professional ethical 
requirements in accordance with these requirements.

We are of the opinion that the proof we have acquired is suf-
ficient and appropriate as a basis for our statement.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer
The Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer are 
responsible for ensuring that the ESEF report has been prepa-
red in accordance with Chapter 16, Section 4 a of the Securities 
Market Act (2007:528), and that there are such internal controls 
as the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer deem 
necessary to allow the ESEF report to be prepared in a manner 
that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Responsibility of the auditor
Our job is to express an opinion with reasonable assurance as 
to whether the ESEF report has been prepared, in all material 
respects, in a format that is compliant with the requirements of 
Chapter 16, Section 4 a of the Securities Market Act (2007:528), 
on the basis of our review.

RevR 18 requires us to plan and perform our review procedu-
res in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the ESEF report 
is prepared in a format that meets these requirements.

Reasonable security is a high degree of security, but it is no 
guarantee that a review performed in accordance with RevR 
18 and generally accepted auditing principles in Sweden will 

always discover any material misstatement if such exists. Inac-
curacies may occur as a result of irregularities or errors and are 
considered to be material if they, individually or together, can 
reasonably be expected to influence the financial decisions 
made by users on the basis of the ESEF report.

The audit firm applies International Standard on Quality 
Management 1 which requires the company to design, imple-
ment a quality control system including documented policies 
or procedures regarding compliance with professional ethics 
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements.

The review includes obtaining evidence, through a variety of 
measures, to indicate that the ESEF report has been prepared 
in a format that permits consistent electronic reporting of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. The auditor selects 
which measures are to be implemented by – among other things 
– assessing the risks of material misstatement in the reporting, 
whether due to irregularities or error. During this risk assessment, 
the auditor takes into account the elements of the internal control 
which are of relevance to how the Board of Directors and Chief 
Executive Officer compile the data in order to formulate review 
methods which are appropriate given the circumstances, but 
not in order to make a statement on the efficiency of the internal 
control. The review also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
and reasonableness of the assumptions made by the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer.

The audit procedures mainly include validating the fact that 
the ESEF report has been prepared in a valid XHTML format and 
reconciling the ESEF report with the audited annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts.

The audit also includes an assessment of whether the Group’s 
income statement, balance sheet, equity statement and cash 
flow statement and notes in the ESEF report have been tag-
ged with iXBRL in accordance with the provisions of the ESEF 
Regulation.

Auditor’s review of the corporate governance report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the sustainability report 
on pages 43-49, and for ensuring that it is prepared in accor-
dance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Our review has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s 
opinion RevR 16 Auditor’s review of the corporate governance 
report. This means that our review of the corporate governance 
report has a different focus and is on a significantly smaller 
scale than the focus and scale of any audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing and generally accepted ac-
counting policies in Sweden. We consider our review to provide 
us with sufficient grounds for our opinions.

A corporate governance report has been compiled. Informa-
tion in accordance with Chapter 6, Section 6(2), clauses 2 to 6 of 
the Swedish Company Accounts Act and Chapter 7, Article 31(2) 
of the same act is consistent with the other parts of the annual 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements and 
is also compliant with the Swedish Company Accounts Act.

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB, Torsgatan 21, SE-113 
97 Stockholm, was appointed as the auditor of Proact IT Group 
AB (publ) by the Annual General Meeting held on 5 May 2022 
and has been the company’s auditor since 2 May 2018.

Stockholm, 3 April 2024
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Nicklas Kullberg
Authorised Public Accountant
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Income statement (SEK millions)

Total revenues 4,847.3 4,756.8 3,525.0 3,633.1 3,407.9

EBITDA 457.9 473.2 348.6 369.6 271.7

EBITA 285.5 313.1 197.5 216.7 134.2

EBIT 229.8 260.6 166.2 182.1 105.4

Earnings before tax 218.3 244.2 151.9 167.7 101.7

Profit/loss for the year 173.1 191.5 117.2 132.3 80.2

EBITDA margin, % 9.4 9.9 9.9 10.2 8.0

EBITA margin, % 5.9 6.6 5.6 6.0 3.9

EBIT margin, % 4.7 5.5 4.7 5.0 3.1

Net margin, % 4.5 5.1 4.3 4.6 3.0

Profit margin, % 3.6 4.0 3.3 3.6 2.4

Equity, provisions and liabilities (SEK millions)

Equity 1,008.6 923.4 713.9 605.0 525.9

Balance sheet total 4,044.4 4,241.9 3,395.0 2,923.9 2,876.7

Capital employed 1,504.8 1,673.4 1,467.9 1,094.9 1,106.8

Net cash (+)/Net debt (-) 79.6 -227.0 -261 22.0 -160.7

Financial key ratios

Equity ratio, % 24.9 21.8 21.0 20.7 18.3

Capital turnover rate, times 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.3 1.3

Cash flow, SEK millions 50.0 12.2 -26.3 126.0 95.7

Investments in fixed assets, SEK millions 148.3 397.5 550.7 269.1 440.7

Return on equity, % 18.2 23.4 17.8 23.4 16.1

Return on capital employed, % 16.3 17.2 13.4 17.1 13.2

Dividend to Parent Company’s shareholders, SEK millions ²) 50.8 41.2 41.2 41.2 22.9

Key ratios per employee

Average number of employees on annual basis 1,160 1,160 1,027 973 834

Number of employees at year-end 1,171 1,258 1,178 1,022 1,016

Profit before tax per employee, SEK thousands 188 211 148 172 122

Data per share 

Earnings per share (total number of shares), SEK 6.13 6.84 4.18 4.70 2.86

Earnings per share (outstanding shares), SEK ³) 6.29 6.97 4.27 4.80 2.92

Equity per share (total number of shares), SEK 36.02 32.84 25.38 21.50 18.72

Equity per share (outstanding shares), SEK ³) 36.97 33.49 25.88 21.93 19.09

Cash flow from current operations per share 

(total no. of shares), SEK 19.00 15.83 10.84 16.72 11.77

Cash flow from current operations per share 

(outstanding shares), SEK ³) 19.50 16.14 11.06 17.05 12.00

Total number of shares at end of period 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658

Total number of outstanding shares at end of period ³) 27,281,448 27,454,851 27,454,851 27,454,851 27,454,851

Weighted average number of shares (total number of shares) 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658 28,001,658

Weighted average number of shares (outstanding shares) ³) 27,466,985 27,454,851 27,454,851 27,454,851 27,454,851

Number of own shares held at end of period 720,210 546,807 546,807 546,807 546,807

Number of warrants at end of period - - - - -

Share price as at 31 December, SEK 94.00 83.00 87.00 91.00 61.33

1) Key ratios recalculated after the split in May 2021.
2) The Board of Directors will propose distribution of a dividend of SEK 2.00 per share to the Annual General Meeting for the 2023 fiscal year.
3) �Proact has a long-term performance share scheme which may give rise to dilution not exceeding 1.84 per cent.  

The company has also bought back shares that are in its own custody, which affects the key ratios and figures above.
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Alternative key ratios 
This financial report refers to a number of key ratios. Some of these are defined in accordance with IFRS, while others are  
alternative key ratios and are not presented in accordance with applicable regulations and frameworks for financial reporting.  
The key ratios are used within the Group in order to help both investors and the executive to analyse Proact’s business.  
The key ratios used in this financial report are described, defined and justified below.

Economic key ratios Definition Purpose

Gross margin Gross profit as a percentage of total revenues. Gross profit in relation to total revenues shows profitability at gross profit 
level and provides profit comparability over time.

EBIT Operating profit before net financial items and tax. EBIT provides a general view of total profit generated by the business.

EBIT margin Operating profit/loss as a percentage of total revenues. EBIT in relation to total revenues shows operational profitability and  
provides profit comparability over time.

EBITA Earnings after depreciation of tangible fixed assets but  
before depreciation of intangible assets, net financial 
items and tax.

EBITA gives a more correct view of which profit is generated by the  
business when depreciation of intangible assets – which is affected  
extensively by assessment of the depreciation period – is excluded.

Adjusted EBITA Earnings after depreciation of tangible fixed assets but  
before depreciation of intangible assets, net financial 
items and tax, adjusted for exceptional items.

Adjusted EBITA gives a more correct view of which profit is generated by 
the business when depreciation of intangible assets affected extensively  
by assessment of the depreciation period, as well as exceptional items  
that vary from regular operations, is excluded.

EBITA margin EBITA as a percentage of total revenues. EBITA in relation to total revenues shows profitability at EBITA level and  
provides profit comparability over time.

EBITDA Earnings before depreciation (tangible and intangible  
assets), net financial items and tax.

Besides depreciation of intangible assets, EBITDA also excludes  
depreciation of tangible assets, both of which are affected extensively  
by assessed depreciation periods.

EBITDA margin EBITDA as a percentage of total revenues. EBITDA in relation to total revenues shows profitability at EBITDA level  
and provides profit comparability over time.

Equity per share Equity pertaining to the parent company’s shareholders, 
per share.

The net worth per share provides a guideline on the valuation level of 
a share on the stock exchange in relation to the funds in the company.

Non-recurring items Items in the income statement that are non-recurring  
and have affected the profit and are important to be  
aware of in order to understand the underlying result.

It is necessary to be aware of and be able to take into account expense 
items that deviate from normal business so that Proact’s development  
can be analysed and assessed correctly. 

Capital turnover rate, 
times

Revenues expressed as a percentage of the average 
balance sheet total.

This is used to show the efficiency of the use of total capital for the  
company.

Cash flow Change in cash and cash equivalents. The cash flow shows the net amount of cash and cash equivalents  
generated and used within the company.

Net cash/Net debt Cash and cash equivalents minus interest-bearing  
liabilities to credit institutions.

To assess the ability to use available cash and cash equivalents to pay  
off all liabilities if they were to fall due on the date of the calculation.

Net margin Earnings before tax as a percentage of total revenues. The net margin provides comparable profitability regardless of the  
corporation tax rate.

Organic growth Growth in net sales, excluding the net sales contributed  
to the Group by companies acquired during the year,  
plus currency effects.

Show the underlying growth, i.e. growth excluding acquired growth.

Earnings per share Earnings to the parent company’s shareholders  
per share.

Earnings per share is used to establish the value of the company’s  
outstanding shares.

Profit per employee Earnings before tax divided by the average number  
of annual employees.

This is a measure of efficiency showing profitability per employee.

Return on equity Earnings for the period after tax, expressed as a percen
tage of average equity. 

Return on equity shows what the company is generating in terms of  
profitability, returns, on capital invested by owners. 

Return on capital 
employed

Earnings after net financial items plus financial expenses, 
expressed as a percentage of the average capital  
employed.

For evaluating the profitability and efficiency of Proact’s capital employed.

Debt levels Net debt in relation to EBITDA. Net debt/EBITDA is a theoretical measure of how many years it would  
take with current earnings (EBITDA) to pay off the company’s liabilities.

Equity ratio Equity including minority interests as a percentage  
of balance sheet total.

The key ratio is an indicator of the company’s leverage for financing  
the company.

Capital employed Balance sheet total minus non-interest bearing liabilities 
inclusive of deferred tax liabilities.

Capital employed measures the company’s ability to meet the needs  
of the business in addition to cash and cash equivalents.

Currency effects Net sales and profit for the period, translated into  
currency exchange rates for the previous year.

Show underlying growth, i.e. growth excluding the effect of changes in  
currency exchange rates.

Profit margin Earnings for the period after tax as a percentage of total  
revenues.

The profit margin makes it possible to compare profitability including  
the corporation tax rate.
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Annual General Meeting 2024

The Annual General Meeting will take place at 4pm on Tuesday, 
7 May 2024 at Meeting Lab, Gate 01, Frösundaviks Allé 1, in 
Solna. The Board has decided that shareholders should also be 
able to exercise their voting rights by post before the meeting.

Shareholders who are entered in the shareholder register kept 
by Euroclear Sweden on Friday, 26 April 2024 and who have 
registered as described below shall be entitled to participate in 
the proceedings of the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders 
whose shares are registered to administrators must therefore 
temporarily register under their own names in the shareholder 
register to be entitled to participate in the proceedings of the 
Annual General Meeting, either personally or through a repre-
sentative. Such re-registration must be completed in plenty of 
time prior to Friday, 26 April 2024.
 
Registration
Shareholders who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting 
in person must notify the company of their participation no later 
than Tuesday, 30 April 2024. 
   Registration will take place by post, telephone or email. Add-
ress for registration: Computershare AB “Proact IT Group AB:s 
årsstämma” [Proact IT Group AB Annual General Meeting], Box 
5267, SE-102 46 Stockholm, Sweden, tel.: 0771 24 64 00, 
email: info@computershare.se. 

Postal voting
Shareholders wishing to participate in the Annual General 
Meeting by means of postal voting must register by casting their 
postal vote no later than Tuesday, 30 April 2024 so that the pos-
tal vote is received by Computershare no later than 30 April. 
   The postal voting form available on the company’s website, 
www.proact.eu, must be used for postal voting. When comple-
ted and signed, the postal voting form can be sent by post to 
Computershare AB, “Proact IT Group AB:s årsstämma” [Proact 
IT Group AB Annual General Meeting], Box 5267, SE-102 46 
Stockholm, Sweden, or by email to info@computershare.se.

Future information

Interim report, 1st quarter .......................  7 May 2024
Annual General Meeting .........................  7 May 2024
Half-yearly report ...................................  12 July 2024
Interim report, 3rd quarter ..............  25 October 2024
Year-end report .............................. 11 February 2025

Further information

Jonas Hasselberg, President 
Tel.: +46 8 410 666 00 
jonas.hasselberg@proact.eu

Åsa Regen Jansson, Interim CFO 
Tel.: +46 8 410 666 00
asa.regen.jansson@proact.eu

www.proact.se
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